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2 Welcome 

About us 
 
Hinckley and Rugby Building Society has been 
serving its members for over 150 years. The 
Society has an extensive range of competitive 
savings accounts and mortgage schemes and 
remains committed to providing the highest 
standards of customer service. 
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Established 1865 
 
Member of the Building Societies Association 
 
Principal Office 
Upper Bond Street, Hinckley, 
Leicestershire LE10 1NZ 
Tel: 0800 434 6343 
 
www.hrbs.co.uk 
email: enquiry@hrbs.co.uk 
 
The Society is authorised by the Prudential 
Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial 
Conduct Authority and Prudential 
Regulation Authority 
 
The Society’s registration number is 206043 
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In last year’s report I somewhat 
tongue in cheek said that “I am loath 
to predict the next year”. If we 
viewed the pandemic as a once in a 
lifetime experience, I suspect many of 
us secretly thought and at least hoped 
that 2022 would revert to a normal 
year without the same level of life 
changes and concerns. The 
pandemic, whilst not fully 
disappearing from our thoughts, is 
now appearing to be manageable but 
has been replaced by a combination 
of global and national events which 
will impact the economy and our lives 
for years to come. 

 
This cocktail of events, including a 
European war, an energy crisis, soaring 
inflation, political instability and change, 
interest rates rising markedly and an 
economic downturn in the UK, has added 
to other global risks such as global 
warming, poverty and inequality, which 
need a consistent and continued focus. 
Your Society will continue to work to 
support members, staff and our 
communities across Leicestershire and 
Warwickshire who are impacted by the 
cost-of-living crisis. Whilst the full impacts 
may be felt in the future, we are ready to 
support members (mortgage or savings) 
who feel that they are in or approaching 
financial difficulty. We decided to make a 
one-off payment to our staff (excluding 
executives) in August to help with the 
sudden and sharp rises in costs and we 
opened a financial assistance grant for staff 
who needed extra help. Whilst 2023 may 
be a challenging year, we stand ready with 
continued support. 
 
2022 has been a successful year for your 
Society, returning to mortgage book 
growth, achieving our budgeted level of 
profitability and navigating the economic 
and market turmoil of September and 
October. This has further strengthened our  

 
 
 
 
 
 
foundations and I am delighted to say that 
your Board signed a contract for a 
significant investment in our digital 
capabilities. Throughout 2023 and 2024 we 
plan to securely move our key information 
technology systems into the cloud, we will 
introduce a new, improved website, new 
digital systems for our mortgage and 
savings businesses and, for the first time, an 
app for use on mobile devices. Our aim is 
to enable members to open our savings 
accounts, transfer monies to their current 
account and save direct from their salaries, 
all from the comfort of their favourite 
armchair. However, I want to be very clear 
to you all, this is a complementary strategy 
to our branch network and not a 
replacement. We are committed to 
providing a local service through our 
branch network. As banks decide to close, 
we welcome new members through our 
doors, and we have no intention of leaving 
the towns and villages we serve. So, it will 
be a journey into the digital world of 
financial services whilst continuing to 
demonstrate our mutual ethos to our 
members, staff and communities. 
 
We have had three changes to our Board 
this year, starting with the retirement of 
Dean Waddingham in May, with Barry 
Carter taking the role of Chief Operating 
Officer in July. I would like to thank Dean 
for his service to the Society and wish him 
well. Barry has extensive experience in 
leading the operational performance of 
financial services businesses, and within his 
responsibilities he will take the lead and 
sponsorship of our digital programme. 
Rebecca Griffin was appointed as the 
Society’s first Chief Risk Officer in July 
2020. I am delighted to say that the Board 
approved her appointment as an executive 
director, and Rebecca joined our Board in 
July 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
During the year we received the results of 
an independent review of your Board’s 
effectiveness. We were looking to identify 
opportunities to improve our 
representation and support for members’ 
interests, together with our effectiveness 
in supporting and overseeing 
management. I am pleased to say that my 
fellow Board members all embraced the 
findings and we have implemented better 
Board processes which enhance the 
efficiency of our meetings. This has also 
helped us to prepare for the planned 
retirement of four non-executive 
directors which will take place between 
March 2023 and March 2024. We have 
created a succession plan which will 
ensure that we have the right skills and 
experience at the board table for the 
future. We are making good progress 
with our recruitment, and welcome John 
Lowe, who was appointed to the Board 
on 1 December 2022, and Lynda 
Blackwell, who will take up a Board 
position on 29 March 2023. Both will 
stand for election as directors at the 
Annual General Meeting in March 2023. 
 
Geneane Bell and David Woodward will 
retire from the Board at our March 2023 
AGM. Both will be missed, and I would 
like to thank them for their support and 
valuable contribution to the Society. 
 
Your Society continues to place the 
interest of members first and I am proud 
to lead a team of directors and staff who 
make this their focus every day. 
 
Finally, on behalf of members, I would like 
to sincerely thank my fellow directors and 
all staff at the Society for their hard work. 
 
 
 

 
Colin Franklin 
Chair  
 
14 February 2023

   Chair’s statement 

“Your Society will continue to work to support members, staff 
and our communities across Leicestershire and Warwickshire 
who are impacted by the cost-of-living crisis.” 
 
Colin Franklin 
Chair 
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Looking back 
I am delighted to report a very 
successful year for your Society. We 
successfully navigated the Covid 
lockdown period and, whilst we have 
adjusted to new ways of working, it 
has also been good to see our 
colleagues back working together in 
our branches and head office, 
supporting our members with their 
financial goals. I am sure that the 
Covid period will be remembered by 
us all for many different reasons, but 
the Society was able to embrace 
differing ways of working that 
expanded the service channels we 
had available for our members. 
 

During the year we implemented a new 
digital telephone system, grew our use of 
Live Chat in both our mortgage and savings 
businesses, created a new website that 
launched in January 2023, and were the first 
UK lender to complete a digital mortgage.  
PEXA (Property Exchange Australia) was 
looking to enter the UK market and your 
Society was chosen to be their partner in 
the design, build and implementation of a 
portal and process to digitally complete 
mortgage transactions more quickly and 
securely.  We were proud to be able to 
demonstrate our knowledge of the 
mortgage market and our skills to a partner 
in such an innovative project, and we will 
continue this partnership with PEXA as 
they develop their UK proposition.  We 
were also able to spend time looking at our 
services across the Society and consider 
how we could improve their efficiency and 
effectiveness. Our savings business 
completed a thorough review during the 
year, looking for opportunities to improve 
the experience of our members when they 
make contact with us.  Additionally, as we 
finished the year, we have implemented a 
new operating model in our mortgage 
business which will streamline our 
processes and delivery times.

 
 
 
 

 
Community 
Whilst we completed significant service 
developments in the Society over the last 
year, we were also very conscious of the 
challenges our local communities were 
facing. In 2022, we formally launched the 
Hinckley & Rugby Building Society 
Community Foundation. Working in 
partnership with Leicestershire & Rutland 
Community Foundation, we identified six 
local charities split evenly between 
Leicestershire and Warwickshire, whose 
work focused on mental health and 
wellbeing, poverty and disadvantage, and 
the environment.  Our staff took a 
personal interest not only in the selection 
of these important areas, but by getting 
involved with the activities our monies 
have supported. 
 
Sharing our knowledge, skills and 
experience within our local communities 
has always been an important focus for 
the Society and we increased our 
volunteering hours again in 2022.  
Volunteering comes in many shapes and 
forms and an important addition to this 
last year was our financial education 
programme, working with local schools 
and colleges. This proved a great success 
and these “life skills” will continue to help 
young people make the right financial 
choices. 
 
We have also continued our work to 
encourage local businesses to join us in 
our support of local charities.  We 
continue to chair the LAMP 
(Leicestershire Action of Mental Health) 
Business Club in Leicestershire, where 
more and more businesses are sharing 
their mental health strategies.  During the 
year, in partnership with Hinckley & 
Bosworth Borough Council, we created a 
local business forum focused on climate 
change and the actions businesses can 
take to reduce their carbon emissions.   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
At the end of the year, with the UK in the 
midst of a cost-of-living crisis, we 
collaborated with two other 
Leicestershire building societies to 
support The Bridge (East Midlands).  The 
Bridge is a specialist homeless charity, and 
our support will provide preventative 
services. 
 
Financial performance 
Following the two years of the pandemic 
where we deliberately moderated our 
mortgage lending, our aim in 2022 was to 
restart mortgage growth and we 
exceeded our expectations by delivering a 
6.5% increase in gross mortgage balances. 
We continued with our “widening the 
jaws” strategy, aimed at strengthening our 
net interest margin, together with our 
profitability and capital base. Our net 
interest margin increased from 1.34% to 
1.45% and we aim to continue this 
upward trajectory whilst still providing fair 
value to members. 
 
After many benign years and with interest 
rates rising, the savings market became 
more competitive, and we were able to 
offer our members a range of products, 
including a new regular saver product 
introduced during UK Savings week.  We 
are a strong supporter of the savings habit, 
and this was one of the topics which our 
staff covered at the financial education 
sessions they provided in schools.  After a 
lengthy period of low interest rates, savers 
are able to receive a better return on their 
monies and we witnessed more members 
willing to invest for longer to achieve this.  
Overall, the Society’s funding profile 
remained strong.

“Our branches are at the centre of our communities and, 
whilst other financial services providers close theirs, we will 
be happy to welcome their customers into our branches.” 
 
Colin Fyfe 
Chief Executive 

   Chief Executive’s report 
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Competition in the mortgage market 
continued to be fierce throughout most of 
2022, but we were able to re-enter lending 
markets which we had paused during the 
pandemic, such as self-employed and buy 
to let.  Self-build lending continues to be a 
key growth area for the Society and, with 
initiatives such as Right to Build, more and 
more consumers are opting for a choice in 
the style of home they live in.  These homes 
are also typically energy efficient, which has 
added an additional benefit during this 
period of high energy prices.  We launched 
our Green mortgage proposition during 
the year, but in general consumers had 
other priorities in their minds, and across 
the lending sector take up has been low.  
We moved our focus to consumer and 
mortgage broker education on property 
retrofitting to manage climate risks, and we 
believe this will position us well for an 
increase in green mortgage demand in 
future years. 
 
The cost-of-living crisis quickly followed the 
pandemic and we have been active in our 
support for members who are in or who 
are approaching financial difficulty.  Whilst 
our goal will be to protect the Society from 
cost-of-living and recession related 
headwinds, we have a co-operative policy 
and strategy which we use to assist 
members.  At the end of our financial year 
the quality of our mortgage book remained 
strong, with a very low number of 
members in arrears with their mortgage 
payments (2022: 0.39%, 2021: 0.49%).  We 
stand ready to support our members 
through, what is predicted to be, a 
challenging year ahead. 
 
The cost-of-living also impacts our staff and 
in August 2022 we made a one-off payment 
to our staff (excluding executives) to help 
them with the challenges that we were 
seeing in the energy and food markets.  
Excluding this payment our profit before 
tax was broadly consistent with 2021.  The 
fundamentals of the Society strengthened 
in 2022, with a growing net interest margin, 
whilst maintaining prudent levels of capital 
and liquidity.  Financially we are well placed 
to manage the economic challenges ahead. 
 

Investment 
As regulation develops, we have invested in 
the Society to ensure we have a robust 
framework for the business to operate 
within.  In 2022 the regulatory focus turned 
to the important topics of operational 
resilience and the management of third 
party relationships.  New frameworks 
were created to ensure that operationally 
we could continue to provide the service 
our members value during any periods of 
service interruption.  The work with third 
parties was extensive and ensures we are 
well placed to achieve the value and service 
we require in our contracts. I was delighted 
when we delivered both projects within the 
expected timeframe, and a review by our 
internal auditors provided us with strong 
assurance that we had adopted the 
regulation successfully. 
 
Our key investment decision during the 
year was the contract signed with our core 
system provider, Sopra, to move our 
systems into the cloud, establish new front-
end mortgage and savings portals and 
create the Society’s first app for members’ 
use.  When implemented, our members 
will be able to open a savings account and 
transfer money to their nominated bank 
account from the comfort of their own 
home.  There are many features and 
benefits this digital transformation will 
deliver, and I am looking forward to 
demonstrating them to our member panel 
meetings that we will reinvigorate over the 
next year.   
 
Digitisation is only part of our service 
channels and our commitment to our 
branch network remains strong.  Our 
branches are at the centre of our 
communities and, whilst other financial 
services providers close theirs, we will be 
happy to welcome their customers into our 
branches.  During 2023 our workplace 
savings initiative will give employers in our 
local communities the opportunity to 
encourage their employees to save into a 
Society account direct from their salary. 
 

Environmental, Social 
& Governance (ESG) 
The Society continues to take a proactive 
approach with ESG and made good 
progress in 2022. With our environmental 
team, the focus was on our own footprint, 
and we installed 111 solar panels at our 
head office to improve our energy 
efficiency.  Education for our members 
and local communities was in big demand, 
as well as our continued support for 
Rotary World Savers, our tree planting in 
Hinckley & Bosworth borough, and our 
leadership of the Hinckley & Bosworth 
Business Climate Forum.  The retrofitting 
of a large dolls house, to educate the old 
and young on the ways in which a home 
can be retrofitted to reduce carbon 
emissions, proved a big success and there 
is no better visual aide to create these 
conversations. 
 

Under our Social strategy we updated our 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy 
for the Society, and we are working 
through implementing this across our 
operations.  Our work under mental 
health continues to gain traction, and 
through chairing the LAMP Business Club, 
I am delighted to say that over 50 
businesses in the county are regularly 
meeting to discuss the opportunity to 
support all their employees. 
 

On behalf of the Board, our Company 
Secretary commenced a full governance 
review, starting at Board level, and is 
currently working through all internal 
policies and sub-committees.  This is 
making a big difference to the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the way your Society 
is run and we will continue this exercise 
throughout the Society. 
 

 

  Chief Executive’s report continued  
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Staff 
Hinckley & Rugby staff continued to show 
excellent resilience and dedication 
throughout 2022, in circumstances where 
they had to adapt to changing working 
conditions and a changing market 
environment.  I regularly hear from our 
members their thanks for the service they 
receive, and this was further evidenced 
last year with our overall member 
satisfaction score of 93.5%, as provided 
independently by Smart Money People. 
 

We continued to grow our staff numbers 
from 152 to 156 at the year-end, and 
increasingly we are using the hybrid 
working model to recruit staff from 
outside our operating area, where their 
specialist skills and experience are needed 
in our business.  During the year, an 
additional three staff members graduated 
from Loughborough University with a 
Masters qualification, and we have now 
supported six of our executives and 
senior leaders through this programme 
with another one commencing in 
September 2022. 
 

During the year Dean Waddingham, Chief 
Customer Officer, retired from the Society 
and Lisa Bengi, Head of Human Resources 
and People Development, moved from the 
Society to another role.  I would like to 
thank Dean and Lisa for their support and 
dedication to our business.  We welcomed 
Barry Carter, Chief Operating Officer and 
Niki Barker, Chief People Officer and 
additionally our Company Secretary, 
Maggie Long, joined our executive team. 
 

As the calendar year came to a close, we 
received the tragic news that Evan 
Crosskey, our Mortgage Sales & 
Distribution Senior Manager had died.  
Evan had worked at the Society since 2008 
and was an experienced, knowledgeable, 
respected and popular member of our 
senior leadership team. Having been 
awarded his Masters degree with 
distinction in December 2022, he was 
passionate about developing his career. 
Equally, he was admirably enthusiastic 
about volunteering and always generous 
with his time in support of charitable 
activities.  We will support Evan’s family, 
friends and colleagues through this difficult 
time. 
 
I would also like to thank all the Hinckley & 
Rugby staff for their tireless efforts during 
the year. 

 

Looking forward 
The UK economy has been resilient 
throughout the Covid period, but 2022 
saw rising interest rates, increasing costs 
for businesses and consumers, a forecast 
recession, and the potential for further 
falls in house prices in 2023. It is likely that 
2023 will be a challenging year for many, 
but your Society is in a strong position to 
support our members and communities 
through these times. 
 
2023 will be a busy year for the Society as, 
in addition to managing our business and 
growth aspirations, we have a number of 
projects which will support our continued 
growth. One of these is the 
implementation of the Financial Conduct 
Authority’s Consumer Duty regulation 
and we are embracing this opportunity to 
enhance all of our member experiences 
with the Society. 
 
The foundations of this Society have never 
been stronger, and we have the capacity 
and capability to grow our business whilst 
managing the right investments at the right 
times. Finally, our attention will not be 
diverted from our local communities, 
particularly in these challenging times.   

 
 
 
 
 

Colin Fyfe 
Chief Executive 
 
14 February 2023
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This section of the annual report 
reviews the current position and 
performance of the Society, and 
details the key financial indicators 
monitored by the Board. 
 
Details of the progress made by the 
Society in the implementation of the 
Board’s strategy are set out in the 
Chief Executive’s report on pages 5 
to 7. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Summary financial position 
The Society maintained a strong overall 
financial performance during 2022, despite 
the cost-of-living crisis and rising interest 
rates impacting financial markets and our 
members and leading to a downturn in the 
UK economy. Profit before tax was ahead 
of plan at £1.32m, but below the prior year 
(2021: £1.44m), with improvements in net 
interest receivable being more than offset 
by increased operational costs. Prudent 
levels of liquidity and capital were 
maintained throughout the year. The 
positive financial performance allows the 
Society to continue to invest in new staff 
and technology in 2023 and future years 
that will enhance products and services to 
the benefit of members.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

The Society returned to mortgage lending 
growth during the year, following two 
years of reduction. The growth was 
achieved through new product initiatives, 
careful management of mortgage pricing 
in a volatile interest rate environment, and 
a stronger focus on retention of existing 
borrowers at the end of their initial 
product term. Loans and advances to 
customers increased to £648m (2021: 
£619m). 
 
Impairment provisions held against 
specific mortgage cases in arrears at the 
prior year-end were released during the 
year as the cases were resolved without 
loss. Impairment provisions held at the 
end of the current year reflect the 
expected impact that the downturn in the 
economy, cost-of-living crisis and 
increasing interest rates are expected to 
have on the ability of some borrowers to 
pay their mortgages and on the housing 
market. 

 
 
 
 

Key financial measures for the year are shown below. 

   Chief Financial Officer’s report 

“The Society maintained a strong overall financial performance during 
2022, despite the cost of living crisis and rising interest rates impacting 
financial markets and our members and leading to a downturn in the UK 
economy. Profit before tax was ahead of plan at £1.32m but below the 
prior year (2021: £1.44m). Prudent levels of liquidity and capital were 
maintained.” 
 
John Mulvey 
Chief Financial Officer   

2022 2021 2020

Profit before tax (£m) 1.32 1.44 0.56

Loans and advances to customers (£m) 648.2 619.0 657.9

Retail savings (£m) 674.2 693.0 690.2

Liquid assets (£m) 143.3 172.3 145.2

Wholesale funding (£m) 78.6 60.0 74.0

Gross capital (£m) 46.2 47.3 45.4

Total assets (£m) 812.4 803.6 814.0

Net interest margin as a percentage of mean total assets 1.45% 1.34% 1.13%

Management expenses as a percentage of mean total assets 1.34% 1.22% 1.06%

Cost / income ratio 90.3% 88.4% 93.3%

Liquid assets as a percentage of shares and borrowings 19.0% 22.9% 19.0%

Gross capital as a percentage of shares and borrowings 6.1% 6.3% 5.9%

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio 16.2% 17.0% 15.7%

Balances in arrears as a percentage of gross loans and advances 0.55% 0.71% 0.88%
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Profit before tax  
As a mutually owned business, the Society is not 
aiming to maximise profit for shareholder gain, 
but it does need to make sufficient profit to 
support the capital it maintains for the 
protection of shareholding members and other 
depositors, to support asset growth and invest 
for the future.  Profit before tax in 2022 was 
lower than the prior year, reducing by £0.12m 
to £1.32m. The key components in the profit 
performance were: 
 
• Net interest receivable increasing by 

£0.90m to £11.71m (2021: £10.81m), with 
the net interest margin earned reaching 
1.45% (2021: 1.34%) and growth in loans 
and advances to customers. The growth in 
margin was largely due to higher returns 
earned on liquid assets, as interest rates 
increased during the year, and growth in 
higher margin mortgage products.  
 

• Gain on disposal of an investment property 
of £0.06m, with a third-party tenant 
exercising an option within the lease to 
purchase the property at the prevailing 
market value. In the prior year, the Society 
recognised a gain on the revaluation of 
investment properties of £0.04m. 
 

• An impairment credit recognised on loans 
and advances to customers of £0.15m 
during the year (2021: £0.10m credit). This 
impairment provision release was due to 
the resolution of a number of cases in 
arrears at the end of the prior year, 
partially offset by assumptions reflecting 
the deteriorating state of the UK economy 
and its impact on the Society’s borrowers 
at the balance sheet date. 
 

The above factors were more than offset by: 
 
• Administrative expenses, including 

depreciation and amortisation, increasing 
by £0.93m to £10.84m (2021: £9.91m). 
This was due to increased staff costs, part 
of which represents the full year impact of 
staff recruited part way through the prior 
year, and IT expenditure, reflecting the 
costs of improving customer services and 
new regulation, such as operational 
resilience requirements.  

 
 

• Net gains on derivative financial 
instruments held for hedging purposes 
reduced by £0.19m to £0.01m (2021: 
£0.20m gain). In common with many 
financial institutions, the Society uses 
derivatives (in the form of interest rate 
swaps) to hedge the risk of interest rate 
movements impacting adversely the net 
interest receivable earned on its portfolios 
of fixed rate mortgage and savings 
products. Movements in the fair value of 
these derivatives result in a charge or 
credit to income and largely represent 
timing differences recognised over the 
duration of each derivative contract. 

 

Net interest margin 
The difference between interest rates earned 
from mortgages and liquid assets, compared 
with those paid on savings and wholesale 
funding, is referred to as the net interest 
margin (NIM) and is a key measure of the 
underlying performance of the Society. It is 
expressed as a percentage of the Society’s 
average total assets. 
 

Factors affecting the Society’s NIM include the 
level of competition within the mortgage and 
savings markets, the returns achievable on 
liquid assets, the costs of wholesale funding, 
and the level of SONIA, a variable rate that 
governs the interest received on the Society’s 
interest rate swaps that are used to hedge 
fixed rate mortgages. A higher level of SONIA 
increases the overall level of interest earned 
on the Society’s fixed rate mortgages. 
 

Commencing in December 2021, the Bank of 
England raised its bank base rate from the 
historic low of 0.1% to 3.0% in November 
2022. As a result of these rate increases, the 
Society earned higher returns on its liquid 
assets, a significant proportion of which were, 
and continue to be, invested at the Bank of 
England earning base rate. These higher 
returns were partially offset by an increase in 
wholesale funding interest costs, particularly 
on central bank funding, and resulted in an 
increase in the Society’s net interest margin to 
1.45% (2021: 1.34%). The increase in margin 
was used to fund the increased operational 
costs incurred in the year, with the 
consequence that the benefit of the rises in 
base rate could not always be passed on in full 
to all savers. 

We aim to continue the margin improvement, 
through growth in higher margin mortgage 
products, whilst balancing the interests of 
borrowing members, savings members and 
the Society’s capacity to invest for the future.  
 
Administrative expenses 
including depreciation and 
amortisation 
The Board is always conscious that higher costs 
of running the Society restrict the benefits it is 
able to pass on to its members in the form of 
better savings and mortgage rates.  The Society 
remains an efficiently run organisation and its 
level of management expenses expressed as a 
percentage of average total assets of 1.34% 
(2021: 1.22%), despite increasing, was below 
the average in 2021 for a building society with 
total assets less than £1 billion. 
 
Overall administrative expenses, including 
depreciation and amortisation, increased by 
£0.93m to £10.84m (2021: £9.91m). 
 
Costs throughout the building society sector 
have increased significantly in recent years as 
firms, including the Society, have invested in 
people and systems to deliver improved 
customer service commensurate with member 
expectations and to respond to increasing 
regulatory requirements. As a result, during 
2022 the Society incurred increased staff costs 
and IT expenditure. This trend is expected to 
continue in the next two financial years as the 
Society embarks on a significant investment 
programme to improve the resilience and 
functionality of its core banking system. This will 
include delivery of enhanced online savings 
functionality for members, including the 
introduction of a mobile phone app, and 
enhanced mortgage application capability for 
brokers.
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Capital 
Capital is held to provide protection for 
members’ deposits against credit losses arising 
from lending and other risks to which the 
Society is exposed. A feature of the Society’s 
risk management framework is the Internal 
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ICAAP). The ICAAP assesses the level of 
capital that the Board considers adequate to 
mitigate the principal risks and uncertainties to 
which the Society is exposed, as set out in the 
Directors’ report on page 28. The Society runs 
regular stress tests to ensure it is adequately 
capitalised, including a severe economic 
downturn based on that used by the Bank of 
England to test the capital adequacy of systemic 
firms within the UK banking system. 
 
The Society generates capital from profit made 
by normal business activities. The Society’s 
profit after tax for the financial year of £1.07m 
(2021: £1.08m) was transferred to general 
reserves. In addition to the increase due to 
retained profits, the Society’s reserves reduced 
by £2.06m (2021: £0.84m increase) due to 
actuarial losses recognised in the pension 
scheme. As a result of this, gross capital at the 
year-end reduced to £46.2m (2021: £47.3m). 
The Society’s gross capital ratio (gross capital 
expressed as a percentage of total shares and 
deposits) was 6.14% (2021: 6.28%). The 
Society’s free capital ratio (gross capital and 
collective provision less tangible fixed assets, 
intangible fixed assets and investment 
properties, expressed as a percentage of total 
shares and deposits) was 5.42% (2021: 5.52%).

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

At 30 November 2022 the Society’s Total 
Capital Requirement set by the Prudential 
Regulation Authority was £26.0m (2021: 
£24.3m), with £21.9m (2021: £20.2m) 
relating to the Pillar 1 capital requirement and 
£4.1m (2021: £4.1m) relating to the Pillar 2A 
capital requirement. Regulatory capital held by 
the Society at 30 November 2022 was 
£44.7m (2021: £43.6m), representing 16.3% 
(2021: 17.3%) of total risk weighted 
exposures and well in excess of the minimum 
Total Capital Requirement and capital buffer 
requirements. 
 
The audited disclosures required by the 
Capital Requirements Directive (Country-by-
Country Reporting) Regulations 2013, which 
are prepared to comply with the Capital 
Requirements Directive, are shown in note 32 
of the accounts. 

 

Funding 
In accordance with its role as a mutual building 
society, the Society draws most of its funding 
from its members in the form of retail savings. 
Total retail savings balances (which include 
member share balances, as well as other retail 
accounts such as accounts for corporates, 
charities and local clubs and associations) 
reduced by £18.8m during 2022 and 
represented 90% (2021: 92%) of the Society’s 
total funding. 
 
The Society also takes some funding from the 
wholesale money markets, and for several 
years has participated in the Bank of England 
schemes that provide medium to long-term 
funds secured against mortgages and other 
assets at cost-effective rates of interest. At the 
year-end, the Society held £60.2m (2021: 
£60.0m) of funding from the Bank’s Term 
Funding Scheme with special incentives for 
SMEs (TFSME), which provides four-year 
term funding to banks and building societies 
and is repayable by the end of 2025. In 
addition, the Society held £17.1m (2021: £nil) 
of funding from the Bank’s Indexed Long Term 
Repo (ILTR) facility at the year-end, which 
provides six-month funding. 
 
The Society had unsecured wholesale funding 
of £1.3m (2021: £0.3m) outstanding at the 
year-end. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Liquidity management 
The Society undertakes a full review of liquidity 
adequacy each year, referred to as the Internal 
Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ILAAP), including an assessment as to the 
quantity and quality of liquid assets that the 
Society should hold to mitigate the liquidity risks 
to which it is exposed under both normal and 
stressed conditions. The Board approves the 
ILAAP on an annual basis and this forms a 
further component of the Society’s risk 
management framework. 
 
The Society’s liquid assets of £143.3m (2021: 
£172.3m) at the year-end represented 19.0% 
(2021: 22.9%) of shares and borrowings. The 
level of liquidity held relative to total shares and 
borrowings remains significantly above the 
Board’s internal assessment of its minimum 
requirement and its regulatory minimum 
requirement. Of the liquid assets held, £121.1m 
(2021: £158.1m) was on deposit at the Bank of 
England. 
 
The Society, in common with its peers, has 
access to various Bank of England liquidity 
facilities. These range from the provision of 
funding to assist with the management of short-
term cashflow imbalances that may arise 
through day to day operations, to rapid access 
to liquidity in the event of a severe and 
unexpected cash flow stress. 
 
Loans and advances to 
customers 
Loans and advances to customers at 30 
November 2022 were £648m (2021: £619m), 
representing growth of 4.7% (2021: 5.9% 
decline). Gross mortgage balances (before the 
deduction of impairment provisions and other 
accounting adjustments) grew by 6.5%.  
 
New mortgages advanced during 2022 
amounted to £183m (2021: £119m) and were 
spread across a range of products, including 
standard owner occupied, buy to let and self-
build lending. The Board’s objective is to achieve 
a balanced portfolio of mortgage products 
across a range of borrower segments that 
generate an interest margin commensurate with 
the credit risk involved, while maintaining 
exposures within agreed limits.  
 
 

   Chief Financial Officer’s report continued 
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After standard owner occupied mortgages, 
which represented 71% (2021: 71%) of the 
Society’s total mortgage book at the year-end, 
buy to let mortgages were the next largest 
segment within the Society’s portfolio, 
representing 27% (2021: 26%). 
 
Credit risk performance 
The safety and security of our members’ savings 
has always been of paramount importance. This 
is embodied in the Society’s prudent approach 
to mortgage lending, resulting in a high-quality 
mortgage book. 
 
At 30 November 2022, 16 (2021: 21) 
borrowers were in arrears with their monthly 
mortgage payments by one month or more, 
with balances outstanding representing 0.55% 
(2021: 0.71%) of total gross mortgage balances. 
Of the borrowers in arrears, one borrower was 
in arrears by 12 months or more (2021: five), 
with a balance outstanding of £0.25m (2021: 
£0.90m), arrears of £0.03m (2021: £0.10m) and 
an individual impairment provision held of 
£0.05m (2021: £0.12m). There were no 
properties in possession at 30 November 2022 
(2021: one). 
 
With the reduced number of arrears cases 
within the mortgage book over the year, 
including the resolution of a small number of 
longer-term arrears cases, the impairment 
provision held against loans and advances to 
customers was reduced to £0.40m (2021: 
£0.55m). In arriving at the year-end impairment 
provision, the Board has considered the impact 
of the deteriorating economic environment on 
cases where an impairment event has occurred 
at the year-end date, whether or not observable 
within arrears and other data. This includes the 
impact of the economic downturn, the cost-of-
living crisis and rising interest rates, on the ability 
of borrowers to pay their mortgage and on the 
housing market, with a number of economic 
forecasts predicting a decline in house prices 
during 2023. Further details of the judgements 
and estimations used in the impairment 
provision calculation are set out in note 2(b) to 
the accounts. The Board will continue to 
monitor this situation closely and will adjust the 
impairment provision as necessary. 

 
 
 
 
 

John Mulvey 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
14 February 2023 
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Your Society’s ESG strategy provides 
one of the key ways of demonstrating 
our core purpose, including sharing 
our knowledge, skills and resources 
with our local communities in 
Leicestershire and Warwickshire.  
Over the last 12 months our ESG 
strategy has continued to mature as 
we have moved out of the Covid 
period, and our staff and local 
communities have required differing 
types of support. As a mutual 
organisation we aim to have ESG and 
people strategies at the centre of the 
Society’s purpose. 

 

Environmental  
The financial services industry has a crucial 
role to play in the transition to a lower carbon 
economy and the Society fully understands 
and embraces this challenge. 
 
The UK Government has set a net zero goal 
by 2050 and we understand our role that we 
play in the climate change and sustainability 
agenda.  To support this agenda, we continue 
to take steps to identify ways we can support 
our members and local communities, as well 
as reducing our own carbon footprint.  The 
diagram below shows the Society’s 
framework for addressing the issue of climate 
change and includes four key areas of focus. 

 

Having identified our own scope one and two 
emissions in 2021, relating to those arising from 
owned vehicles and electricity and gas usage, we 
focused on ways in which we could reduce 
them.  During the year we installed 111 solar 
panels on the roof of our head office, together 
with four electric vehicle charging stations. This 
will allow us to generate our own energy and 
use this to reduce our “energy footprint”.  
Approaches like this can be shared with other 
businesses and therefore we have, jointly with 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council, 
launched a local Business Climate Change 
Forum where we have shared the thinking and 
planning behind the solar panels installation and 
encouraged other businesses to share their 
actions.  This is already creating local 
partnerships, including our support and 
presentations at the Twycross Zoo open days. 
 
Education on the climate challenges we face is 
increasingly important, and to provide the best 
visual representation of the opportunities with 
our residential and tenanted properties we 
upcycled a large dolls house and have used this 
at fairs, open days, and school visits to highlight 
the areas within a property that can be 
retrofitted to improve energy efficiency. 
 
Continuing with the theme of education, Colin 
Fyfe, Chief Executive, continues to chair the 
Building Societies Association Green Finance 
Taskforce.  During the year the Taskforce 
worked with mortgage intermediary trade 
bodies to provide education for mortgage 
brokers in their conversations with consumers.  
The Taskforce also continues to work closely 
with the Green Finance Institute on areas where 
collaboration can improve market education 
and bring propositions forward which will assist 
a number of climate change initiatives. 
 
Partnerships are very important to your Society 
and during the year we supported Hinckley & 
Bosworth Borough Council to launch a “Free 
Tree Scheme” which provided 27,000 trees for 
planting by local residents across the Borough.  
We are focused on reducing carbon emissions 
and also on offsetting any that find their way into 
the environment.   
 
Looking forward we are working with two 
environmental sector expert businesses on how 
we can provide a full property retrofitting 
service to our members and we look forward to 
supporting these important actions.  
Additionally, our “Green Team”, made up of a 
cross section of our staff, will continue their 
work to reduce our carbon footprint. 
 

 

Environmental, Social and Governance report 
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Social 
The Society is passionate about making an impact 
on social matters such as wellbeing and mental 
health, and on diversity and inclusion.  
 
Our work continued with LAMP (Leicestershire 
Action on Mental Health) where, having 
established the Business Club with LAMP, Colin 
Fyfe continues to chair the group which now has 
over 50 businesses as members.  The goal is to 
reach 100 business members and for the group to 
share mental health support strategies and 
approaches to help the Leicestershire work force.  
Within the Society our mental health first aiders 
continue to support our staff, and our Mental 
Health and Wellbeing committee continues to 
listen to staff views and find new ways to support 
them.  Whilst we enjoy a fruitful relationship with 
LAMP locally, we are keen to support others with 
their mental health strategies.  With this in mind 
we signed up to the Mortgage Industry Mental 
Health Charter and through this and other bodies, 
such as Women in Finance, we will play our part 
in supporting an inclusive approach to a significant 
societal challenge.  In addition, mental health and 
wellbeing is one of our community focal areas and 
we were delighted to present cheques, at our 
AGM, to three local charities to support their 
great work. 
 
During 2021 and 2022 we implemented our 
mental health and wellbeing strategy, which 
consisted of various training and awareness 
workshops for our employees.  This will continue 
in 2023 as we continue to break down the stigma 
surrounding mental health.  
 
In 2022 we began to engage with our staff to 
understand what diversity and inclusion means to 
them.  This resulted in our diversity and inclusion 
strategy being updated and agreed by the Board. 
Your Society is continuously driving towards a 
culture where everyone feels supported, included 
and comfortable to bring their whole selves to 
work. We will also be continuing to look for 
opportunities where we can support our local 
communities with these important issues.   
 
As we moved through 2022 external factors 
contributed to a cost-of-living crisis.  As we move 
into 2023 it is clear that the rising cost-of-living, 
including rising interest rates, will impact many 
people and households.  We moved quickly to 
liaise with an East Midlands homeless charity (The 
Bridge) and together with two other 
Leicestershire building societies we made a 
substantial donation to support a project which 
prevents local people losing the roof over their 
heads.  This preventative project will signpost and 
organise the right support, and we will keep close 
to the outcomes and how we can provide further 
support. 

 

Governance 
The Board’s Corporate Governance report is 
set out on page 14. 
 
Our approach to governance in the context of 
ESG matured during the last year.  With our 
new Company Secretary on board for the start 
of 2022 we took up the challenge of reviewing 
and reorganising our Board and executive 
policies and our Board and executive 
committees.  This was very much in line with the 
recommendations from our independent Board 
effectiveness review conducted in 2021, which 
encouraged the Board to simplify our 
governance framework.  This simplification has 
helped to focus Board discussions and has 
provided more empowerment for the executive 
team. 

 
We will see three non-executive Board 
members retiring in 2023 and a further one in 
2024.  We have been planning for these changes 
throughout 2022 and we appointed Miles 
Advisory to support us with our skills 
assessment and recruitment search.  Miles 
Advisory have brought a diverse group of 
candidates to us, and we look forward to 
integrating the skills and experience of new 
directors into our Society. 
 
The conduct of our Board and staff members is 
of primary importance to the Society as we aim 
to demonstrate our values in everything that we 
do. The Financial Conduct Authority’s 
regulation on Consumer Duty, which will be 
implemented in 2023 and 2024, provides us 
with the opportunity to enhance our members’ 
experience of the Society’s services and test our 
application of key conduct and governance 
approaches. We are embracing Consumer Duty 
and have appointed one of our executives to 
lead the project from both a strategic and an 
operational perspective. This use of 
experienced resource will allow us to conduct a 
transparent review and make any enhancements 
required.      
 
We see the Society as a responsible business, 
not only in the financial services sector, but in 
our local communities.  Our goal of sharing our 
knowledge and experience is providing tangible 
outcomes, not only through our volunteering or 
from our Community Foundation grants, but 
from the topics we look to lead on, such as 
mental health, the environment and 
homelessness.  The themes of sharing and 
leading will continue to be prominent in your 
Society.  
 
In the interests of safety, members were able to 
attend our AGM virtually for the second year in 
succession. We encourage occasions to hear 
directly from our members and were pleased 
that, as a result of your votes, we were able to 
donate £2,000 each to both the Hinckley Area 
Foodbank and Rugby Foodbank. 
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The Society is committed to effective 
corporate governance and this 
Corporate Governance report sets 
out the Society’s approach to 
governance in practice and how 
decisions are made to promote the 
long-term sustainable success of the 
Society for the benefit of its members 
and other stakeholders. The Society 
is not required to fully comply with 
the UK Corporate Governance Code 
(the Code), but the Board pays due 
regard to it when establishing and 
reviewing the Society’s own 
corporate governance arrangements. 
This report sets out how the Society 
applies the principles and provisions 
in the Code so far as they are relevant 
to building societies. 

 
Report  
The Chief Executive’s report and Chief Financial 
Officer’s report on pages 5 to 11 provide a 
detailed review of the Society’s business 
activities and prospects. The Directors’ report 
on page 28 includes a statement that the 
directors consider that the business is a going 
concern. The Audit and Compliance 
Committee’s report on page 22 sets out the 
main areas of accounting judgement considered 
by the committee. 
 
The responsibilities of the directors in relation 
to the preparation of the Society’s Annual 
Report and Accounts are set out in the 
Responsibilities of the Directors report on page 
32. The Board confirms that the Annual Report 
and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced 
and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for members to assess 
the Society’s performance, business model and 
strategy. 
 
 

Corporate Governance 
The Society is committed to effective 
corporate governance and this Corporate 
Governance report sets out the Society’s 
governance framework and how decisions are 
made to promote the long-term sustainable 
success of the Society for the benefit of its 
members and other stakeholders.   
 
Effective governance is pivotal to the 
achievement of the Society’s goals and 
objectives, and during 2022 the Society 
enhanced and developed those governance 
structures and systems.  The Board 
underwent an external evaluation at the end 
of 2021, and this provided valuable insight into 
possible areas of improvement within 
governance processes and procedures.   
 
The Board operates on an annual cycle and 
ensures that all matters reserved for the 
Board are considered, and oversees the 
responsibilities delegated to its committees.  
This cycle ensures a comprehensive approach 
to monitoring the delivery of the Society 
strategy, careful oversight of the Society 
operations, alignment to Society values and 
culture, care and consideration to all 
stakeholder needs, and maintaining a 
sustainable future of adequate capital and 
liquidity. 
 
The Corporate Governance and committee 
reports explain how the Society upholds the 
principles within the Code and endeavours to 
continually improve and adopt best practice. 
 
The Governance Framework 
The Board of Directors is responsible for 
setting strategic direction and providing 
oversight and control of the business. 
 
The Board delegates certain matters to 
committees for monitoring and oversight and 
these are formally documented.  A full report 
on how these committees have discharged 
their duties is on pages 18 to 20. 
 

Board leadership and company 
purpose  

Code Principles 
 

A. A successful company is led by an effective 
and entrepreneurial board, whose role is 
to promote the long-term sustainable 
success of the company, generating value 
for shareholders and contributing to wider 
society. 

 

B. The board should establish the company’s 
purpose, values and strategy, and satisfy 
itself that these and its culture are aligned. 
All directors must act with integrity lead by 
example and promote the desired culture. 

 

C. The board should ensure that necessary 
resources are in place for the company to 
meet its objectives and measure 
performance against them. The board 
should also establish a framework of 
prudent and effective controls, which 
enable risk to be assessed and managed. 

 

D. In order for the company to meet its 
responsibilities to shareholders and 
stakeholders, the board should ensure 
effective management with, and encourage 
participation from, these parties. 

 

E. The board should ensure that workforce 
policies and practices are consistent with 
the company’s values and support its long-
term sustainable success. The workforce 
should be able to raise any matters of 
concern. 

 
The Society’s Board is collectively responsible 
for the long-term success of the organisation 
and ensures that the approved strategy aligns 
with the Society’s values, purpose and culture.  
The Board, executives and senior leaders 
develop a strategy that incorporates 
knowledge from all areas of the Society, 
recognising that an aligned corporate 
governance structure, utilising all Society 
resources, increases the chances of success 
and achieving cultural synergy in a shared 
vision.

Governance Structure

Board of Directors

Audit & Compliance 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nominations & 
Govenance Committee

Risk 
Committee

Executive Committee 
(ExCo)

Credit Committee
(CC)

Assets & Liabilities 
Committee

(ALCO)

Conduct & Operational 
Risk Committee (CORC)

Corporate Governance  
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To do this, before the financial year begins the 
Board, executives and senior leaders come 
together offsite to participate in a strategy 
setting session.  These sessions explore the 
risks faced by the Society in this current 
volatile and complex environment.  The 
discussions explore strategic focus to ensure a 
sustainable operational and financial future for 
the Society and its members.  Members and 
key stakeholders’ requirements are assessed 
to deliver a plan that can meet the demands 
and deliver quality products and exceptional 
customer service and engagement.  The 
resulting strategy is then detailed within a 
business plan, which is reviewed by the Board 
to ensure that the financial and operational 
plans align with the Society’s purpose and 
values. 

 
The key to achieving the strategy is the 
successful delivery of the operational 
objectives. During the year, the Board and 
management worked towards achieving the 
Society’s goals, ensuring risks were identified 
and challenged and key controls remained in 
place to protect the core business model. The 
Board provided oversight over two important 
projects covering the Society’s lending 
operations and branch and savings teams to 
maximise operational efficiencies and enhance 
the member experience. 
 
The Board promotes a culture of placing the 
member at the heart of the Society and 
ensures delivery of strategic objectives to 
drive member value.  The Board seeks and 
encourages member feedback and opinion 
through engagement at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM), informal engagements and 
branch visits. To enhance member 
engagement in the AGM, the Board offers 
multiple channels for voting, including online 
voting, postal voting and in-branch voting.  
Covid prevented all directors being present at 
the 2022 AGM, but a number of directors 
were available on the evening to talk with and 
answer any member questions. 
 
The Board values member feedback through 
post-sale surveys, social media, the Society’s 
website and the reviews completed through 
Smart Money People, which undertakes 
consumer reviews on behalf of the Society and 
other financial services providers.  The Board 
monitors and oversees all customer 
satisfaction survey results and information as a 
standing item at Board meetings.   
 
The Board monitors and oversees workplace 
policy and practices and reviews staff 
engagement metrics at every Board meeting.  
In addition to this, the Board actively engages 
with staff members through face-to-face 
meetings, branch visits, online forums, staff 
mentoring programmes and departmental 
sessions.  “All-staff” calls are held throughout 
the year and the Chief Executive leads these 
sessions to ensure key messages are 
communicated and all staff members are kept 
informed and up to date on progress against 
the Society business plan.  These sessions are 

informal, and staff are encouraged to speak up 
and ask questions.  Non-executive directors 
attend certain sessions throughout the year 
and provide an update on the work of the 
Board, and staff are invited to ask questions 
on key strategic objectives and areas of focus 
for the Board.  Engagement and attendance at 
these sessions are consistently good. 
 
Barbara Taeed (non-executive director) led 
the Staff Engagement Forum throughout the 
year.  Staff were invited to attend the forum, 
where senior management would not be in 
attendance.  This allowed members of staff 
the opportunity to speak freely and openly 
without management, feedback key 
challenges, concerns and feelings about the 
direction of the Society, and ask questions for 
clarity and reassurance about the strategy and 
objectives.  Engagement at the forum was very 
good, with staff representing all branches and 
departments.  The forum captured a number 
of human resource questions, and in particular 
a request for clarity around remuneration 
strategies, training programmes and benefits.  
Staff feedback is assessed and reviewed by the 
Board, and monitored to ensure actions and 
queries are followed up. 
 
The Society runs “Ask 3” sessions throughout 
the year.  Three members of the Board and 
senior management meet with staff members 
and answer any questions they may have. The 
induction process is a key moment for sharing 
the Society’s values and directors attend 
induction sessions to ensure that they meet all 
new staff members to convey the Society’s 
values, purpose and vision. 
 
The non-executive directors (NEDs) 
participate in Society visits.  Throughout the 
year each NED visits branches and teams to 
engage in person and gather views, opinions, 
concerns and challenges. Feedback is then 
given to the Board to discuss and implement 
any actions and changes required. 
 
In addition to these open communication 
channels, the Society operates a 
Whistleblowing Policy and process.  The 
policy provides a means for staff to raise 
concerns in confidence. The Society’s Chair of 
the Board is the whistleblowing champion. 
The Board reviews these arrangements 
annually, to ensure they are proportionate, 
that any reports arising from its operation are 
independently investigated, and that any 
required actions are taken whilst maintaining 
confidentiality. 
 

Division of responsibilities 

Code Principles 
 

F. The chair leads the board and is 
responsible for its overall effectiveness in 
directing the company. They should 
demonstrate objective judgement 
throughout their tenure and promote a 
culture of openness and debate. In 
addition, the chair facilitates constructive 
board relations and the effective 
contribution of all non-executive directors, 
and ensures that directors receive 
accurate, timely and clear information. 
 

G. The board should include an appropriate 
combination of executive and non-
executive (and, in particular independent 
non-executive) directors, such that no one 
individual or small group of individuals 
dominates the board’s decision making. 
There should be a clear division of 
responsibilities between the leadership of 
the board and the executive leadership of 
the company’s business. 
 

H. Non-executive directors should have 
sufficient time to meet their board 
responsibilities. They should provide 
constructive challenge, strategic guidance, 
offer specialist advice and hold 
management to account. 
 

I. The board, supported by the company 
secretary, should ensure that it has the 
policies, processes, information, time and 
resources it needs in order to function 
effectively and efficiently. 

 
The Society’s Chair, Colin Franklin, was 
appointed as an independent non-executive 
director in June 2015, following a rigorous 
selection exercise, and was elected by the other 
members of the Board to become the Society 
Chair the following year. 
 
As at 30 November 2022, the Board comprised 
an independent non-executive chair, five other 
independent non-executive directors and four 
executive directors.  The Board lays out its 
overall approach to governance, including the 
division of responsibilities in its governance 
manual.  This provides clarity around the role of 
both non-executive and executive directors.  All 
directors constructively challenge and help 
shape and develop the Society’s strategy and 
purpose. The Board met 12 times in the year, 
including an offsite strategy session to focus on 
the Society’s strategic direction and business 
model. All non-executive directors are 
considered by the Board to be independent in 
character and judgement and free of any 
relationship or circumstance that could interfere 
with the exercise of their judgement or impede 
the provision of constructive challenge to 
management. 
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Prior to appointment, an assessment is made 
of a non-executive director’s time 
commitments, other than those to the 
Society, to ensure that they can devote 
sufficient time to Society business. The Chair 
annually evaluates the ability of directors to 
commit the time required to properly and 
effectively fulfil their role, that their 
performance continues to be effective, and 
that they demonstrate commitment to the 
role. The Senior Independent Director 
assesses the Chair’s ability in this regard as 
part of the annual appraisal of the Chair. The 
attendance record during the year of directors 
at Board and committee meetings is set out 
on page 21. The commitments of the 
directors are set out in the Annual Business 
Statement on page 75. 
 

The Board has appointed a Senior 
Independent Director, David Woodward, to 
provide a sounding board for the Society chair 
and to serve as an intermediary for the other 
directors when necessary. The Senior 
Independent Director is also available to 
members if they have any concerns which 
contact through the normal channels of 
Society Chair, Chief Executive, Chief Financial 
Officer, Chief Operating Officer or Chief Risk 
Officer has failed to resolve, or for which such 
contact is inappropriate. 
 
The offices of the Society Chair and Chief 
Executive are held by different individuals with 
their roles set out in their terms of 
appointment or contract respectively, and 
reflected in job descriptions. The Society 
Chair is responsible for leading the Board, 
ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its 
role. The Chief Executive is responsible for 
managing the Society’s business within the 
parameters set by the Board. 
 
The Society Chair sets the direction and 
culture of the Board, facilitating effective 
contribution from directors, maintaining 
constructive relations between executive and 
non-executive directors, and ensuring that 
directors receive accurate, timely and clear 
advice and information.   
 
The Chair and the Company Secretary led the 
process for the creation of the Board Code of 
Conduct.  This Code of Conduct details 
Board practices and procedures that are 
conducive to ensuring effective and efficient 
processes and behaviours. This document is 
reviewed, approved and adopted by the 
Board on an annual basis.  All directors have 
access to the advice and services of the 
Society’s Company Secretary, who is 
responsible for ensuring compliance with all 
Board procedures. 
 
To ensure policy best practice, the Board and 
the Company Secretary undertook a review 
of the Society policy framework.  The 
framework lays out the Society’s classification 
of policies and the delegated bodies to 
provide oversight and monitor 
implementation.   
 

The Board ensures that all policies reflect the 
values, standards and expected behaviours of 
the Society to drive best practice in a well 
governed environment.   
 

Composition, succession and 
evaluation 
Code Principles 
 
J. Appointments to the board should be 

subject to a formal, rigorous and 
transparent procedure, and an effective 
succession plan should be maintained for 
board and senior management. Both 
appointments and succession plans should 
be based on merit and objective criteria 
and, within this context, should promote 
diversity of gender, social and ethnic 
backgrounds, cognitive and personal 
strengths. 

 

K. The board and its committees should have 
a combination of skills, experience, and 
knowledge. Consideration should be given 
to the length of service of the board as a 
whole and membership regularly 
refreshed. 

 

L. Annual evaluation of the board should 
consider its composition, diversity and 
how effectively members work together to 
achieve objectives. Individual evaluation 
should demonstrate whether each director 
continues to contribute effectively.  

 
During 2021, an externally facilitated Board 
effectiveness evaluation was conducted. The 
members of the Board were interviewed and 
assessed to review how they work together 
to achieve the Board’s objectives. The report 
concluded that the Board was a strong, 
professional and experienced board that 
provides sound strategic guidance and 
oversight for the Society.  The report also 
identified some key areas for developing 
governance structures and strengthening the 
underlying processes to improve efficiencies 
and areas of focus for the Board. Together, 
the Board and the Company Secretary 
worked on developing and strengthening 
those areas.   
 
As part of this work, key governance practices 
and documents were developed, as previously 
highlighted, and Board meeting packs and 
papers were streamlined, and focus on key 
matters re-established.  Throughout the year, 
the Board retained ruthless focus on 
reviewing and strengthening the areas 
identified in the report and finished the year 
with a transformed suite of governance 
practices and documentation.  The Board has 
agreed to undertake an annual internal 
effectiveness review to ensure continual 
improvement and best practice in corporate 
governance. 
 
Each of the Board committees evaluates their 
own overall performance annually, and the 
Board reviews and acts on the results of the 
performance evaluation by recognising the 
strengths and addressing the weaknesses of its 

committees.  The Nominations and 
Governance Committee reviews and assesses 
committee membership on an annual basis, 
reflecting upon the performance evaluation of 
each body.   

 
The performance and effectiveness of each 
non-executive director and the Chief 
Executive is evaluated by the Society’s Chair, 
while the Senior Independent Director 
evaluates the performance of the Society 
Chair, taking into account the views of other 
directors. The Chief Executive evaluates the 
performance of the other executive directors, 
taking into account the performance 
objectives set at the beginning of the year or 
on appointment. The evaluations include 
consideration of training and development 
requirements to ensure directors continually 
update their skills, knowledge and 
understanding of the Society’s business. 
Annual evaluations for 2022 took place on this 
basis and it was concluded that each director 
continues to make an effective and valuable 
contribution to the Board, and continues to 
demonstrate commitment to the role. 
 
The Nominations and Governance 
Committee is responsible for Board 
appointments and succession planning, 
ensuring that the Board comprises sufficient 
directors who are independent, fit and 
proper, and who can meet their collective and 
individual responsibilities effectively. 
 
There is a formal, rigorous and transparent 
procedure for the appointment of new 
directors to the Board. As with all 
recruitment, all candidates, irrespective of 
background, are always treated respectfully 
and inclusively. The Nominations and 
Governance Committee considers the 
balance of skills and experience on the Board, 
as required by the Society’s business strategy, 
using a skills matrix and having regard to the 
Board’s succession plans. A description of the 
role and capabilities required for a particular 
appointment is prepared in the light of that 
evaluation. All appointments are made on 
merit, against objective criteria and with due 
regard for the benefits of diversity on the 
Board. 
 
The committee considered succession plans 
for the Board and senior management during 
the year. As with appointments, succession 
plans are based on merit and objective criteria 
and, within this context, promote diversity of 
gender, social and ethnic backgrounds, 
cognitive and personal strengths.   
 
All directors take part in an ongoing 
programme of training and professional 
development designed to keep their 
knowledge and skills up to date and ensure 
they have appropriate knowledge of the 
Society and access to its operations and 
colleagues.  
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This is done primarily through internal and 
external presentations and e-learning training 
modules. During the year, training included 
diversity and inclusion, Consumer Duty, the 
green mortgage market and various sessions 
provided through the BSA. All directors also 
undertook e-learning training modules on the 
senior managers and certification regime, 
treating customers fairly and information 
security. Directors also participate in external 
courses and conferences where relevant. 
 
During 2022 the Board bid farewell to 
executive director Dean Waddingham and 
welcomed new executive directors Rebecca 
Griffin and Barry Carter to the Board.  In the 
next financial year, the Board will say farewell 
to two NEDs and will welcome two new 
NEDs to stand at the March 2023 AGM.   
 
The biographies of the directors are shown on 
page 25, demonstrating that the Board has a 
strong mix of skills and experience relevant to 
the Society and its strategy. 
 
All new Board members receive a full, formal 
and tailored induction when they join the 
Board. This includes directors’ responsibilities 
and duties, the management information they 
will be provided with and how to interpret 
this, information on the Society and the local 
market, an overview of the regulatory 
requirements and details of significant current 
issues for the industry, the senior managers 
and certification regime, meetings with 
members of the Executive Committee, and 
details of key financial, operational, people 
and risk related matters specific to the 
Society. During the year, Board members 
have continued to meet with head office 
departments and branches to engage with 
members and staff. Furthermore, all new 
senior managers go through a comprehensive 
handover process to ensure they are fully 
aware of the specific responsibilities relating to 
their individual role. 
 
Diversity and inclusion matter at the Society 
and we are proud to be a signatory of the 
Women in Finance Charter, a government 
initiative designed to improve gender diversity 
in senior positions within the financial services 
sector. The Society has, for several years, 
maintained an appropriate gender balance 
across all levels of leadership within the 
organisation, including at Board and Executive 
Committee level. This has been achieved 
whilst pursuing a strategy of appointing the 
right individuals for roles, regardless of 
gender. As part of our commitment to the 
Women in Finance Charter, and, in the 
context of our strong position in terms of 
gender balance, we have set a floor for gender 
diversity at 40% of female or male 
representation at Board and Executive 
Committee level. At 30 November 2022, ten 
women held positions at Board and Executive 
Committee level out of a total of 17 (59%).

The Society is also proud to have signed up to 
the Disability Confident scheme, which 
supports employers to challenge thinking and 
the attitudes toward disability and improve 
the recruitment and retention of disabled 
workers. In addition, the Society has pledged 
to remove barriers to employment for 
disabled people, as well as those with long-
term health conditions, and to ensure they are 
offered the chance to fulfil their potential. The 
Society’s commitment to positively change 
attitudes, behaviours and cultures under the 
scheme is the same, whether we are looking 
to recruit new staff or to make adjustments 
for an employee who has become disabled 
during their career. 
 

Audit, risk and internal Control 
Code Principles 
 
M. The board should establish formal and 

transparent policies and procedures to 
ensure the independence and 
effectiveness of internal and external 
audit functions and satisfy itself on the 
integrity of financial and narrative 
statements. 

 

N. The board should present a fair, 
balanced and understandable 
assessment of the company’s position 
and prospects. 
 

O. The board should establish procedures 
to manage risk, oversee the internal 
control framework, and determine the 
nature and extent of the principal risks 
the company is willing to take in order 
to achieve its long-term strategic 
objectives. 

 
The Society operates a three lines of defence 
model for internal control as follows: 

 
• The first line of defence is management 

within each business area, who are 
responsible for the identification, 
measurement and management of the 
risks within the Society’s risk appetite, 
and ensuring appropriate controls are in 
place and operating effectively. 
Management information relating to 
each risk category is monitored by the 
Executive Committee, ALCO, CORC 
or Credit Committee.  
 

• The second line of defence is the 
Society’s Governance, Risk and 
Compliance function, which provides 
risk management expertise, challenge 
and support to the Board, management 
and staff. Independent views are 
reported to the Board, Audit and 
Compliance Committee and Risk 
Committee, based on management 
information from across the business, 
external intelligence and bespoke 
assurance activity, in accordance with a 
risk-based plan approved by the Audit 
and Compliance Committee.  

 

• The third line of defence is the internal 
audit function, which independently 
reviews the effectiveness of the internal 
control environment. The Audit and 
Compliance Committee approves a risk-
based internal audit plan for Internal Audit 
and receives reports of the results of the 
work performed. 

 

In addition to the three lines of defence model, 
the Audit and Compliance Committee receives 
reports from the external auditor detailing their 
observations on the effectiveness of internal 
controls, particularly those relating to the 
preparation of the accounts, during the external 
audit process. 
 

The Board’s principal functions include 
determining the risk appetite, strategy and 
policies of the Society, establishing an effective 
risk management and internal control 
framework that enables risk to be assessed and 
managed, and reviewing business and 
management performance. In addition, the 
Board has a duty to ensure that the Society 
operates within its rules and relevant legislation 
and regulation.  This includes details of the 
financial and human resources required, and 
details of development projects and 
expenditure to enhance the Society’s 
operations and services to its members, both in 
the short and longer term. 
 

The Board has approved and monitored the 
implementation of an enhanced risk 
management framework to mitigate the 
significant risks to which it is exposed. The 
framework comprises a risk focused governance 
structure, risk appetite statements, risk 
management policies, and procedures for the 
identification, measurement and reporting of 
risks within defined risk limits. 
 

In addition to the reports received throughout 
the year from internal audit, external audit and 
the Governance, Risk and Compliance function, 
the Audit and Compliance Committee receives 
an annual review of internal controls from 
management and an annual conclusion on the 
Society’s control environment from internal 
audit. Based on the reports received during the 
year, the committee concluded that the Society 
operates an effective system of control. As a 
result, the Board is satisfied that the Society has 
sound risk management and internal control 
systems and that these systems have been in 
place during the year. 
 

The key Board and committee responsibilities 
in respect of risk management and the internal 
control framework are: 
 

• The Board approves the overall risk 
management framework and 
determines the Society’s risk appetite.  

 

• The Risk Committee oversees the risk 
management framework, including the 
identification of risk and the monitoring 
of risk positions against appetite. The 
committee receives an independent 
view of each risk category from the 
Chief Risk Officer at each meeting.  
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• The Audit and Compliance Committee 
monitors the effectiveness of systems and 
controls for all risk categories through 
independent reports from the Society’s 
Internal Audit and Compliance functions, in 
accordance with agreed risk-based 
assurance plans.  
 

• The Executive Committee is responsible for 
the management of strategic risks to the 
Society. 

 

• ALCO is responsible for the management of 
financial risks, including liquidity risk, funding 
risk, treasury counterparty credit risk and 
interest rate risk.  

 

• CORC is responsible for the management 
of conduct risk and operational risk.  

 

• The Credit Committee is responsible for 
management of retail credit risk. 
 

As described in the Audit and Compliance 
Committee’s report on page 22, the 
committee’s review of the accounts includes 
consideration that financial and narrative 
disclosures are fair, balanced and 
understandable. 

 
Remuneration 
Code Principles 

 
P. Remuneration policies and practices should 

be designed to support strategy and 
promote long-term sustainable success. 
Executive remuneration should be aligned 
to company purpose and values, and be 
clearly linked to the successful delivery of 
the company’s long-term strategy. 
 

Q. A formal and transparent procedure for 
developing policy on executive 
remuneration and determining director and 
senior management remuneration should 
be established. No director should be 
involved in deciding their own remuneration 
outcome. 
 

R. Directors should exercise independent 
judgement and discretion when authorising 
remuneration outcomes, taking account of 
company and individual performance, and 
wider circumstances. 
 

The Society has regard to the principles and 
provisions relating to remuneration in the Code 
and ensures that the Society’s Remuneration 
Policy is compliant with the Financial Conduct 
Authority’s Remuneration Code and the 
Remuneration Part of the Prudential Regulation 
Authority’s Rulebook. 
 
The Society’s Remuneration Policy is reviewed 
by the Remuneration Committee annually. In 
setting remuneration, the committee takes into 
consideration salaries payable and other 
benefits provided to executive directors and 
other senior management of building societies 
that are similar in size and complexity, and other 
relevant organisations. The committee did not 
use external consultants to assist in this process 
during the reporting period. 

The committee exercises independent 
judgement and discretion when authorising 
remuneration outcomes, taking account of 
Society and individual performance and wider 
circumstances, and underpinned by the 
objective to promote the Society’s long-term 
sustainable success. All remuneration 
schemes and policies are flexible enough to 
enable the committee to use discretion to 
override formulaic outcomes. 
 
The Society continues to embed its 
performance management framework and 
assessment of performance against the 
Society balanced scorecard.  The Society’s 
valued behaviours are teamwork, courage to 
challenge, taking responsibility and going the 
extra mile. The balanced scorecard is used to 
assess the performance of the Society, in the 
areas of customer and community, people, 
operational excellence, financial, and 
governance, risk and compliance. The 
objectives in the scorecard reflect the 
Society’s strategic priorities, and performance 
measures are set each year for the Society, its 
departments, and individual employees. The 
Remuneration Committee has absolute 
discretion to reduce any bonus allocation 
available if it decides that acceptable standards 
or performance levels have not been met. 
This is consistent with the Society’s risk 
appetite and is designed to support the overall 
financial stability of the Society and its strategic 
priorities. 
 
The Chief Executive attends the committee by 
invitation, but takes no part in the discussion 
of his own remuneration. The committee 
reviews remuneration for the Chair of the 
Board, executive directors and senior 
managers annually, using data from 
comparable organisations, and takes advice 
from external consultants when appropriate.  
 
The remuneration of the non-executive 
directors, other than the Chair of the Board, 
is determined annually by the Chair of the 
Board and Chief Executive.  No director or 
individual is involved in setting their own 
remuneration. It is the responsibility of the 
Nominations and Governance Committee to 
identify Remuneration Code staff and Material 
Risk Takers (MRTs). The Remuneration 
Committee is responsible for setting the 
remuneration of the Remuneration Code staff 
and MRTs to ensure that their remuneration 
does not encourage inappropriate risk taking, 
and also to ensure they are rewarded 
appropriately and fairly to encourage 
enhanced performance and promote the 
long-term success of the Society. 
 
The terms of reference for the committee are 
available on the Society’s website, and each 
committee meeting is formally minuted, and 
the minutes are distributed to all committee 
members. The Chair of the committee 
reports on the key matters covered at the 
following Board meeting.  
 
 

Committees 
As noted above, the Board has established 
committees to oversee the implementation and 
monitoring of key business areas, including the 
Audit and Compliance Committee, Risk 
Committee, Nominations and Governance 
Committee and Remuneration Committee.  In 
addition, the Society operates executive and 
management committees, including the 
Executive Committee, the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee, the Conduct and Operational Risk 
Committee and the Credit Committee. 
 

The Board approves the terms of reference of 
each Board committee and the Executive 
Committee, whilst the Risk Committee reviews 
and approves the terms of reference for its 
reporting committees. Through effectiveness 
reviews and succession planning, the Board 
ensures its committees have the appropriate 
balance of skills, experience and knowledge to 
discharge their respective duties effectively. All 
Board members have the benefit of appropriate 
liability insurance at the Society’s expense and all 
have access to independent professional advice 
if required. 

 

Audit and Compliance 
Committee 
The Audit and Compliance Committee 
comprised three non-executive directors 
(excluding the Chair of the Board) and during 
the year was chaired by David Woodward. The 
biographies shown on page 25 set out the 
committee members’ skills and experience. All 
members have recent and relevant financial 
experience, and competence relevant to the 
sector in which the Society operates. The 
committee met six times during the year and the 
meetings were held remotely. For attendance 
details see the table on page 21. 
 

The committee is responsible for oversight on 
behalf of the Board of the Society’s internal 
financial controls and internal control systems, 
including those that ensure compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. The committee 
fulfils its responsibilities by approving risk-based 
work programmes for the Society’s 
Governance, Risk and Compliance function and 
internal audit function, and approving the audit 
strategy of the external auditor. At each 
meeting, the committee reviews and challenges 
reports received from these functions and 
management, relating to the effectiveness of 
internal controls and control systems. 
 
The committee considerations include the 
following policies and documentation: 
 
• Integrated Assurance Plan 

 

• Internal Audit Plan 
 

• External Audit Strategy 
 

• Data Protection Policy 
 

• Anti-Money Laundering Policy  
 

• Fire, Health and Safety Policy  
 

• Whistleblowing Policy  
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• Competition Policy  
 

• Non-Audit Services Policy  
 

• Key accounting policies and 
assumptions  

 

• Annual Report and Accounts 
 

• Summary Financial Statements  
 

During 2022, the committee oversaw the 
process to appoint a new external auditor, with 
the Board approving the committee’s 
recommendation.  Further details of this, the 
committee’s terms of reference and its work 
during the year can be found in the separate 
Audit and Compliance Committee’s report on 
page 22. 
 
To ensure best practice, the committee meets 
with representatives of external audit and 
internal audit without management at least once 
per year.  The committee undertakes an annual 
self-assessment for effectiveness and reports the 
results to the Board. For 2022 the committee 
reported that it had operated effectively. 

 

Risk Committee 
The Risk Committee comprised three non-
executive directors and during the year was 
chaired by Gary Wilkinson. The committee met 
six times during the year and the meetings were 
held remotely.  For attendance details see the 
table on page 21. The committee is responsible 
for oversight on behalf of the Board of the 
Society’s risk management framework, including 
the identification of risks, the monitoring of risk 
positions against appetite, and the Society’s key 
risks in this volatile and complex environment.  
The committee ensured that adequate 
management resources were in place to assess, 
evaluate and control the key risks faced by the 
Society.  A strong risk culture continues to 
develop and the committee provided challenge, 
guidance and support through the economic 
downturn.   
 

To ensure sound credit risk management 
practices, the committee reviewed during 2022 
the Society’s retail credit risk framework and 
challenged lending policy, limits and tolerances.  
The committee also focused on developing the 
Society’s credit risk management information to 
ensure the best outcomes for the Society and its 
members. 
 
The committee continued to review the 
Society’s capital and liquidity positions to ensure 
a sustainable future and the delivery of the 
Society’s strategy.  The committee conducted 
this review through the assessment of the 
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ICAAP) and Internal Liquidity Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ILAAP) and intrinsic stress 
scenarios.   
 
The committee recommended these 
assessments to the Board, and was satisfied that 
sufficient levels of capital and liquidity remained 
in place to support the Society and its future 
development goals. 
 

To provide oversight and monitoring of the 
risk culture and implementation of risk 
management, the committee reviews and 
approves operational risk policies and makes 
recommendations to the Board for all 
strategic risk policies.   
 
The committee receives a report from the 
Chief Risk Officer at each meeting outlining 
the key risks and considerations for the 
committee, including horizon scanning and 
emerging risks that the Society may be 
exposed to.  Also, the committee oversees 
operations and monitors how the Society 
operates within risk limits and is alerted to any 
key risk indicators for awareness. 
 

The committee’s considerations include the 
following risk management policies and 
documentation: 

 

• Risk Management Framework and Risk 
Appetite Statements 

 

• Risks identified in the Integrated 
Assurance Plan 

 

• Lending Policy 
 

• Conduct Risk Policy 
 

• Vulnerable Customers Policy 
 

• Financial Risk Management Policy 
 

• ILAAP 
 

• ICAAP 
 

• Reverse Stress Test Framework 
 

• Recovery Plan 
 

• Resolution Pack 
 

• Pillar 3 Policy and Disclosures 
 

• Operational Risk Policy 
 

• Third Party and Outsourcing Policy 
 

• Financial Crime Risk Assessment 
 

• Model Risk Management Policy 
 

• Regulatory Reporting Policy 
 

To ensure best practice the committee meets 
with the Chief Risk Officer without 
management present to discuss risk matters 
and culture across the Society.  With regards 
to the Code, the committee undertakes an 
annual self-assessment for effectiveness and 
reports to the Board.  For 2022 the 
committee reported that it had discharged its 
duties effectively. 
 
Nominations and Governance 
Committee 
The Nominations and Governance 
Committee comprised three non-executive 
directors and during the year was chaired by 
Colin Franklin for part of the year, who then 
passed the Chair role to Nemone Wynn-
Evans in accordance with the Society’s 
succession plan. For attendance details, see 
the table on page 21. The committee is 
responsible for leading the process for senior 
appointments, ensuring plans are in place for 
orderly succession to both the Board and 
senior management positions, and ensuring 

that the Board and senior management have 
the appropriate skills and experience to 
effectively manage the business and deliver the 
Society’s strategy. The committee meets at 
least twice a year.  
 
During 2022 the committee oversaw the 
Society’s strengthening of its governance 
practices.  The committee provided oversight, 
influence and guidance as the Board 
developed key policies and practices.  
Considerations included the governance 
manual, Code of Conduct, matters reserved 
for the Board and the succession plan.  The 
committee ensures adherence with the Code 
and ensures that the values and culture of the 
Society are reflected in its governance 
practices and policies.  
 
Following the external Board effectiveness 
review, the committee provided oversight of 
the resulting action plans and implementation 
process.  The new practices and procedures 
were reviewed, challenged and discussed at 
meetings before recommendations were 
presented to the Board.  Taking the key 
findings and improved processes into account, 
the committee and Company Secretary 
widened the approach to all layers within the 
governance structure. New processes for 
committee effectiveness assessments were 
developed.   
 
During 2022 the committee shaped and 
developed its approach to succession 
planning, strengthening its evaluation of Board 
dynamics and assessment of requirements 
against the strategic goals and objectives.  The 
committee implemented changes to the 
Board size and number of executive directors.  
During the year the committee analysed the 
NED tenure periods and retirements, then 
made recommendations to the Board for 
succession.  The committee assessed the 
required skills, knowledge, experience and 
diversity for the Board against the future 
direction and objectives of the Society.  The 
Society is undertaking significant change and 
transformation projects and the Board will 
ensure that the diverse skillset and experience 
required to steer the Society will reflect this. 
 
The Society used the services of an independent 
specialist firm to conduct the search for 
potential candidates.  It was important to the 
committee and the Society that the new 
directors would be sought from a diverse pool 
of candidates and that they had the required 
diversity of skills, knowledge and experiences.  
Following a thorough assessment process, 
candidate references and staged interview 
process, the committee made its final 
recommendations to the Board.  The Board 
approved the appointment of both John Lowe 
and Lynda Blackwell as NEDs, subject to 
regulatory approval and election at the March 
2023 AGM. 
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Equality, diversity and inclusion strategy and 
targets are overseen by the committee.  
Following Board approval of this strategy in 
2022, the committee monitored 
implementation of inclusion practices across the 
Society, and ensured that the principles and 
values were adopted across Society recruitment 
policies and practices. The committee will 
influence, support and challenge the furtherance 
of other areas of diversity to ensure a Society 
that is inclusive to all. 
 

The committee’s considerations include the 
following Board governance documentation and 
matters: 

 

• The Board Code of Conduct 
 

• Matters Reserved for the Board 
 

• Governance Manual 
 

• Governing practices for the Senior 
Managers and Certification Regime 
 

• Diversity and Inclusion Strategy and 
targets 
 

• ESG Policy and practices 
 

• Conflicts of Interest Policy and 
effectiveness of implementation of 
controls 
 

• Ensuring appropriate availability and 
commitment of time for directors 
 

• Assessing appropriateness of external 
appointments for directors 

 

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee comprised three 
non-executive directors and was chaired by 
Geneane Bell for part of the year, who then 
passed the Chair role to Barbara Taeed, in 
accordance with the Society’s succession plan. 
For attendance details, see the table on page 21. 
The committee is responsible for determining, 
on behalf of the Board, the policy and the level 
of remuneration of the executive directors, 
senior management and the wider staff, and for 
ensuring that remuneration aligns with the long-
term interests of the business and incentives 
towards excessive risk taking are eliminated. 
The committee meets at least three times a 
year. 
 
During the year the committee reviewed and 
approved the Remuneration Policy. The policy 
aims to align executive remuneration with the 
Society’s strategy and promote long-term 
sustainable success.  The committee considered 
the policy, remuneration practices and benefits 
package as a whole, and challenged the Society’s 
position given the difficult economic climate.  
Continuing the benchmarking work, the 
committee reviewed the positioning of salaries 
across the Society and considered how best to 
support those most in need. The Society further 
increased the salaries for specific job roles 
during the year and the committee expects to 
continue this work over the coming years. This 
will ensure that the Society is able to reward 
valued employees and attract and retain high 
calibre individuals. The Society has committed 
to carrying out an external benchmarking 
exercise every three years. 

The committee approved a cost-of-living 
allowance for all members of staff excluding 
executive directors and executive 
management, with a one-off payment made in 
August to help ease some of the impact of the 
increased costs.  Given the energy crisis, 
inflation rate rises and general cost-of-living 
increases, the committee approved a financial 
assistance fund to be made available to all staff.  
This fund was made available to staff, on 
application, to assist those that needed extra 
support during these difficult times. 
 
As part of the annual performance review, the 
committee agreed a bonus pool for all staff, 
including the executive directors, based on the 
performance of the Society against its 
objectives during the year. Bonuses will be 
distributed in March 2023 and allocated to 
staff according to each individual’s 
performance against agreed balanced 
scorecard objectives and behaviours. The 
amount of the bonus to be distributed is solely 
at the discretion of the Remuneration 
Committee. The committee’s view is that the 
scale of the bonus payment is unlikely to lead 
to any behavioural risks that can arise from 
target-based incentive plans.  
 
The Society’s remuneration processes are 
aligned to the Society’s long-term business 
strategy, objectives, and risk appetite, and are 
consistent with the interests of the Society’s 
members, encouraging the continuation of a 
good culture, appropriate behaviours and 
contributing to the long-term success of the 
Society. The Society must attract and retain 
high calibre individuals to fulfil member 
requirements, who must be fairly rewarded 
for directing, managing, and working within its 
branches and departments. 
 
An internal effectiveness review, conducted in 
July 2022, concluded that the Remuneration 
Committee operated effectively and that 
committee members had a sufficient balance 
of skills and experience. 
 
The committee’s considerations include the 
following remuneration documentation and 
matters: 
 
• Review and approve the Society 

Remuneration Policy 
 

• Ensure remuneration practices align 
with the Society strategy, brand and 
values 

 

• Receive updates on the Society people 
strategy 

 

• Receive and review Society 
benchmarking and pay gap analysis 

 

• Review annual pay rewards 
 

• Review variable rewards and 
distributions of the Society bonus 
scheme 

 

• Receive and review the Remuneration 
Code staff and Material Risk Takers 
report prepared by the Governance, 
Risk and Compliance function.  

 

Further details of the Society’s remuneration 
practices can be found in the separate 
Remuneration Committee’s report on page 
24.

Corporate Governance continued 
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Board and committee membership attendance record 
The number of scheduled Board and committee meetings attended by each director, as a member, during the year is shown below.  
The figures in brackets represent the number of meetings each director was eligible to attend. 

*Not a member of this committee.  
 
On behalf of the Board 
 
 
Colin Franklin 
Chair 
14 February 2023 

 

Board
Nominations 

and Governance Remuneration
Audit and 

Compliance Risk

Colin Franklin (Chair) 12(12) 5(5) 3(3) * *

Colin Fyfe (Chief Executive) 12(12) * * * *

Geneane Bell 12(12) * 3(3) * 6(6)

Barry Carter (Chief Operating Officer) (appointed 1 July 2022) 3(4) * * * *

Rebecca Griffin (Chief Risk Officer) (appointed 1 July 2022) 3(4) * * * *

John Mulvey (Chief Financial Officer) 12(12) * * * *

Barbara Taeed 12(12) * 3(3) * 6(6)

Dean Waddingham (Chief Customer Officer) (retired 31 May 2022) 6(7) * * * *

Gary Wilkinson 12(12) * * 6(6) 5(6)

David Woodward (Senior Independent Director) 12(12) 5(5) * 6(6) *

Nemone Wynn-Evans 12(12) 5(5) * 6(6) *
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This report supplements the 
information provided on the 
committee’s activities in the 
Corporate Governance report on 
page 14. The report provides further 
details of the committee’s terms of 
reference and its work undertaken 
during the year, particularly in 
relation to the external auditor, 
financial reporting, and the internal 
auditor. 

 

The committee’s terms of reference include 
the following responsibilities: 

 
• To make recommendations to the Board, 

for it to put to the members for their 
approval in a general meeting, in relation to 
the appointment of the external auditor; 
 

• To approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor; 
 

• To review and monitor the external 
auditor’s independence and objectivity and 
the effectiveness of the audit process; 
 

• To implement policy on the engagement of 
the external auditor to supply non-audit 
services; 
 

• To monitor the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Society and any formal 
announcements relating to the Society’s 
financial performance, reviewing significant 
financial reporting judgements contained in 
them; 
 

• To review the Society’s internal financial 
controls and internal control systems; 
 

• To monitor and review the effectiveness of 
the Society’s internal audit function and to 
appoint and remove internal auditors, as 
appropriate; 
 

• To monitor and review the effectiveness of 
the Society’s compliance monitoring 
function; and 
 

• To report to the Board on how it has 
discharged its responsibilities. 

 
The committee meets at least five time per 
year, with one meeting dedicated to the 
review and approval of the Annual Report & 
Accounts. The Society Chair, executive 
directors and representatives from external 
audit and internal audit and the Society’s 
compliance function attend by invitation. The 
committee meets with representatives of 
external audit and internal audit without 
management at least once per year. 
 
The committee undertakes a detailed annual 
self-assessment and evaluation process, which 
also evaluates specific aspects of the external 
audit and internal audit services received. The 
assessment is completed by the committee’s 
members, executive directors and 
representatives from external audit and 
internal audit. The assessment is used by the 
committee to inform its review of the 
effectiveness of the service provider and audit 
quality.

External auditor 
The committee is responsible for overseeing the 
Society’s relationship with the external auditor, 
including appointment and tendering, terms of 
engagement and remuneration, assessment of 
independence and the annual audit cycle. 
 
Subsequent to the Annual General Meeting in 
March 2022, the committee considered the 
Society’s external audit arrangements in 
response to increasing audit fees arising from 
new auditing standards and higher costs 
incurred by the audit firms. Several ‘Big 4’ and 
mid-tier audit firms were contacted and invited 
to tender for the external audit role. Following 
the tender process, the Board accepted the 
committee’s recommendation that Mazars LLP 
be appointed external auditor for the year 
ended 30 November 2022. The Society’s 
incumbent external auditor, KPMG LLP, who 
was first appointed for the financial year ended 
30 November 2017, resigned from this position. 
The committee approved the new auditor’s 
terms of engagement and remuneration. 
 
At the start of the annual audit cycle, the 
committee undertakes a review of the audit 
strategy put forward by the external auditor and 
receives a formal report on conclusion of the 
audit, including details of any significant control 
deficiencies identified. 
 
The committee is responsible for monitoring 
the performance, objectivity and independence 
of the external auditor, ensuring the policy on 
provision of non-audit services by the external 
auditor is strictly applied. During the year, the 
new external auditor, Mazars LLP, was not 
engaged to provide any non-audit services to 
the Society. 
 
As noted above, the committee uses a formal 
annual assessment that evaluates specific 
aspects of the external audit process. The 
formal report received from the eternal auditor 
on conclusion of the audit includes their 
confirmation of independence from the Society. 
 
Details of the fees paid to the external auditor 
for audit and non-audit services are set out in 
note 7 of the accounts. 

 

Audit and Compliance Committee’s report  
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Financial reporting 
The significant issues that the Audit and 
Compliance Committee considered in relation 
to the Annual Report and Accounts were: 

 
• the appropriateness of the accounting 

policies adopted in the preparation of the 
accounts; 
 

• the appropriateness of the adoption of the 
going concern basis in the preparation of 
the accounts; 
 

• the impairment provisioning methodology 
for loans and advances to customers. The 
committee reviewed the key assumptions 
and judgements contained within the 
Society’s impairment provision model, 
including probability of default and loss 
given default calculations for both 
individual and collective impairment 
assessments, the appropriateness of 
overlays applied to the model in respect of 
the impact of the economic downturn and 
increasing interest rates on the Society’s 
mortgage loans, and the related disclosures 
in the accounts. As part of the review, the 
committee considered the low level of 
impairment data available, the quality of the 
underlying mortgage loans and the overall 
level of the impairment provision; 
 

• the appropriateness of the estimates and 
accounting treatment of interest income. 
Interest income on mortgage loans and 
related fees received and paid are 
measured using the effective interest 
method. The committee reviewed the 
approach taken, including the estimation of 
the expected mortgage product lives and 
expected early redemption charge receipts 
based on actual customer behaviour and 
management judgement; 
 

• the appropriateness of the use of hedge 
accounting in respect of interest rate swaps 
used to hedge fixed rate mortgage and 
savings products against changes in interest 
rates; and 
 

• the appropriateness of the carrying value of 
the defined benefit pension scheme 
obligation and surplus, based on 
assumptions advice received from an 
independent actuary. 

 
The committee undertook a comprehensive 
review of the Annual Report and Accounts, with 
a focus on ensuring that appropriate weight is 
given to bad news as well as good, the 
description of the business model, the strategy, 
risks and performance is appropriate, the 
disclosed risks are genuinely the principal risks 
the Board are concerned about, and that 
important policies, judgements, transactions and 
significant changes from prior periods are 
highlighted. The committee concluded that 
there were no material adjustments required to 
the accounts. 

Internal auditor 
Deloitte LLP provides the Society’s 
outsourced internal audit function. 
 
The committee approves the proposed 
internal audit annual audit plan and reviews it 
at each meeting to ensure it remains focused 
on the significant risks to which the Society is 
exposed and also covers the key areas of the 
business over a five year cycle. 
 
At each committee meeting, internal audit 
reports completed in the period are reviewed 
and management’s responses and timescales 
for remedial work challenged. 
 
In accordance with the Chartered Institute of 
Internal Audit’s (CIIA) recommendations on 
“Effective Internal Audit in the Financial 
Services sector” the internal auditors present 
an annual report to the committee, setting out 
their conclusion on the effectiveness of the 
control environment and the independence 
and adequacy of resourcing of internal audit 
during the period covered by the annual audit 
plan. This report informs the committee’s 
review of the effectiveness of the internal audit 
process and audit quality. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
David Woodward 
Chair of the Committee 
 
14 February 2023 
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This report details the Society’s 
approach to remuneration for the 
period 1 December 2021 to 30 
November 2022. It sets out the 
Remuneration Policy and 
remuneration details for the 
executive and non-executive 
directors of the Society.  Further 
disclosure details under the 
Remuneration Code can be found in 
the Pillar 3 document on the Society 
website. 
 
Details of directors’ remuneration 
can be found in note 9 of the 
accounts and provides, for our 
members, details of the basic salary, 
variable pay and benefits earned by 
directors in the year to 30 November 
2022. Details of the Remuneration 
Policy applied to directors are set out 
below. 

 
Policy for non-executive 
directors 
Non-executive director fees are reviewed 
annually by the Chair of the Board and the Chief 
Executive. This review is based on comparable 
data from other building societies and similar 
financial service organisations, and performance 
reviews. No director or individual is involved in 
setting their own remuneration. Remuneration 
comprises a basic fee, with supplementary 
payments for committee Chairs. Non-executive 
director fees are not pensionable, and the 
individuals do not participate in any incentive 
schemes or receive any other benefits. The 
remuneration of the Chair of the Board is 
reviewed on an annual basis by the committee, 
without the Chair present, again using 
comparable external data. All non-executive 
directors have formal contracts of service. All 
new appointments are subject to a notice 
period of three months. 
 
Policy for executive directors  
The remuneration for executive directors 
reflects responsibilities and roles within the 
Society. The overall policy of the Board, as 
recommended by the committee, is set out 
below: 

 
• the remuneration of executive directors 

(consisting of basic salary, performance 
related bonus, pension arrangements and 
other benefits) should be competitive with 
those of other comparable organisations in 
the financial sector, in order to attract and 
retain high calibre individuals with the 
necessary skills and experience for the 
Society to succeed; 
 
 
 
 

• part of the remuneration should be based 
on the Society’s balanced scorecard 
performance in terms of financial, business 
and service performance compared to a 
range of objectives (including compliance 
with the Board’s risk appetite), so as to 
encourage and reward behaviours which 
are in the long-term interests of the 
Society’s members and other 
stakeholders; 
 

• performance reviews of the executive 
directors should be carried out at least 
annually, to assess their performance in 
meeting individual and strategic objectives; 

 
• the committee treats any departing 

executive directors fairly, and is careful to 
consider the interests of members and 
ensure that there are no rewards for 
failure; and 

 
• executive directors are entitled to be paid 

their basic salary and contractual benefits 
(including pension contributions) during 
their notice period. The Society has the 
discretion to pay these as a lump sum 
payment in lieu of notice.  

 
The Chief Executive is the Society’s highest 
paid employee, and no employee earns more 
than any executive director.  

 
Basic salary  
The Society’s reward strategy for executive 
directors aims to pay competitive, industry 
comparable salaries, and to recognise 
individual development and progression 
through the annual salary and performance 
management review processes. 

 
Performance related bonus 
The executive directors are eligible for a non-
pensionable performance bonus, the 
elements of which reflect the Society’s 
balanced scorecard measures for long-term 
sustainable success in the areas of customer 
and community, people, excellence, financial, 
risk and compliance, and behaviours. As a 
mutual, the Society has no share option 
scheme. 
 
Pension  
Executive directors were eligible to 
participate in the Society’s defined 
contribution pension plan, which is offered to 
all employees. The Society makes 
contributions to the scheme of 14.25% of 
pensionable salary, with the cost equivalent to 
4% of pensionable salary recovered through a 
salary sacrifice scheme.  

 
• Colin Fyfe, Chief Executive, opted to 

receive cash alternatives in lieu of pension 
contributions equivalent to 9% of basic 
salary. 
 
 
 
 

• John Mulvey, Chief Financial Officer, was 
an active member of the Society’s defined 
contribution pension scheme until January 
2022, and then opted to receive cash 
alternatives in lieu of pension 
contributions equivalent to 9% of basic 
salary.  
 

• Dean Waddingham, Chief Customer 
Officer until his retirement in May 2022, 
opted to receive cash alternatives in lieu 
of pension contributions equivalent to 9% 
of basic salary. 

 
The rate of pension contribution from the 
Society differs between the executive directors 
and the other employees, in that executive 
directors on appointment receive the level of 
contributions for an employee with 10 years’ 
service, which is not in line with the most recent 
corporate governance guidelines. The 
contributions paid are benchmarked against 
other organisations and the committee is 
satisfied that the total reward is set at a level 
which allows the Society to attract a high quality 
of employees at all levels. 
 
Other benefits 
Each executive director is provided with private 
medical insurance and income protection 
insurance. 

 
Service contracts 
The general policy for appointments at 
executive director level includes a contractual 
notice period of 12 months, with executive 
directors required to give a notice period of six 
months. The Chief Executive is required to give 
a notice period of 12 months. 
 
Member consultation 
The committee does not consult with members 
on its Remuneration Policy but takes into 
account any feedback given by members. 
Members are invited to vote on the annual 
Directors’ Remuneration report. 
 
On behalf of the Remuneration committee 

 
 
 
 
 

Barbara Taeed 
Chair of the Committee 
 
14 February 2023

Remuneration Committee’s report  
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Colin Franklin 
Chair 
Colin joined the Society in July 2015 as a non-executive member of the Board and was appointed Chair in 
March 2016. Having worked at building societies for 42 years, he has a wealth of expertise and experience 
in the sector. 
 
Colin lives in the Rugby area and his most recent role was as interim Chief Executive at Coventry Building 
Society, where he had been a Board member since 2008. 
 
During his 35-year career at the Coventry, Colin had many roles including sales and marketing director and 
managing director of its subsidiary lender, Godiva Mortgages. 

Colin Fyfe 
Chief Executive 
Colin joined the Society in November 2018 after leading the Darlington Building Society since 2014. 
 
Prior to that Colin worked for 29 years in banking with Clydesdale and Yorkshire Banks. He worked in 
commercial and corporate banking, risk management and marketing and held the position of Divisional 
Director in his last role. 
 
Colin supports a number of charitable and social organisations and has a strong interest in the building society 
sector. 

Geneane Bell 
Non-Executive Director 
Geneane joined Hinckley & Rugby as a non-executive director in July 2013 and chaired the Remuneration 
Committee from March 2018 to July 2022. She has lived in the Rugby area since 2001. 
 
Prior to joining Hinckley & Rugby her career with the Lloyds Banking Group spanned 38 years, the last 15 
of which specialised in risk management and compliance with regulation. 
 
Her last role was Head of Compliance and Conduct Risk for the Lloyds Retail Bank. Geneane has extensive 
experience of working with the UK’s Financial Services regulators, including the FCA (previously FSA) and 
FOS. 
 

Meet the Board of DIRECTORS 

Lynda Blackwell 
Non-Executive Director 
Lynda joins the Society as a non-executive director on 29 March 2023. 
 
After qualifying as a solicitor, Lynda began a career in the mortgage sector that has spanned more than 35 
years. She started in private practice advising retail banks, then moved into the building society sector, before 
spending 16 years at the financial services regulator, the FCA, in a variety of legal and policy-related roles.  
 
For the last five and a half years, Lynda has been a consultant and non-executive director for fintech businesses, 
using her extensive regulatory experience and knowledge of the financial services industry to support good 
innovation and best practice, staying closely involved in the continuing evolution of the market. 
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John Mulvey 
Chief Financial Officer 
John joined the Society in March 2020 as Chief Financial Officer. He has over 20 years of experience in the 
financial services sector, having previously worked for Melton Mowbray Building Society, where he was the 
Deputy Chief Executive and Finance Director for 10 years. He is a chartered accountant, having trained and 
qualified at KPMG, working within their financial services team auditing banks and building societies. 
 
His role at Hinckley & Rugby involves leading the finance and treasury functions, with responsibility for financial 
and regulatory reporting, and managing the Society’s liquidity, funding and capital positions. He chairs the 
Assets and Liabilities Committee. 

Barry Carter 
Chief Operating Officer 
Barry joined the Society in July 2022. He has 20 years of experience in private and retail banking and previously 
held a position as Chief Operating Officer at HSBC Private Bank. Barry is a Chartered Certified Accountant, 
Chartered Banker and is a Member of the Chartered Institute for Securities and Investments.   
 
His role within the Society involves the day to day operations within the business, leading the Lending, 
Operations, Information Security and Transformation teams.  

Rebecca Griffin 
Chief Risk Officer  
Rebecca joined the Society in 2013, having qualified and worked as a Chartered accountant with KPMG, Grant 
Thornton and NFU Mutual. During her time at Hinckley & Rugby Building Society, she has led the creation 
and embedding of the independent second line within the Society, becoming Chief Risk Officer in July 2020 
and joining the Board in July 2022.  She is responsible for risk management and compliance at the Society and 
chairs the Conduct & Operational Risk Committee. 
 
She was part of the first cohort of the BSA/Loughborough University Masters in Leadership and Management 
and, since qualifying, now sits on the Advisory Panel for the course. Rebecca is also a Trustee/Treasurer for 
a local charity, Hinckley Ladies Circle, and has lived in Hinckley for 10 years. 

John Lowe 
Non-Executive Director 
John joined the Society in December 2022 as a non-executive director. He is a member of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee and the Risk Committee.  
 
Along with 25 years’ experience of working in financial services, John also brings a wealth of experience as a 
Board director. After qualifying as a Chartered Accountant with Deloitte, John worked for retail banks, 
specialist lenders and within the building society sector. He spent 10 years at Coventry Building Society in 
roles including Head of Credit Risk, Head of Product Development and seven years as the Group Finance 
Director.  
 
He is currently a non-executive director at Redwood Bank and at Primis, the mortgage and protection 
insurance intermediary network. 
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Barbara Taeed 
Non-Executive Director 
Barbara joined the Society as a non-executive director at the Annual General Meeting in March 2017 and is 
currently Chair of the Remuneration Committee. 
 
She is a qualified Risk Manager and in addition to her role at HRBS leads an academic Think Tank which 
specialises in the measurement and transaction of non-financial values and the use of new technology to 
enhance this, including artificial intelligence, web3 and digital currencies. 
 
Prior to joining HRBS, Barbara worked at the heart of the UK’s banking infrastructure at the not-for-profit 
UK Payments as Director of Payments Integrity and Security. 

Gary Wilkinson 
Non-Executive Director  
Gary joined the Society as a non-executive director in December 2014 and is currently Chair of the Risk 
Committee. He is a qualified chartered accountant and has extensive experience within financial services, in 
both the building society and banking sectors. 
 
He was a divisional director at both Alliance & Leicester plc and Nationwide Building Society, where as 
Managing Director of Regional Brands he had responsibility and accountability for the newly merged 
Derbyshire, Cheshire and subsequently Dunfermline building societies. 
 
He then became an executive board director at Newcastle Building Society, in the capacity of Finance 
Director, before joining the Leicester based Pensions Bank as Chief Executive Officer. The undertaking and 
assets of Pensions Bank were transferred to Cambridge & Counties Bank, a newly formed challenger bank 
also headquartered in Leicester, where Gary also served as Chief Executive Officer until October 2014. 
 
Since April 2017 he has been the Chief Executive Officer, and is the Co-Founder,  of Redwood Bank Limited, 
a newly formed specialist bank focused on small and medium-sized enterprises in the UK. 

David Woodward  
Senior Independent Director  
David joined the Hinckley & Rugby as a non-executive director in 2015 and is currently Vice Chair, Senior 
Independent Director and Chair of the Audit & Compliance Committee. He is a qualified Chartered 
Management Accountant. 
 
He has held a number of senior financial positions with organisations based in the East Midlands, including 
Express Dairies plc. More recently he was Finance Director of train operator Midland Mainline and coach 
operator National Express. He has previously held a non-executive directorship with Lincolnshire Community 
Health Services NHS Trust where he chaired the Audit Committee and has recently completed a short, 
interim term as a Non-Executive Director with United Lincolnshire Hospital Trust as Chair of the Finance, 
Performance and Estates Committee. 
 
Currently he is a non-executive director of National Savings and Investments, where he chairs the Audit and 
Risk Committee, and a Trustee with the Consumers’ Association trading as Which?, where he chairs the 
Strategic Finance Committee and is a member of the Group Audit and Risk Committee. He is also an 
Independent Committee Member for Trent College’s Finance and Estates Committee. 

Nemone Wynn-Evans 
Non-Executive Director 
Nemone joined the Society as a non-executive director at the Annual General Meeting in March 2017 and 
she currently chairs the Nominations & Governance Committee. 
 
Her background is in the equity capital markets sector of the City of London, including as a former Finance 
Director on the main board of a stock exchange, having begun her career in corporate finance and broking. 
She also holds other non-executive positions as Chair of a mutual friendly society in the savings & insurance 
sector, at a renewable energy company (where she chairs the Audit & Risk Committee), at a Venture Capital 
Trust investing in small, growing companies, and at a private investment office based in the Midlands. 
 
Nemone lives in Warwickshire, is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Securities and Investment and holds 
an MBA from Cranfield School of Management. 
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The directors are pleased to present 
their Annual Report and Accounts for 
the year ended 30 November 2022. 

 
Business objectives 
The principal purpose of the Society is that of 
making loans which are secured on residential 
property and are funded substantially by its 
members. The primary business objectives are 
to continue to promote savings and home 
ownership through competitive rates of interest 
and high quality service. 

 
Business review 
A full review of business performance, including 
key performance indicators, can be found within 
the Chief Executive’s report on page 5 and the 
Chief Financial Officer’s report on page 8. The 
Chief Financial Officer’s report includes details 
of gross capital, free capital and mortgage 
arrears levels.  
 
Financial risk management 
objectives and policies 
The Board has implemented a risk management 
framework to mitigate the financial and 
operational risks to which it is exposed.  
 
 

The framework comprises a risk focused 
governance structure, risk appetite 
statements, risk management policies, and 
procedures for the identification, 
measurement and reporting of risks within 
defined risk limits. 
 
The Board has established sub-committees to 
assist in the implementation and monitoring of 
the risk management framework, including the 
Audit and Compliance Committee, Risk 
Committee, Nominations and Governance 
Committee and Remuneration Committee. In 
addition, the Society operates executive 
committees with risk management 
responsibilities, including the Executive 
Committee, which reports directly to the 
Board, and the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee (ALCO), Conduct and 
Operational Risk Committee (CORC) and 
Credit Committee, which report to the Risk 
Committee. Details of each Board committee 
are set out in the Corporate Governance 
report and the responsibilities of the 
executive committees are noted below within 
the Principal Risks and Uncertainties section. 
 

Principal risks and uncertainties 
The Society seeks to understand and manage 
the various risks that arise from its operations. 
The current economic conditions are 
impacting individuals and businesses, including 
the Society, and have increased the Society’s 
risk profile.  
 
The economic downturn, together with high 
inflation and increasing interest rates, result in 
increased credit, operational and financial 
risks, and these are being closely monitored 
and managed by the Board. The most material 
impact on the Society relates to credit risk and 
details of this are disclosed in the Chief 
Financial Officer’s report on pages 8 to 11 and 
in note 28 (c)(ii) of the accounts. 
 
The principal risks facing the Society and the 
procedures put in place to manage them are 
described below.

Principal Risk Mitigants  
Retail credit risk 
This is the risk of loss arising from 
borrowing members failing to meet 
the contractual obligations of their 
loan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Retail credit risk is controlled by a Board approved risk appetite statement and a Lending Policy that is regularly reviewed 
by the Credit Committee and Risk Committee, with changes approved by the Board. The policy is translated into lending 
criteria and procedures, which seek to ensure that members only assume a debt that they can afford to repay, thereby 
safeguarding both themselves and the Society. 
 
All mortgages are manually underwritten in accordance with the Lending Policy and lending criteria to assess the credit 
quality of the customer, their ongoing ability to afford their mortgage repayments and the value of the Society’s security. 
 
Should members find themselves in financial difficulty, the Society has established procedures to support our members 
and provide them with a personalised plan designed to help get their mortgage back on track. 
 
Possession is always a last resort and will only be pursued if agreement with a borrower to return them to an affordable 
and sustainable position or an alternative mortgage exit strategy, such as voluntary sale, cannot be reached. 
 
Whether the Society incurs a loss from possession is dependent on the value realised from the security property. The 
Society monitors the impact of house price movements by carrying out stress testing of its mortgage book to take 
account of actual and projected movements in house price indices on the expected value of any properties taken into 
possession. 

 
Further details of the Society’s approach to retail credit risk are given in note 28 (c)(ii) of the accounts. Details of the 
Society’s members who are one month or more in arrears are given in the Chief Financial Officer’s report on pages 8 
to 11. A breakdown of the Society’s impairment provision against loans and advances to customers is reported in note 
16 of the accounts. 
 

Treasury counterparty 
credit risk 
This is the risk of loss arising from a 
treasury counterparty being unable 
to meet their financial obligations 
to the Society.  
 
 

 
 

A Board approved risk appetite statement and the Financial Risk Management Policy set out the types of financial 
instrument the Society can hold and the counterparties the Society can invest with, along with applicable asset class, 
sector, and counterparty limits. The policy is regularly reviewed by ALCO and Risk Committee, with changes approved 
by the Board. 
 
Treasury counterparty exposures and related limits are monitored by ALCO each month. The Society’s liquid assets 
are held on deposit with the Bank of England and UK banks and building societies, reducing the level of counterparty 
risk to which the Society is exposed. 
 
The Society has no provisions for impairment against any treasury counterparties. Further details of the Society’s 
approach to treasury counterparty risk are given in note 28 (c)(i) of the accounts. 
 
 
 

Directors’ report 
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Principal Risk Mitigants  
Strategic risk 
This is the risk of loss and the 
impact on capital arising from the 
Society’s agreed strategy or failure 
to achieve planned objectives. It 
can be caused by competitive 
pressures, deteriorations in the 
economy, or changes to legislation. 
The risk has the potential to impact 
the underlying profitability and 
capital adequacy of the Society 
required to keep the business 
viable. 
 

The Board mitigates this risk by preparing a business plan that it believes to be robust and achievable, and by stress 
testing this plan to assess the impact of various adverse market conditions. In all stressed conditions, the Society aims 
to ensure that its capital and funding positions remain strong and that its performance falls within the boundaries specified 
within its stated risk appetite. 

 
Management of this risk is a key part of the Society’s ongoing strategy to ensure that it operates in sectors of the market 
where it has the expertise and the customer franchise to be able to price its products appropriately. Pricing decisions 
on all mortgage and savings products are individually assessed to ensure they are consistent with the Society’s overall 
profitability objectives, promoting the sustainability of the Society for the benefit of its members. 

Liquidity risk and Funding 
risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the 
Society does not have sufficient 
financial resources to meet its 
liabilities as they fall due or can 
secure them only at an excessive 
cost. 
 
Funding risk is the risk that the 
Society is unable to obtain stable 
funding to achieve its business 
objectives or can secure them only 
at an excessive cost. 

A Board approved risk appetite statement and the Financial Risk Management Policy set out liquidity risk limits, and 
these are regularly reviewed by ALCO and the Risk Committee, with changes approved by the Board. The policy sets 
out the permissible financial instruments in which the Society can invest, and the minimum liquidity requirements as 
determined by the Society’s Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP). The policy aims to maintain liquid 
assets at all times that are adequate, both as to quantity and quality, to ensure that there is no significant risk that its 
liabilities cannot be met as they fall due both in normal and stressed scenarios, to smooth out the effect of maturity 
mismatches between assets and liabilities, and to maintain the highest level of public confidence in the Society. 
 
The risk is managed principally by the holding of cash, demand deposits and other easily realisable assets. The Society 
holds funds on deposit with the Bank of England and large UK clearing banks that are realisable at very short notice. 
These holdings are monitored daily. 
 
The Society forecasts its cash flows under normal conditions, taking account of expected inflows and outflows of funds 
from mortgage advances and repayments, and retail and wholesale funding sources. The Society also undertakes regular 
stress testing that models cash outflows under stressed conditions. The results of the forecasts and stress tests are 
monitored by ALCO each month. Details of how the Society manages liquidity risk are given in note 28 (d) of the 
accounts. 
 
The Financial Risk Management Policy risk limits are set so as to maintain a prudent funding mix, maturity profile, and 
encumbrance level. The Society’s funding profile and position against limits are monitored by ALCO each month. 
 

Interest rate risk 
This is the risk of reductions in net 
interest margin arising from 
unfavourable movements in 
interest rates due to:  
 
• Mismatches between the 

dates on which interest 
receivable on assets and 
interest payable on liabilities 
are reset to market rates (re-
pricing risk); and  

 
• The re-pricing of assets and 

liabilities according to different 
interest bases (basis risk). 

 

The Society’s policy is to manage its exposure to interest rate risk within approved limits set by the Board within the 
Financial Risk Management Policy. 
 
Interest rate re-pricing risk and basis risk are mitigated through a combination of matching assets and liabilities with 
offsetting interest rate characteristics and using derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps. 
 
ALCO monitors interest rate risk positions each month. Further details of how the Society manages interest rate risk, 
including risk management objectives and policies, the Society’s use of derivatives for hedging purposes and  
interest rate sensitivity analysis, are given in note 28 (e) of the accounts. 

Conduct risk 
This is the risk of detrimental 
outcomes to customers arising 
throughout the lifecycle of the 
Society’s products due to 
inadequate processes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

A Board approved risk appetite statement and Conduct Risk Policy document the Society’s commitment and approach 
to ensuring that customers are treated fairly and that regulatory requirements and best practice guidance from the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) are met. This includes building the needs of vulnerable customers into processes 
and the Society’s culture. 
 
Management information measuring conduct risk is reviewed monthly by CORC, which reports to the Risk Committee, 
ensuring visibility of any customer detriment and that adequate controls are implemented. 
 
The Society is implementing the FCA’s Consumer Duty regulation during 2023 and 2024. This provides the opportunity 
to further enhance our members’ experience of the Society’s services.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Directors’ report continued 
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Principal Risk Mitigants  
Operational risk and 
Operational resilience 
This is the risk of loss arising from 
inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems, 
or external events. It includes 
risks arising from cyber, change 
management, data loss, use of 
models, third parties, products, 
laws and regulations and financial 
crime. 
 
Operational resilience is the 
Society’s ability to maintain 
important business services in 
the event of adverse internal or 
external events. 

These risks are managed within a Board approved risk appetite statement as an integral part of the Society’s operations. 
The Society’s management has responsibility for assessing operational risks within each business area and implementing 
appropriate policies, procedures and mitigating controls. The effectiveness of the controls is considered by CORC, with 
oversight by the Risk Committee. 
 
The Society recognises the increased threat of cyber-attacks being faced across the financial sector in general and 
continues to ensure that it has an appropriate capability to detect and respond to cyber security issues effectively, 
safeguarding the organisation and members’ data and savings. 
 
A Change Management Policy, approved by the Audit & Compliance Committee, is in place to reduce the risks arising 
from change across the Society. The Executive Committee provides oversight over the change agenda and ensures that 
approved projects contribute to the agreed business objectives, sufficient resources are available to complete each 
project, project risks are raised and appropriately addressed, and post-implementation reviews are undertaken so that 
the Society benefits from any lessons learned. 
 
A Third-Party and Outsourcing policy, approved by the Risk Committee, sets out the framework through which third 
parties are managed. The policy requires evaluations for all new suppliers against set criteria and regular on-going 
assessments to ensure standards are adhered to. Regular management information is monitored on the performance of 
key suppliers. 
 
Compliance with laws and regulations is monitored by CORC, with oversight from the Audit and Compliance 
Committee. Policy statements are in place and reviewed annually for key regulations, including data protection and 
health and safety.  
 
An Anti-Money Laundering Policy, approved by the Board, along with procedures and monitoring systems, provide the 
Society’s framework for mitigating financial crime. Staff training is undertaken to prevent, deter and detect financial crime, 
and promote a culture that supports its prevention and detection. The Society’s Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO) is responsible for promoting adherence to the policies and procedures, and ensuring all staff understand and 
comply with the applicable regulations and their individual responsibilities. 
 
To ensure the Society is operationally resilient, business impact assessments have been undertaken to identify and map 
important business services and set specific impact tolerances that are consistent with the Board’s risk appetite for 
operational risk. Management ensures that adequate procedures, resources and contingency plans are in place to adhere 
to the set impact tolerances, and these are assessed using different scenario tests. 

 
Management information relating to operational risk and resilience, the occurrence of risk events and near misses, as 
well as actions taken in response to such events, is monitored by CORC each month, with a summary provided to the 
Board.  
 

Climate change risk 
This is the risk of loss arising from 
the impact of climate change on 
the Society’s assets, and the risk 
to the environment directly from 
the Society’s own emissions. 

 

Climate change presents a combination of risks to the Society that require management and mitigation. The Society has 
identified potential exposures to both physical risks and transition risks in respect of climate change. 
 
Physical risks relate to the potential impacts of the increased frequency of weather events, such as floods, storms and 
wildfires, and longer-term changes in the climate, such as rising sea levels. The physical risks that are particularly relevant 
to the Society have been identified as: 

 

• Increased severity and frequency of flooding; and 
 

• Rising sea levels impacting coastal communities. 
 

Both these risks have the potential to cause reductions in property collateral values and increased insurance premiums, 
impacting borrower affordability, for borrowers in areas prone to flooding. 
 
Transition risks reflect the potential impact from the process of moving to a carbon neutral economy and include 
changes in government policy, technological advances, and consumer behaviour. The transition risks that are particularly 
relevant to the Society have been identified as: 

 

• Changes required to property collateral, particularly relating to those that do not meet high energy efficiency 
standards that may require substantial investment to meeting future standards.  

 

• Borrowers employed in non-climate friendly occupations or industries may experience a reduction in income as 
the economy adjusts to a carbon neutral future. 

 
The transition risks identified have the potential to cause reductions in property collateral values and reductions in 
borrower affordability. 

 
The Society has prepared a climate change strategy to respond to the financial risks arising from climate change and this 
has been approved by the Board, with responsibility for climate change risk allocated to the Chief Executive. 
Assessments undertaken of property collateral with a potential high risk of flooding or low energy efficiency indicate 
minimal risk exposure at present. Further assessments of other risks and enhancements to data held are being 
undertaken to improve the Society’s risk assessment. 

 
The Society continued to track its own scope 1 and 2 emissions during the year, relating to those arising from owned 
vehicles and electricity and gas usage. These are used to track the Society’s own carbon footprint and to monitor the 
impact of actions taken to reduce emissions. 
 
The Society continues to monitor the regulatory landscape in relation to climate change to assess the impacts of any 
changes. 



 

Hinckley & Rugby Building Society Annual Report and Accounts 2022 

31 Governance  

Creditor payment policy 
For all trade creditors it is the Society’s policy 
to agree the terms of payment at the start of 
trading with that supplier and to pay in 
accordance with its contractual and other 
legal obligations. 
 
The creditor days were 6 days at 30 
November 2022 (2021: 3 days). 
 
Donations and sponsorship 
During the year the Society provided £48,655 
of charitable donations and sponsorship 
(2021: £146,394), mainly to local 
organisations. There were no donations for 
political purposes. 

 
Directors 
The following members served as directors of 
the Society during the year: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Geneane Bell and David Woodward have 
given notice of their intention to retire as 
directors with effect from 28 March 2023. All 
other directors will retire, and being eligible, 
will offer themselves for election or re-
election in accordance with the rules, at the 
Annual General Meeting in March 2023. 
 
John Lowe was appointed as a non-executive 
director of the Society on 1 December 2022. 
Lynda Blackwell has been appointed as a non-
executive director of the Society with effect 
from 29 March 2023. John and Lynda will offer 
themselves for election at the Annual General 
Meeting in March 2023.  
 
Going concern 
The directors have prepared forecasts for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date 
of approval of the accounts, of the Society’s 
profitability, capital, funding and liquidity 
positions, that take account of the Society’s 
current position and principal risks as set out 
in this Directors’ report. 
 

Forecasts have also been prepared to assess 
the impact on the Society’s business and its 
profitability, capital, funding and liquidity 
positions of operating under plausible 
downside stressed conditions. The stressed 
conditions include a prolonged severe 
economic downturn, involving a slowdown in 
the housing market, reducing mortgage 
market volumes and reducing house prices, 
movements in interest rates, and a rise in 
unemployment increasing arrears and 
possession levels. The detailed assumptions 
adopted in this scenario combine those used 
by the Bank of England, to test the capital 
adequacy of firms within the UK banking 
system, with additional firm-specific and 
market-wide stresses impacting the Society’s 
income and expenditure. 
 
Based on these forecasts the directors are 
satisfied that the Society has adequate 
resources to continue in business for a period 
of at least twelve months from the date of 
approval of the accounts. Accordingly, the 
accounts continue to be prepared on a going 
concern basis. 
 
Independent auditor 
The independent auditor, Mazars LLP, has 
expressed a willingness to continue in office 
and a motion for their reappointment will be 
proposed at the Annual General Meeting. 
 
The directors who held office at the date of 
approval of this Directors’ report confirm 
that, so far as they are each aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the 
Society’s auditor is unaware; and each 
director has taken all the steps that they ought 
to have taken as a director to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Society’s 
auditor is aware of that information. 
 
On behalf of the Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Colin Franklin 
Chair 
 
14 February 2023  

Colin Franklin Chair

Colin Fyfe Chief Executive

Geneane Bell

Barry Carter 
Chief Operating Officer 
(appointed 1 July 2022)

Rebecca Griffin
Chief Risk Officer
(appointed 1 July 2022)

John Mulvey Chief Financial Officer

Barbara Taeed

Dean Waddingham 
Chief Customer Officer 
(retired 31 May 2022)

Gary Wilkinson

David Woodward Senior Independent Director

Nemone Wynn-Evans
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Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities in respect of the 
Annual Report, the Strategic 
report, the Directors’ report and 
the annual accounts. 

 
The directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report, the Annual Business Statement, 
the Directors’ report and the annual accounts, 
in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. 
 
The Building Societies Act 1986 (“the Act”) 
requires the directors to prepare annual 
accounts for each financial year. Under that law 
they have elected to prepare the annual 
accounts in accordance with UK accounting 
standards and applicable law, including FRS 102, 
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland. 
 
Under relevant law the directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Society and of its profit or 
loss for that period. In preparing the annual 
accounts, the directors are required to: 
 
• select suitable accounting policies and then 

apply them consistently; 
 
• make judgements and estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent; 
 
• state whether applicable UK accounting 

standards have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the annual accounts; 

 
• assess the Society’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and 

 
• use the going concern basis of accounting 

unless they either intend to liquidate the 
Society or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that are 
sufficient to show and explain the Society’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the Society and enable them to ensure that its 
annual accounts comply with the Act. They 
are responsible for such internal control as 
they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of annual accounts that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and have general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably open 
to them to safeguard the assets of the Society 
and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities. 
 
Under applicable law and regulations, the 
directors are also responsible for preparing a 
Strategic report and a Directors’ report that 
complies with that law and those regulations. 
 
The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on the 
Society’s website. Legislation in the UK 
governing the preparation and dissemination 
of annual accounts may differ from legislation 
in other jurisdictions. 

 
On behalf of the Board 

 
 
 
 
 

Colin Franklin 
Chair 
 
14 February 2023

Responsibilities of the Directors 
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Opinion 
We have audited the annual accounts of Hinckley and Rugby Building Society (the ‘Society’) for the year ended 30 November 2022 which comprise 
the Income Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Members’ 
Interests and the Cash Flow Statement and notes to the annual accounts, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
In our opinion, the annual accounts: 
 
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Society’s affairs as at 30 November 2022 and of the Society’s income and expenditure for the 

year then ended; 
 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 
 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986. 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts” section of our report. We are 
independent of the Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the annual accounts in the UK, including 
the Financial Reporting Council’s (“FRC”) Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the annual accounts, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the annual 
accounts is appropriate.  
 
Our audit procedures to evaluate the directors’ assessment of the Society’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
included but were not limited to: 
 
• Undertaking an initial assessment at the planning stage of the audit to identify events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Society’s ability to continue as a going concern; 
 

• Making enquiries of the directors to understand the period of assessment considered by them, the assumptions they considered and the 
implication of those when assessing the Society’s future financial performance; 

 

• Challenging the appropriateness of the directors’ key assumptions in their cash flow forecasts by reviewing supporting and contradictory 
evidence in relation to these key assumptions and assessing the directors’ consideration of severe but plausible scenarios. This included 
reviewing the Society’s 5-year corporate plan, latest ICAAP and ILAAP and its reverse stress testing; 

 

• Testing the accuracy and functionality of the model used to prepare the directors’ forecasts; 
 

• Assessing the historical accuracy of forecasts prepared by the directors; 
 

• Assessing and challenging key assumptions and mitigating actions put in place in response to the current economic situation, including but 
not limited to, the ‘cost of living crisis’, inflation levels and interest rates; 

 

• Considering the consistency of the directors’ forecasts with other areas of the annual accounts and our audit; and 
 

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the directors’ disclosures in the annual accounts on going concern. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or 
collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the 
annual accounts are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. 
 

Independent 
Auditor’s report 
To the members of Hinckley and Rugby Building Society 
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the annual accounts of the current 
period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which 
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. 
 
We summarise below the key audit matters in forming our audit opinion above, together with an overview of the principal audit procedures 
performed to address each matter and our key observations arising from those procedures.  
 
These matters, together with our findings, were communicated to those charged with governance through our Audit Completion Report. 
 

Key Audit Matter How our scope addressed this matter 
Credit risk - Impairment of loans and advances to customers  
£400,000 (2021: £553,000) 
 
Refer to note 1 (principal accounting policies), note 2 (critical 
accounting estimates and judgements) and note 16 of the annual 
accounts.  
 
Credit risk is an inherently judgemental area due to the use of 
subjective assumptions and a high degree of estimation in arriving at the 
year-end provisions. The total impairment provision of the Society 
consists of individual provisions on loans with default indicators and a 
collective provision on the performing portfolio. 
 
Management judgement is applied in assumptions within the loss given 
default (LGD) estimate due to the Society having limited actual loss 
experience. Judgement is also applied when estimating the Probability 
of Default (PD). 
 
The impairment assessment is most sensitive to property collateral 
value adjustments within the estimation of the LGD. The significant 
assumptions relate to forced sale discounts (FSD) and estimate of 
future house price movement.  
 
The model is also sensitive to the PD assumptions.  In particular, 
adjustments made to historical default rates to reflect current 
economic conditions. 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited to: 
 
• Assessing the design and implementation, and testing the 

operating effectiveness, of the key controls in relation to credit 
processes (loan origination and approval, loan redemptions 
and arrears monitoring); 

 

• Assessing the reasonableness and relevance of external data 
used in the provisioning model based on our understanding of 
the Society’s portfolio; 

 

• Comparing the Society’s key assumptions with similar lenders 
and considering whether they are consistent with industry 
practice; 

 

• Challenging the reasonableness of the future house price 
movement overlay applied in determining the present value of 
the future cash flows from defaulted loans; 

 

• Developing an auditor’s range estimate of the collective 
provision using reasonable alternative assumptions relevant to 
the Society’s portfolio; and 

 

• Assessing the adequacy of the Society’s disclosures in relation 
to the degree of estimation uncertainty involved in arriving at 
the provision for impairment losses on loans and advances to 
customers. 

 
Our observations 
Based on the audit procedures performed, we found the resulting 
estimate of the loan impairment provision to be reasonable and in 
compliance with IAS 39. 
 

Valuation of the defined benefit pension scheme obligation 
£20,522,000 (2021: £30,209,000) 
 
Refer to note 1 (principal accounting policies), note 2 (critical 
accounting estimates and judgements) and note 30 of the annual 
accounts. 
 
The Society operates a retirement benefit scheme which closed to new 
members and future accruals in 2010. Actuarial assumptions used in 
the determination of the defined benefit obligation are inherently 
subjective and require expertise and judgement in their estimation.   
 
There is a significant degree of estimation uncertainty in respect of 
certain of these assumptions and small changes in the assumptions used 
to value the defined benefit obligation (before deducting the value of 
the scheme assets) could have a significant effect on the Society’s net 
pension surplus. 
 
The most significant assumptions used in the valuation are: 
• Discount rate; 
 

• Inflationary increases (RPI / CPI); and  
 

• Life expectancy. 
 
The range of reasonable outcomes could be wider than materiality. 
 
 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited to: 
 
• Assessing the design and implementation, and testing the 

operating effectiveness, of the key controls over the review 
and approval of assumptions used in valuing the pension 
scheme obligations; 

 

• Assessing the accuracy of data used by management’s expert 
to calculate the defined benefit obligations; 

 

• Evaluating the competence, independence and objectivity of 
the Society’s actuary (management expert); and 

 

• Assessing and challenging, using our own actuarial specialists, 
the methodology used by management’s expert and the 
reasonableness of the key assumptions applied, being discount 
rate, inflation rate and life expectancy. 

 
Our observations 
Based on the audit procedures performed, we found the valuation of 
the defined pension scheme obligation to be reasonable. 
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Revenue recognition – effective interest rate 
£713,000 (2021: £242,000) 
 
Refer to note 1 (principal accounting policies), note 2 (critical 
accounting estimates and judgements) and note 15 of the annual 
accounts.  
 
Interest income substantially arises from contractual interest and is 
recognised using the effective interest rate (EIR). Under the EIR 
method, interest earned and fee income and expenses are spread over 
the expected lives of the loans. 
 
In applying the EIR method, management is required to apply 
judgement to assess and identify the relevant fees and costs, and the 
timings of cash flows that should be included in the EIR calculation.  
 
The most significant area where we identify greater levels of judgement 
is the expected lives and redemption profile of the loans. The Society’s 
assessment is informed by historical experience and management’s 
retention strategy. 
 
There is also judgement applied when estimating the level of early 
redemption charges (ERCs) to include within the EIR. 
 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited to: 
 
• Assessing the design and implementation of the key control 

related to the review and approval of the assumptions used in 
the calculation and the process ensuring complete and 
accurate data is captured in the EIR calculation; 

 

• Assessing the reasonableness of the Society’s expected life 
assumptions against actual customer behaviour; 

 

• Challenging the basis of management’s judgments in respect of 
the cash flows included in the calculation; 

 

• Testing the accuracy of the fees and costs included in the 
calculation; 

 

• Re-performing the EIR calculation and comparing with 
management’s results; and 

 

• Testing the accuracy and method by which ERCs are modelled 
in the EIR calculations. 

 
Our observations 
Based on work performed, we found the resulting estimate of the EIR 
method of recognising interest income to be acceptable. 
 

 
Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual 
annual account line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the annual accounts as a whole. 
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the annual accounts as a whole as follows: 
 

Overall materiality £462,000 
 

How we determined it 1% of net assets 
 

Rationale for benchmark applied We consider that net assets is the most appropriate benchmark to use 
for the Society, whose strategy is to provide mortgages, savings 
products and other financial services for the mutual benefit of members 
and customers and not one of profit maximisation. 
 
Further, net assets as a benchmark is supported by the fact that 
regulatory capital is a key benchmark for management and regulators, 
where net assets is an approximation of regulatory capital resources. 
 

Performance materiality Performance materiality is set to reduce to an appropriately low level 
the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements in the annual accounts exceeds materiality for the annual 
accounts as a whole. 
 
Performance materiality of £231,000 was applied in the audit based on 
50% of overall materiality. A low percentage in our range has been used 
to reflect that this is our first year as statutory auditors. 
 

Reporting threshold We agreed with the directors that we would report to them 
misstatements identified during our audit above £13,800 as well as 
misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted 
reporting for qualitative reasons. 
 

 
As part of designing our audit, we assessed the risk of material misstatement in the annual accounts, whether due to fraud or error, and then 
designed and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements 
such as making assumptions on significant accounting estimates. 
 
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the annual accounts as a whole. 
We used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the Society, its environment, controls and critical business processes, to consider 
qualitative factors in order to ensure that we obtained sufficient coverage across all annual accounts line items. 
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Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report and accounts, other than the annual accounts and our auditor’s 
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the annual accounts or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the annual accounts or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinions on the Annual Business Statement and the Directors’ Report 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 
• the Annual Business Statement and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986; 
 

• the information in the Directors’ Report for the financial year is consistent with the accounting records and the annual accounts; and 
 

• the information given in the Annual Business Statement (other than the information on which we are not required to report) gives a true 
representation of the matters in respect of which it is given. 

 
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Society and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any 
material misstatements in the Directors’ Report. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Building Societies Act 1986 requires us to report to you if, in 
our opinion: 
 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Society; or 
 

• the Society’s annual accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 
 

• we have not received all the information and explanations and access to documents we require for our audit. 
 
Responsibilities of Directors 
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 32, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
annual accounts and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the annual accounts, the directors are responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Society 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts. 
 
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, 
outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. 
 
Based on our understanding of the Society and its industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related 
to regulatory and supervisory requirements of the Prudential Regulatory Authority (‘PRA’) and the Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) and anti-
money laundering regulations, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance with these laws and regulations might have a material effect 
on the annual accounts. 
 
To help us identify instances of non-compliance with these laws and regulations, and in identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement 
in respect to non-compliance with laws and regulations, our procedures included but were not limited to: 
 
• Gaining an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Society, the industry in which it operates, and considering 

the risk of acts by the Society which were contrary to the applicable laws and regulations including fraud; 
 

• Inquiring of the directors, management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, as to whether the Society is in compliance 
with laws and regulations, and discussing their policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations; 

 

• Inspecting correspondence with relevant licensing or regulatory authorities, including the PRA and FCA; 
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• Reviewing minutes of directors’ meetings in the year;  
 

• Discussing amongst the engagement team the identified laws and regulations, and remaining alert to any indications of non-compliance; 
and 

 

• Focusing on areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the annual accounts from our 
general commercial and sector experience and through discussions with the directors and review of minutes of the Board of Directors 
and Audit and Compliance Committee during the period. 

 
We also considered those other laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the preparation of annual accounts, such as the Building Societies 
Act 1986 and UK tax legislation. 
 
In addition, we evaluated the directors’ and management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the annual accounts, including 
the risk of management override of controls, and determined that the principal risks related to posting manual journal entries to manipulate financial 
performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, and significant one-off or unusual 
transactions.  
 
Our procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to: 
 
• Making enquiries of the directors and management on whether they had knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; 
 

• Gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud; 
 

• Discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud;  
 

• Addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry testing; and  
 

• Being skeptical to the potential of management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, in particular 
in relation to impairment of loans and advances to customers, valuation of the defined benefit pension scheme obligation and revenue 
recognition-effective interest rate, and performing the procedures described in the “Key audit matters” section of our report. 

 
The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with both those charged with governance and 
management. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal controls. 
 
The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including fraud, are discussed under “Key audit matters” within this 
report.  
 
A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Other matters which we are required to address 
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors on 30 November 2022 to audit the annual accounts 
for the year ended 30 November 2022 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is one year, covering the 
year ended 30 November 2022. 
 
The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Society and we remain independent of the Society in 
conducting our audit. 
 
Our audit opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee. 
 
Use of the audit report 
This report is made solely to the Society’s members as a body in accordance with section 78 of the Building Societies Act 1986. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the Society’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Society and the Society’s 
members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
David Allen (Senior Statutory Auditor)  
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
30 Old Bailey 
London 
 
14 February 2023 
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The notes on pages 44 to 74 form part of these accounts. 
The above results are all derived from continuing operations. 

Income Statement 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
 

2022 2021

Notes £'000 £'000

Interest receivable and similar income 3 18,295 14,935
Interest payable and similar charges 4 (6,581) (4,122)
Net interest receivable 11,714 10,813
Fees and commissions receivable 175 159
Fees and commissions payable (104) (69)
Net gains from derivative financial instruments 5 12 198
Gain on sale of investment properties 60 -
Other operating income 6 82 56
Other finance income 30 74 50
Total income 12,013 11,207
Administrative expenses 7 (10,286) (9,291)
Depreciation 18 (300) (305)
Amortisation 20 (258) (309)
Operating profit before impairment losses and provisions 1,169 1,302
Gain on revaluation of investment properties - 37
Impairment gains on loans and advances to customers 16 153 104
Operating profit and profit before tax 1,322 1,443
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 10 (252) (359)
Profit for the financial year 1,070 1,084
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
 

2022 2021

Notes £'000 £'000

Profit for the financial year 1,070 1,084

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to the Income Statement
    Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in the pension scheme 30 (2,775) 1,323
    Movements in deferred tax relating to the pension scheme 10 (b) 694 (479)
Items that may be reclassified to the Income Statement
    Valuation losses on available for sale assets 13 (77) -
    Movements in deferred tax relating to available for sale assets 10 (b) 18 -
Other comprehensive income (2,140) 844
Total comprehensive income (1,070) 1,928
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The notes on pages 44 to 74 form part of these accounts. 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
Colin Franklin 
Chair 
 
 
 
 
Colin Fyfe 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
John Mulvey 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
 
 
 
 

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 November 2022 
 

2022 2021

Notes £'000 £'000

Assets
Liquid assets
- Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 11 121,320 158,359
- Loans and advances to credit institutions 12 7,970 13,910
- Debt securities 13 14,059 -
Derivative financial instruments 14 12,149 404
Loans and advances to customers 15 648,234 618,963
Tangible fixed assets 18 5,118 5,307
Intangible fixed assets 20 464 594
Investment properties 19 160 412
Other assets 21 1,070 1,033
Pension asset 30 1,869 4,572
Total assets 812,413 803,554

Liabilities
Shares 23 655,540 674,809
Amounts owed to credit institutions 24 77,338 60,025
Amounts owed to other customers 25 19,955 18,457
Derivative financial instruments 14 736 525
Other liabilities 26 11,947 1,185
Deferred tax liability 22 656 1,242
Total liabilities 766,172 756,243

Reserves
General reserve 46,300 47,311
Available for Sale Reserve (59) -
Total reserves 46,241 47,311
Total reserves and liabilities 812,413 803,554
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Statement of Changes in Members’ Interests 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
 

General 
reserve

Available for 
Sale Reserve

Total 
reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 December 2021 47,311 - 47,311
Profit for the financial year 1,070 - 1,070
Other Comprehensive Income for the period (net of tax)
- Net loss from changes in fair value of available for sale assets - (59) (59)
- Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations (2,081) - (2,081)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year (1,011) (59) (1,070)
Balance at 30 November 2022 46,300 (59) 46,241

General 
reserve

Available for 
Sale Reserve

Total 
reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 December 2020 45,383 - 45,383
Profit for the financial year 1,084 - 1,084
Other Comprehensive Income for the period (net of tax)
- Re-measurement of defined benefit obligations 844 - 844
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 1,928 - 1,928
Balance at 30 November 2021 47,311 - 47,311
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For the purpose of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with less than 90 days to maturity: 
 
 

Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
 

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 11 121,320 158,359
Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 12 7,702 13,598

129,022 171,957

2022 2021

Notes £'000 £'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 1,322 1,443
Depreciation and amortisation 18, 20 558 614
Decrease in fair value of derivative financial instruments and hedged items 14, 15, 23 (380) (214)
Gain on sale of investment properties 19 (60) -
Pension credits 30 (72) (48)
Decrease in allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances 16 (153) (104)
Fair value gains on investment properties 19 - (37)
Net cash generated by trading activities 1,215 1,654

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Increase in other assets 12, 13, 21 (428) (149)
Decrease in collateral pledged against derivative liabilities 12 300 2,944
Net (increase)/decrease in loans and advances to customers 15 (40,408) 36,341
Net (decrease)/increase in shares 23 (19,133) 10,114
Net increase/(decrease) in amounts owed to credit institutions 24 17,313 (10,000)
Net increase/(decrease) in amounts owed to other customers 25 1,498 (7,057)
Net increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 10, 26 10,637 (3,562)
Net cash (used in)/generated by operating activities (29,006) 30,285

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of debt securities 13 (20,001) -
Disposal and maturity of debt securities 13 6,000 -
Purchase of tangible and intangible fixed assets 18, 20 (240) (316)
Disposal of investment properties 19 312 -
Net cash used in investing activities (13,929) (316)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (42,935) 29,969
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 December 171,957 141,988
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 November 129,022 171,957
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1. Principal accounting policies 
Basis of preparation 
The Society is a building society incorporated in the UK under the Building Societies Act 1986 and the Building Societies Act 1997. The address of its 
registered office is Upper Bond Street, Hinckley, Leicestershire LE10 1NZ. The financial statements have been prepared under FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK” in conjunction with IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (via the option in FRS 102 
para 11.2(b)). Amendments are made to FRS 102 from time to time, which are assessed and applied by the Society, as appropriate.  

 
The Society has taken advantage of the exemption included in paragraph 9.9A of FRS 102 and section 4 of the Building Societies (Accounts and Related 
Provisions) Regulations 1998, to exclude a subsidiary from consolidated financial statements when its inclusion is not material. The subsidiary shown in 
note 17 did not trade during the current and prior years and its net assets were £2 at the current and prior year-end. Accordingly, consolidated financial 
statements have not been prepared. 
 
Basis of accounting 
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, as modified by the following: 
 
• Land and buildings which the Society lets to third parties on commercial terms are classified as investment properties and are stated at current 

value. 
 

• Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. Underlying hedged items are held at amortised cost, adjusted for the fair value attributable 
to the hedged risk. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Society’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 

 
Functional and presentational currency 
The Society’s functional and presentational currency is pounds sterling and, unless otherwise indicated, figures have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand. The Society trades solely in the United Kingdom and has no material foreign currency transactions. There is one class of business as reported 
in the Income Statement. 

 
Going concern  
The directors have prepared detailed forecasts of the Society’s profitability, capital, funding and liquidity positions that take account of the Society’s 
current position and principal risks as set out in the Directors’ report above. Forecasts have also been prepared to assess the impact on the Society’s 
business and its profitability, capital, funding and liquidity positions of operating under stressed but plausible conditions. The stressed conditions include 
a prolonged severe economic downturn, involving a slowdown in the housing market, reducing mortgage market volumes and reducing house prices, 
movements in interest rates, and a rise in unemployment increasing arrears and possession levels. The detailed assumptions adopted in this scenario 
combine those used by the Bank of England, to test the capital adequacy of systemic firms within the UK banking system, with additional firm-specific 
and market-wide stresses impacting the Society’s income and expenditure. 
 
Based on these forecasts the directors are satisfied that the Society has adequate resources to continue in business for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date of approval of the accounts. Accordingly, the accounts continue to be prepared on a going concern basis. 

 
Interest income and expense 
Interest income and expense are recognised in the Income Statement using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability (or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Society 
estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 
 
Transaction costs and fees, and charges paid or received, including mortgage early redemption charges, that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate of a financial instrument, are recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and are recorded within interest income and expense. 
Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 

 
Fees and commissions 
Fees and commissions receivable and payable, other than those recognised within mortgage interest, are recognised when the relevant service is 
provided. 

 
Other operating income 
Other operating income includes rental income from investment properties and other sundry income. Rental income from investment properties is 
recognised in the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases. 

 
Financial instruments 
The Society has chosen to adopt the recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and the 
disclosure requirements of section 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments. 
 
 
 
 
 

Notes to the Accounts 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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a) Loans and advances 
Loans and advances are predominantly mortgage loans to customers and advances to credit institutions held for liquidity and for derivative margin 
management purposes. They are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses, other than where an 
adjustment is made as part of a fair value hedging arrangement. 
 
b) Financial instruments at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
Derivatives in the form of interest rate swaps, referred to as fair value hedges below, are used to mitigate the Society’s exposure to interest rate risk. 
The Society uses derivatives only for interest rate risk management purposes. It does not use derivatives for trading purposes. 
 

Interest rate swaps are recognised and subsequently measured in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value, with gains and losses recognised in 
the Income Statement, whilst the underlying mortgage loans and customer deposits are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method. As a 
result, hedge accounting is used to mitigate the accounting mismatches and the resulting Income Statement volatility. 
 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair 
value. Fair values of derivative financial instruments are calculated by discounted cash flow models using yield curves that are based on observable market 
data. All derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of 
derivatives are recognised immediately in the Income Statement, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the 
hedged risk (to the extent that the Society is applying hedge accounting to these instruments – see further notes below) within Net gains/(losses) from 
derivative financial instruments. 
 
Hedge accounting 
Fair value hedges are used to hedge exposures to the variability in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment. On 
initial designation of the hedge, the Society formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), including the 
risk management objective and strategy in undertaking the hedge, together with the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging 
relationship. The Society makes an assessment, both at inception of the hedge relationship and on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instrument(s) 
is/are expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value of the respective hedged item(s) during the period for which the hedge is 
designated, and whether the actual effectiveness results of each hedge are within a range of 80–125%. Fair value hedges are used to hedge exposures 
to the variability in fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment. All changes in the fair value of the derivative are 
recognised immediately in the Income Statement. The carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted by the change in fair value that is attributable to the 
risk being hedged (even if it is normally carried at cost or amortised cost) and any gains or losses on re-measurement are recognised immediately in the 
Income Statement (even if those gains would normally be recognised directly in reserves). 
 

If hedge accounting is discontinued and the hedged financial asset or liability has not been derecognised, any adjustments to the carrying amount of the 
hedged item are amortised to the Income Statement using the effective interest method over the remaining life of the hedged item. 
 
 

A summary of the effects of hedging and the associated fair value adjustments can be found in notes 5 and 14. 
 

c) Financial liabilities 
The Society’s financial liabilities are predominantly customer deposits and amounts owed to credit institutions and other customers. They are recorded 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
d) Offsetting 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Interest flows on the 
Society’s derivative contracts are settled on this basis. 

 
e) Derecognition 
Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party or (c) control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has 
the practical ability unilaterally to sell the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
when contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

 
Impairment of loans and advances to customers  
Individual assessments are made of all mortgage loans that are in arrears or in possession, or where there is other objective evidence that all cash flows 
will not be received and an exposure to potential loss exists after realisation of security at a forced sale discount. Based upon these assessments an 
individual impairment provision is recognised against these assets. 

 
In addition, the Society maintains a level of impairment provision against losses that may have been incurred in the loan book but not reported and 
where problems in realising the Society’s security may be anticipated due to factors such as problems with title, potential fraud within the loan application 
or buildings having been constructed on contaminated land. Impairment provisions are made to reduce the value of impaired loans and advances to the 
amount that is considered to be ultimately received based upon objective evidence. Any increases or decreases in projected impairment losses are 
recognised through the Income Statement. 
 
If a loan is ultimately uncollectable, then any loss incurred by the Society on extinguishing the debt is written off against the provision for loan impairment. 
Any subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised through the Income Statement. 
 
 
 

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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Forbearance strategy 
A range of forbearance options are available to support members who are in financial difficulty, if it can be demonstrated that this difficulty can be 
successfully overcome. The Society considers that if one or more of the options identified below can be agreed, this would always be preferable to 
taking possession of the customer’s home. The main options offered are: 
 
• Reduced monthly payment including interest only concession; 
• Payment holiday; 
• Extension of mortgage term; and/or 
• Transfer to a new product which could help to reduce monthly payments. 
 
Customers requesting a forbearance option will need to provide information to support the request which the Society will use to assess whether it is 
likely that the preferred arrangement will resolve the customer’s financial difficulties. 
 
Accounts on which forbearance has been provided are monitored and borrowers are expected to resume normal payments, including any increase to 
repay the mortgage at the end of the agreed term, once they are able. Loans that receive forbearance may only be classified as up-to-date once a 
specified number and/or value of qualifying payments have been received. These qualifying payments are set at a level appropriate to the nature of the 
loan and the customer’s ability to make the repayment. 
 
In the prior year, the Society worked with a number of borrowers who needed to defer mortgage payments, under the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA) recommended framework, due to the Covid pandemic and associated income challenges. In line with FCA guidance, borrowers requesting 
payment deferrals were granted a payment holiday of up to six months. No borrowers who took a payment holiday during the prior year remained on 
one at the end of the current or prior years. 

 
Impairment losses on debt securities 
At each Statement of Financial Position date the Society assesses whether or not there is objective evidence that individual debt instruments are impaired. 
Debt instruments held can include UK government gilts or treasury bills or exposures to UK banks or building societies and therefore the likelihood of 
loss is remote. In reaching this conclusion the Society considers the financial status of the counterparty and the levels of activity in the market. 

 
Employee benefits 
The Society provides a range of benefits to employees, including annual bonus arrangements, paid holiday arrangements and a defined contribution 
pension scheme. A defined benefit pension scheme is also in place but was closed to further accrual in 2010. 
 
(i)  Short-term benefits – Short-term benefits, including holiday pay and other similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the service is received. 
 
(ii)  Defined contribution pension scheme – The Society operates a defined contribution scheme for its employees. A defined contribution scheme is 
one into which the Society and the employee pay fixed contributions into a separate entity. Payments into the defined contribution scheme are charged 
to the Income Statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme. Once the contributions have been paid the Society has 
no further payment obligations. Amounts owed but not paid are shown in accruals in the Statement of Financial Position. The assets of the scheme are 
held separately from the Society in independently administered funds. 
 
(iii)  Defined benefit pension scheme – The Society operates a defined benefit scheme for certain employees. A defined benefit scheme is one that defines 
the benefit the employee will receive on retirement, depending on such factors as age and length of service. The Society’s contributions to the scheme 
are liable to increase or decrease in order to ensure liabilities to pensioners can continue to be met as they fall due. On 1st January 2010 the defined 
benefit scheme was closed to further accrual. 
 
Society contributions payable to the defined benefit scheme are determined by a qualified actuary on the basis of a triennial valuation using the projected 
unit method, and are charged to the Income Statement as incurred. The charge to the Income Statement over the financial year in relation to the defined 
benefit scheme is shown in note 30. 
 
The asset/liability recognised in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of the defined benefit scheme is the fair value of the scheme assets less 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date. The defined benefit scheme was in surplus at the year end and this has been 
recognised as an asset in the Statement of Financial Position. The judgements in relation to this are disclosed in note 2. 
 
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using a rate determined from the yields of high quality sterling bonds 
of comparable term to the related pension liability (the ‘discount rate’). 
 
The fair value of scheme assets includes the use of appropriate valuation techniques in accordance with FRS 102. These include publicly quoted indices 
for assets traded on the open market and investment managers’ own, unaudited valuation models for assets that are not publicly traded.  

 
Net interest income, comprising expected interest income on scheme assets less interest costs on scheme liabilities, is calculated by applying the discount 
rate to the net balance of the fair value of scheme assets less the defined benefit obligation. This result is recognised in the Income Statement as Other 
finance income. 
 
The cost of the defined benefit scheme, recognised in the Income Statement as employee costs, except where included in the cost of an asset, comprises 
any cost of plan benefit changes, curtailments, settlements, and administrative costs. 
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Actuarial gains and losses arising from scheme assets and from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions on the obligation are 
charged or credited each year to Other Comprehensive Income. 
 
Taxation 
Taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting period. Tax is recognised in the Income Statement, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or directly in equity. In this case tax is also recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income or directly in equity respectively. 
 
Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
 
Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax is calculated on the basis of tax rates 
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end. 
 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. 
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total comprehensive income as stated in the financial 
statements. These timing differences arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they 
are recognised in financial statements. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the reporting date, including property revaluations, but is not provided on differences that are 
expected to be permanent. Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered 
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits. 
 
Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end, depending on the date at which 
the timing differences are expected to reverse. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents  
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with original maturities of less than 90 days, including cash 
in hand, deposits with the Bank of England and loans and advances to credit institutions. 
 
Loans and advances to credit institutions 
Derivatives are only executed with organisations that have an approved credit limit. The majority of the Society’s derivative agreements include 
arrangements requiring that any movement in the value of the derivative be offset by the placing of cash collateral to reduce the resulting credit exposure 
of either party on a regular basis. Cash deposited with the counterparty on this basis is held within Loans and advances to credit institutions at cost. 
 
Debt securities 
Debt securities are classified as available for sale assets. Available for sale assets are non-derivative assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite 
period. Reasons for the sale of such assets may include changes in liquidity requirements or interest rates. Debt securities are measured at fair value, 
with subsequent changes in fair value being recognised through Other Comprehensive Income, except for impairment losses which are recognised in 
the Income Statement. Further information regarding how fair values are determined can be found in note 28 (b). Upon sale or maturity of the asset, 
the cumulative gains and losses recognised in Other Comprehensive Income are removed from available for sale reserves and recycled to the Income 
Statement. 
 

Investment properties 
Freehold investment properties are included in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value, which is taken as being open market value. Movements 
in valuation are posted through the Income Statement. Open market value is reassessed annually by the directors, with periodic reassessment by 
appropriately qualified third party valuers. 
 
Details of the value of the properties are provided in note 19 to the financial statements. 
 

Intangible fixed assets and amortisation 
Intangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation. Amounts capitalised represent the costs of acquiring, developing and 
installing computer software, and may include amounts payable to third party suppliers and values associated with time spent by the Society’s own staff. 
Amortisation is provided at 20% per annum on a straight-line basis, as an approximation of useful economic life. 
 
Where factors, such as technological advancement or changes in market price, indicate that residual value or useful life have changed, the residual value, 
useful life or amortisation rate are amended prospectively to reflect the new circumstances. The assets are reviewed for impairment if the above factors 
indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. 
 

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, with the exception of certain freehold properties (or portions thereof) 
which are commercially let and are therefore classified as investment properties, which are held at open market value.  
 
Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use. 
 
Depreciation is provided at rates designed to write down the cost or valuation of fixed assets to their residual values over their expected useful lives.  
 

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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The following are approximations of the useful lives: 
 

• Freehold buildings and leasehold land and buildings with more than 50 years unexpired (including building improvements): 2% to 10% per annum 
on a straight-line basis. 
 

• Leasehold land and buildings with less than 50 years unexpired: Equal annual instalments to expiry of the lease. 
 

• Fixtures and fittings: 5% to 15% per annum on a straight-line basis. 
 

• Computer equipment: 20% to 33% per annum on a straight-line basis. 
 

• Motor vehicles: 25% per annum on a reducing balance basis. 
 

• Office equipment: 25% per annum on a straight-line basis. 
 

• Freehold land is not depreciated. 
 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effect of any change is 
accounted for prospectively. 
 

Repairs, maintenance and minor inspection costs are expensed to the Income Statement as incurred. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
The carrying amount of the Society’s assets is reviewed at each Statement of Financial Position date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indicators exist, the asset’s recoverable amount is reviewed. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of market value or the value in use of the respective asset. Impairment 
losses are recognised in the Income Statement. 
 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as it arises provided the increased carrying value does not exceed that which it would have been had no 
impairment loss been recognised. 
 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 
A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position if the Society has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits, which can be reliably estimated, will be required to settle the obligation. 
 

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. Contingent liabilities arise as a result of past events when (i) it is not 
probable that there will be an outflow of resources or that the amount cannot be reliably measured at the reporting date or (ii) when the existence will 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within the Society’s control. Contingent liabilities are disclosed 
in the financial statements unless the probability of an outflow of resources is remote. 
 

Operating leases 
At inception the Society assesses agreements that transfer the right to use assets. The assessment considers whether the arrangement is, or contains, a 
lease based on the substance of the arrangement. Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. 
All the Society’s leases are operating leases. Payments under operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease. 

 

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
The directors make estimates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities reported in the accounts. Estimates and 
assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. These are described below. 

 

a) Post employment benefits and recognition of pension surplus 
The Society operates a defined benefit pension scheme and has an obligation to pay pension benefits to certain employees. Judgement is exercised in 
estimating the value of the assets and liabilities of the scheme, and hence its net surplus or deficit. The directors have estimated the assumptions, set out 
in note 30, after taking advice from qualified independent actuaries. Sensitivities relating to the key estimates are set out below: 
 

• The discount rate used to value the liabilities at the year-end was 4.48% (2021: 1.62%). A decrease in the discount rate of 0.25% would increase 
scheme liabilities by approximately £0.7m (2021: £1.4m). 
 

• The inflation rates used to value the liabilities at the year-end were 2.43% (2021: 2.81%) for CPI and 3.01% (2021: 3.46%) for RPI. An increase in 
the inflation assumptions of 0.25% would increase the scheme liabilities by approximately £0.3m (2020: £0.6m). 
 

• The life expectancy assumptions for pensioners currently aged 65 used to value the liabilities at the year-end were 22 years for males (2021: 22 
years) and 24 years for females (2021: 24 years). An increase in the life expectancy of scheme members by one year would increase scheme 
liabilities by approximately £0.9m (2021: £1.8m). 

 

Mortality assumptions are based on publicly available mortality tables for the UK. Covid-19 caused a short-term increase in deaths in the UK but this 
has not generally had a material impact on UK pension scheme liabilities. Overall, the Society believes there is insufficient evidence to require an explicit 
adjustment to the mortality assumptions for Covid at this time. 
 

The directors have used the requirements and guidance from IFRS, particularly IFRIC 14, to determine an appropriate accounting treatment, as permitted 
under paragraph 10.6 of FRS 102. IFRIC 14 is the interpretation that details when a sponsoring employer of a defined benefit pension scheme can 
recognise any pension surplus that exists. IFRIC 14 permits the recognition of an asset if a scheme is in surplus if economic benefits are available to an 
entity in the form of a refund or reduction in future contributions. Economic benefits arising from a refund are only available if the entity has an 
unconditional right to a refund under specific circumstances. 
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The directors’ view is that, under the scheme rules, the Society has an unconditional right to any surplus, assuming the gradual settlement of liabilities 
over time until all members have left the scheme. Furthermore, in the ordinary course of business the Trustee has no rights to unilaterally wind up, or 
otherwise augment the benefits due to members of the scheme. Therefore, under IFRIC 14 the Society is neither required to reflect any additional 
liabilities in relation to deficit funding commitments, nor restrict any scheme surplus that arises. 
 
b) Impairment of loans and advances to customers 
The Society’s accounting policy for impairment of loans and advances to customers is set out in note 1 and consists of: 
 
• Individual assessments of impairment of all mortgage loans that are in arrears or where other objective evidence exists that all cash flows will not 

be received; and 
 

• Collective assessments of impairment of portfolios of mortgage loans that are not subject to individual impairment provisions, where there is 
objective evidence that credit losses have been incurred but not identified at the reporting date. 

 
The Society regularly performs collective assessments of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment may include observable data indicating that 
there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a portfolio, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults 
on assets in the portfolio. 
 
Estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics to those in the portfolio and external data are used to 
assess impairment. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to 
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 
 
During the year, the UK experienced a significant increase in inflation. In response, the Bank of the England raised interest rates from 0.1% in December 
2021 to 3.0% in November 2022 to bring inflation under control, but this has resulted in an economic downturn. The increased cost-of-living and higher 
mortgage payments have increased the likelihood that borrowers will fall into arrears and default on their mortgage. Concerns over the economy and 
lower borrower affordability have reduced housing market activity, causing house prices to fall during the last quarter of 2022. 
 
As a result of these economic conditions, the directors included the following judgemental adjustments to the individual and collective assessments of 
impairment to ensure that adequate provisions are held against loans in arrears and against losses that may have been incurred but not identified at the 
year-end: 
 
• The probability of default for mortgage accounts not currently in arrears, estimated from historical actual default experience, was uplifted to reflect 

the increased probability that losses on loans were incurred but not identified at the year-end. The level of the uplift was derived from the 
heightened arrears levels seen during the 2008-2010 financial crisis, and increased further to reflect the impact of higher interest rates. The uplifted 
probability of default, which was benchmarked against external data for reasonableness, resulted in an increased collective impairment provision; 
 

• Mortgage borrowers that deferred mortgage payments during the two prior years and who capitalised their deferred payments, considered to be 
amongst the most vulnerable to the cost-of-living crisis and higher mortgage payments, were collectively assessed for impairment. An adjustment 
was applied to the probability of default for these borrowers, resulting in an increased collective provision; 
 

• Probabilities of default for mortgage accounts with a high LTV (over 80%), excluding those that were not in arrears at the year-end, were uplifted 
to reflect the estimated increased default rate associated with lower levels of borrower equity in a property. The estimates were used while the 
Society collates additional default experience for high LTV cases, which is currently limited. The higher default rates increased the individual 
impairment provisions; 
 

• The estimated time taken from an impairment event to borrower default, possession and subsequent sale of the security property was increased. 
Government support available to homeowners, such as energy bill subsidies, is expected to increase the time taken for borrowers to default, and 
the slowdown in the housing market is expected to increase the time taken to sell the security property. The resulting delay in the receipt of sale 
proceeds increases both individual and collective impairment provisions; and 
 

• A house price reduction has been assumed during the period from the impairment event to sale of the security property, reflecting future house 
price forecasts due to the slowdown in the housing market. This adjustment reduces the estimated sale proceeds received, increasing both 
individual and collective impairment provisions. 

 
Details of provisions for impairment losses are shown in note 16 and arrears and forbearance details associated with loans and advances to customers 
are set out in note 28 (c). The directors have exercised judgements in arriving at the key estimates used in the impairment provision assessments. 
Sensitivities relating to the key estimates are set out below: 
 
• A reduction in the assumed level of house prices of 5% would result in increased impairment provisions of £0.2m (2021: £0.3m) 

 

• An increase in the assumed default rates of 20% would result in increased impairment provisions of £0.1m (2021: £0.1m). 
 
c) Effective interest rate 
As noted within note 1, all cash flows directly associated with financial instruments are recognised in the Income Statement through the interest margin 
using the effective interest method. Mortgage related cash flows take account of fees and charges, including estimated early redemption charges 
receivable. The method also requires estimates to be made of the expected lives of mortgages. In determining the expected lives of mortgages and early 
redemption charges used within the cash flows, the Society uses historical and forecast redemption data, as well as management judgement. 
 
A one-month reduction in the estimated life of a mortgage across the full mortgage portfolio would reduce interest income recognised by approximately 
£15,000. A one-month increase in the estimated life of a mortgage across the full mortgage portfolio would increase interest income recognised by 
approximately £62,000. 
 

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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3. Interest receivable and similar income 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All interest receivable and similar income arises in the UK. 
 
Interest on loans fully secured on residential property and other loans includes interest accrued on impaired residential mortgage assets of 
£57,000 (2021: £55,000). 
 
 
 
4. Interest payable and similar charges 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Net gains from derivative financial instruments 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Other operating income 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

On loans fully secured on residential property and other loans 16,608 16,060
On liquid assets 1,749 154
Net interest expense on derivative financial instruments (62) (1,279)

18,295 14,935

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

On shares held by individuals and other shares 5,648 4,064
On deposits and other borrowings 933 84
Net interest income on derivative financial instruments - (26)

6,581 4,122

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Rent receivable on investment properties 51 56
Insurance recovery for costs incurred during Covid pandemic 31 -

82 56

2022 2021

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss £'000 £'000

Instruments used to hedge loans and advances
- Gains on hedging instruments 11,092 2,768
- Losses on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk (11,168) (2,619)
- Amortisation of hedged items following swap termination (123) (163)
Net hedge ineffectiveness (199) (14)

Instruments used to hedge savings
- Losses on hedging instruments - (52)
- Gains on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 3 61
- Amortisation of hedged items following swap termination 134 184
Net hedge ineffectiveness 137 193

Instruments not in a hedge relationship
- Gains on unmatched derivatives 74 19

Net gains from derivative financial instruments 12 198
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7. Administrative expenses 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. Employees 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9. Directors’ and key management emoluments 
Emoluments of the Society’s directors and key management are detailed below: 
 
(a) To independent non-executive directors for services as directors  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No pension contributions were made in respect of these directors. 

  

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Employee costs
- Wages and salaries 5,603 4,693
- Social security costs 593 438
- Other pension costs 394 374

6,590 5,505
Other administrative expenses 3,696 3,786

10,286 9,291

Other administrative expenses include:
Auditor's remuneration (excluding VAT)
- Statutory audit of the Annual Report and Accounts 223 245
- Other assurance services - 40

223 285

Operating lease charges
- Land and buildings 79 74
- Fixtures and fittings 8 10

87 84

The average number of persons employed (including executive directors) during the financial year was: 2022 2021

Full time
Principal office 99 89
Branch offices 23 22

122 111

Part time
Principal office 26 22
Branch offices 8 8

34 30

Fees Fees

2022 2021

Aggregate emoluments £'000 £'000

Colin Franklin 53 52
David Woodward 38 37
Geneane Bell 32 33
Barbara Taeed 31 28
Gary Wilkinson 38 37
Nemone Wynn-Evans 32 28

224 215

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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(b) To executive directors for services in connection with the management of the Society 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Salary costs, including any pension allowances, and pension contributions shown are before any adjustments for the payment of employee pension 
contributions by salary sacrifice. 
 
Dean Waddingham left the Society on 31 May 2022, and a payment in lieu of notice of £63,971 is included in his salary and pension contribution costs 
for the year shown above. 
 

(c) Directors’ loans and transactions 
During the financial year there were no (2021: no) new mortgage advances to directors and connected persons and no (2021: no) further advance on 
an existing mortgage to directors and connected persons. At the 30 November 2022, there was one (2021: one) outstanding mortgage loan to directors 
and connected persons that had been granted in the ordinary course of business, amounting to an aggregate of £223,486 (2021: £285,272). 
 

All directors of the Society are required to maintain a savings balance of at least £1,000 each in the Society. At 30 November 2022 the aggregate 
balances held by directors and connected persons in Hinckley & Rugby savings accounts was £326,783 (2021: £405,659). 
 

In accordance with Section 68 of the Building Societies Act 1986, the Society maintains a register in respect of loans, transactions and arrangements, if 
any, between the Society and its directors, and persons connected with them. 
 

Requisite particulars will be available for inspection by members, at the Society’s Principal Office in Hinckley, for 15 days before the day of the Annual 
General Meeting, and also at that meeting. 
 

Directors’ loans and transactions represent all the related party transactions that are required to be disclosed in these accounts. 
 

(d) Key management compensation 
The directors of the Society are considered to be the only key management personnel, as defined by FRS 102. The total compensation for key 
management personnel, including benefits and pension contributions, is shown above.  

Salary Bonus

Contribution 
to defined 

contribution 
pension 
scheme Total 

2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Colin Fyfe 258 9 - 267
Barry Carter (appointed 1 July 2022) 73 3 6 82
Rebecca Griffin (appointed 1 July 2022) 52 7 5 64
John Mulvey 170 8 3 181
Dean Waddingham (retired 31 May 2022) 150 - - 150

703 27 14 744

Salary Bonus

Contribution 
to defined 

contribution 
pension 
scheme Total 

2021 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Colin Fyfe 253 10 - 263
John Mulvey 155 8 16 179
Dean Waddingham 169 5 - 174

577 23 16 616

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Total directors' emoluments including benefits and pension contributions 968 831
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10. Tax on profit on ordinary activities 
(a) Tax expense included in the Income Statement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b) Tax (credit)/charge included in Other comprehensive income 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c) Reconciliation of tax charge 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
d) Tax rate changes 
On 3 March 2021, the UK government announced that the UK Corporation tax rate from 1 April 2023 would increase to 25%, and this was substantively 
enacted on 24 May 2021. The deferred tax liability at 30 November 2022 has been calculated based on the rate substantively enacted at the Statement 
of Financial Position date of 25% (2021: 25%). 

 
 
 
 

11. Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Current tax:
UK corporation tax on profits for the financial year 126 -

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences 117 263
Effect of changes in tax rates 5 96
Adjustment in respect of previous periods 4 -
Total deferred tax 126 359

Total tax charge included in the Income Statement 252 359

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the Income Statement as follows:
Profit for the period - continuing operations 1,322 1,443
Tax on profit at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2021: 19%) 251 274
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible / (Income not taxable) 4 (11)
Disposal of investment property (12) -
Change in tax rate 5 96
Adjustment in respect of previous periods 4 -
Total tax charge for the financial year 252 359

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Cash in hand 265 211
Balances at Bank of England 121,055 158,148

121,320 158,359

Current tax - -
Deferred tax (712) 479
Total tax (credit)/charge included in Other Comprehensive Income (712) 479

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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12. Loans and advances to credit institutions 
Loans and advances to credit institutions have remaining maturities as follows: 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
13. Debt Securities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14. Derivative financial instruments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All derivative financial instruments are ‘over-the-counter’ interest rate swaps held for risk management purposes and are bilaterally agreed with the 
counterparty. 
 
Unmatched derivatives relate to interest rate swaps which have not been matched against loans and advances to customers and savings for hedge 
accounting purposes at the relevant Statement of Financial Position date. 
 
At 30 November 2022, the fixed interest rates on SONIA swaps vary from -0.06% to 5.51% (2021: -0.06% to 1.29%). 
 
  

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Repayable on demand 7,702 13,598
Collateral pledged against derivative transactions - 300
Accrued interest 268 12

7,970 13,910

Contract 
notional amount

Fair value 
- assets

Fair value 
- liabilities

£'000 £'000 £'000

At 30 November 2022
Unmatched derivatives – interest rate swaps 18,000 74 -
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges - interest rate swaps 253,000 12,075 (736)
Total recognised derivative assets/(liabilities) 271,000 12,149 (736)

Contract 
notional amount

Fair value 
- assets

Fair value 
- liabilities

£'000 £'000 £'000

At 30 November 2021
Unmatched derivatives – interest rate swaps 18,500 6 (39)
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges - interest rate swaps 111,000 398 (486)
Total recognised derivative assets/(liabilities) 129,500 404 (525)

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

UK bank and building society certificates of deposit 14,059 -

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

At 1 December 2021 - -
Additions 20,001 -
Disposals and maturities (6,000) -
Losses from changes in fair value recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (77) -
Accrued interest 135 -
At 30 November 2022 14,059 -
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15. Loans and advances to customers 
Loans and advances to customers are held at amortised cost, with interest and associated costs being recognised in the interest receivable and similar 
income line of the Income Statement on an effective interest rate basis. 
 
Fair value adjustments have been made to hedged fixed rate mortgages that are in effective fair value hedging relationships. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The remaining contractual maturity of loans and advances to customers from the Statement of Financial Position date is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The maturity analysis above is based on contractual maturity, rather than behavioural or expected maturity, and may not reflect actual experience of 
repayments since many mortgage loans are repaid early. 
 
The Society has encumbered £167.7m (2021: £95.7m) of mortgage assets through the Bank of England’s Term Funding Scheme with additional incentives 
for SMEs (TFSME) and Indexed Long Term Repo (ILTR) facility. These facilities are accessed via the placement of eligible collateral in the form of 
approved mortgage portfolios. TFSME and ILTR do not involve the transfer of risk on the collateral and hence fail the derecognition criteria under IAS 
39. Therefore, for accounting purposes, the underlying collateral is retained on the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
 
 
16. Provision for impairment losses on loans and advances 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The provisions as at 30 November 2022 and 30 November 2021 have been deducted from loans fully secured on residential property in the Statement 
of Financial Position. 
 

 
 
 
 

Individual 
provision

Collective 
provision Total

Individual 
provision

Collective 
provision Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 December 165 388 553 137 520 657
Loan impairment (released)/recognised during the year (86) (67) (153) 28 (132) (104)
At 30 November 79 321 400 165 388 553

Loans fully secured on residential property

2021

Loans fully secured on residential property

2022

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Repayable on demand 654 1,160
In not more than 3 months 4,175 5,265
In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year 15,006 15,081
In more than 1 year but not more than 5 years 100,171 109,346
In more than 5 years 528,628 488,664

648,634 619,516
Provision for impairment losses (400) (553)
Loans and advances to customers 648,234 618,963

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Loans fully secured on residential property 659,076 619,139
Effective interest rate adjustment 713 242
Fair value adjustment for hedged risk (11,155) 135

648,634 619,516
Provision for impairment losses (400) (553)
Loans and advances to customers 648,234 618,963

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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17. Investments 
The Society has the following subsidiary undertaking, in which it directly holds all the issued shares. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The company is registered at the same address as the Society (see inside front cover), and has been dormant since 1 December 2004. As stated in note 
1, the Society has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS102 and the Building Societies (Accounts and Related Provisions) Regulations 1998 to exclude 
a subsidiary from consolidated financial statements where its inclusion is not material.  
 
All shares are £1 ordinary shares. No director had a beneficial interest in any shares or debentures of the subsidiary undertaking. The registered number 
of the company is 03262800. 
 
 
 
18. Tangible fixed assets 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The net book amount of land which is not subject to depreciation included in the freehold land and buildings at 30 November 2022 is 
£790,000 (2021 £790,000). 
 
No tangible fixed assets were held under finance leases at 30 November 2022 (2021: none). 
 

Principal 
activity

Place of 
incorporation

Class of 
shares held

Shares in 
subsidiary 

undertakings
Society 
interest

£ %

Hinckley & Rugby Financial Services Limited Non-trading England Ordinary 2 100

Office and 
computer 

equipment
Fixtures, fittings 

and vehicles
Tangible fixed 

assets

Freehold Long leasehold Short leasehold

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost or valuation at 1 December 2021 3,188 427 49 984 2,698 7,346
Additions - - - 52 60 112
Disposals - - - (157) (103) (260)
Cost at 30 November 2022 3,188 427 49 879 2,655 7,198
Accumulated depreciation at 1 December 2021 210 80 49 736 964 2,039
Charge for the financial year 56 9 - 104 131 300
On disposals - - - (157) (102) (259)
Accumulated depreciation at 
30 November 2022 266 89 49 683 993 2,080
Net book value at 30 November 2022 2,922 338 - 196 1,662 5,118
Net book value at 30 November 2021 2,978 347 - 248 1,734 5,307

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Net book value of land and buildings occupied by the Society for its own activities 3,100 3,161

Land and buildings
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19. Investment properties 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
At 30 November 2022 the Society’s investment property portfolio consisted of two commercial properties within the East Midlands (2021: two 
commercial properties and one residential property). There are formal rental agreements in place for each property to third parties on commercial 
terms. 
 
The investment properties are held at valuation and were professionally valued at 30 November 2021 on the basis of open market value by Tim Ford 
BSc (Hons) MRICS IRRV and Nicholas Wint BSc (Hons) FRICS (RICS registered valuer) of Johnson Fellows LLP, who have the required knowledge, 
skills and understanding to undertake the valuation competently. The valuations take into account the rental income of each property, the remaining 
period of each lease, the yield required by investors for similar properties and tenants, and market conditions. Based upon market conditions, and the 
consistent rental income of these properties, the directors are of the opinion that the valuations remain an accurate estimate of open market value. 
 
If the investment properties had not been revalued, at 30 November 2022 they would have been recognised at a cost of £61,000 (2021: £160,000). 
 
 
 
20. Intangible fixed assets 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Intangible fixed assets represent the Society’s banking systems software which was created by external development firms. Accounting software and 
regulatory reporting software is also included. The software assets have remaining amortisation periods of between one and five years (2021: between 
one and five years). There are no other individually material intangible assets. 
 
Additions in the year-ended 30 November 2022 include £nil (2021: £nil) of capitalised staff costs. 
 
 
 
21. Other assets 
 
 

Investment
 properties

£'000

Valuation at 1 December 2021 412
Disposal of investment properties (252)
Gain on revaluation of investment properties -
Valuation at 30 November 2022 160

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Prepayments 829 698
Other debtors 241 335

1,070 1,033

Computer 
software

£'000

Cost or valuation at 1 December 2021 1,954
Additions 128
Disposals (36)
Cost or valuation at 30 November 2022 2,046
Accumulated amortisation at 1 December 2021 1,360
Charge for the financial year 258
Disposals (36)
Accumulated amortisation at 30 November 2022 1,582
Net book value at 30 November 2022 464
Net book value at 30 November 2021 594

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The net deferred tax liability is attributable to the following items: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There are no unrecognised tax losses or unused tax credits. 
 
On 3 March 2021, the UK government announced that the UK Corporation tax rate from 1 April 2023 would increase to 25%, and this was substantively 
enacted on 24 May 2021. The deferred tax liability at 30 November 2022 has been calculated based on the rate substantively enacted at the Statement 
of Financial Position date of 25% (2021: 25%).  
 
Of the deferred tax liability recognised at the year-end, £24,000 is expected to reverse within the next 12 months, largely relating to the maturity of 
debt securities classified as available for sale assets.  
 
 
 
23. Shares 
Fair value hedging adjustments have been made to certain fixed rate shares that are in effective fair value hedging relationships. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other shares are those held by institutions such as corporate customers, clubs and charities. 
 
Shares are repayable from the Statement of Financial Position date in the ordinary course of business as follows: 
 

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Held by individuals 654,871 673,961
Other shares 635 678

655,506 674,639
Fair value adjustment for hedged risk 34 170

655,540 674,809

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Repayable on demand 368,208 432,066
In not more than 3 months 135,696 116,783
In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year 66,995 59,289
In more than 1 year, but not more than 5 years 80,637 66,324

651,536 674,462
Accrued interest 4,004 347

655,540 674,809

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Net deferred tax liability
At 1 December (1,242) (404)
Adjustment in respect of prior years within the Income Statement (4) -
Income Statement charge for the financial year (122) (359)
Other comprehensive income credit/(charge) for the financial year 712 (479)
At 30 November (656) (1,242)

Deferred tax liability
Fixed asset timing differences (257) (240)
Pension scheme (467) (1,143)
Investment properties (16) (54)

(740) (1,437)

Deferred tax asset
Short term timing differences - trading 84 89
Unused tax losses - 106

84 195

Net deferred tax liability (656) (1,242)
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24. Amounts owed to credit institutions 
Amounts owed to credit institutions are repayable from the Statement of Financial Position date as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
25. Amounts owed to other customers 
Amounts owed to other customers are repayable from the Statement of Financial Position date as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
26. Other liabilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Collateral received against derivative transactions represents cash received from counterparties where the derivatives have a net positive fair value.  
 
 
 
27. Provisions for liabilities, guarantees and other financial commitments 
Capital commitments 

 
There were capital commitments of £720,000 at the year-end (2021: £9,000) in respect of tangible and intangible fixed assets, relating to the Society’s 
investment in new digital technology and services.  
 

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

In not more than 3 months 7,000 -
In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year 10,000 -
In more than 1 year but not more than 5 years 60,000 60,000

77,000 60,000
Accrued interest 338 25

77,338 60,025

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Repayable on demand 18,668 18,178
In not more than 3 months 1,000 -
In more than 3 months but not more than 1 year 279 279

19,947 18,457
Accrued interest 8 -

19,955 18,457

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Corporation tax 127 -
Other taxation and social security 148 147
Trade creditors 27 51
Other creditors 22 30
Accruals 945 957
Collateral received against derivative transactions 10,678 -

11,947 1,185

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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28. Financial instruments 
A financial instrument is a contract which gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability of another entity. The Society is a retailer of 
financial instruments in the form of mortgage and savings products and also uses wholesale financial instruments to invest liquid asset balances, raise 
wholesale funding and manage the risks arising from its operations. As a result of these activities, the Society is exposed to a variety of risks, the most 
significant being credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. These risks are described later in this note. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Instrument Terms and Conditions Accounting Policy
Cash in hand and balances with the Interest paid at Bank of England base rate
Bank of England Repayable on demand
Loans and advances to credit Fixed or variable interest rates
institutions Repayable on demand
Debt securities                                  Fixed or variable interest rates

Repayable on maturity

Loans and advances to customer Fixed or variable interest rate
Secured on residential property or land
Standard contractual term of up to 35 years

Shares Fixed or variable interest rates
Variable term

Amounts owed to credit institutions Fixed or variable interest rates
Fixed term

Amounts owed to other customers Fixed or variable interest rates
Fixed or variable term

Derivative financial instruments Fixed interest cash flows converted to
variable interest cash flows
Based on notional value of derivative

Fair value through Other 

Accounted for at settlement date

Amortised cost
Accounted for at settlement date
Loans and receivables at amortised cost

Loans and receivables at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, 
other than where adjustment is made as 
part of a fair value hedging arrangement.

Accounted for at trade date

Amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, other than where 
adjustment is made as part of a fair value 
hedging arrangement.

Accounted for at settlement date
Amortised cost
Accounted for at settlement date
Fair value through profit and loss

Amortised cost

The following table sets out a summary of terms and conditions and accounting policies of financial instruments.

Accounted for at settlement date

Accounted for at settlement date

Accounted for at settlement date

Comprehensive Income
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a) Classification of financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or amortised cost. Note 1 describes how the classes of financial 
instruments are measured, and how income and expenses, including fair values and gains and losses, are recognised. The tables below analyse the 
Society’s assets and liabilities by financial classification. 
 
Carrying values as at 30 November 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The amounts owed to credit institutions include £60m of borrowings from the Bank of England under the Term Funding Scheme (TFSME) and £17m of 
borrowings from the Bank of England under the Indexed Long Term Repo (ILTR) facility.  
 
Carrying values as at 30 November 2021 
 
 
 
 

Held at fair value

Loans and 
receivables

Financial 
assets and 

liabilities at 
amortised cost 

Available for 
sale

Derivatives 
designated as 

fair value 
hedges

Unmatched 
derivatives at 

fair value Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets
Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England - 121,320 - - - 121,320
Loans and advances to credit institutions 7,970 - - - - 7,970
Debt securities - - 14,059 - - 14,059
Derivative financial instruments - - - 12,075 74 12,149
Loans and advances to customers 648,234 - - - - 648,234
Total financial assets 656,204 121,320 14,059 12,075 74 803,732
Total non-financial assets 8,681
Total assets 812,413
Financial liabilities
Shares - 655,540 - - - 655,540
Amounts owed to credit institutions - 77,338 - - - 77,338
Amounts owed to other customers - 19,955 - - - 19,955
Derivative financial instruments - - - 736 - 736
Total financial liabilities - 752,833 - 736 - 753,569
Total non-financial liabilities 12,603
Reserves 46,241
Total reserves and liabilities 812,413

Held at amortised cost

Loans and 
receivables

Financial 
assets and 

liabilities at 
amortised cost 

Derivatives 
designated as 

fair value 
hedges

Unmatched 
derivatives at 

fair value Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets
Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England - 158,359 - - 158,359
Loans and advances to credit institutions 13,910 - - - 13,910
Derivative financial instruments - - 398 6 404
Loans and advances to customers 618,963 - - - 618,963
Total financial assets 632,873 158,359 398 6 791,636
Total non-financial assets 11,918
Total assets 803,554
Financial liabilities
Shares - 674,809 - - 674,809
Amounts owed to credit institutions - 60,025 - - 60,025
Amounts owed to other customers - 18,457 - - 18,457
Derivative financial instruments - - 486 39 525
Total financial liabilities - 753,291 486 39 753,816
Total non-financial liabilities 2,427
Reserves 47,311
Total reserves and liabilities 803,554

Held at amortised cost Held at fair value

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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b) Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value 
The Society holds certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. Fair value is the value for which an asset or liability could be sold or settled in an 
arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable willing parties. The Society determines fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs in measuring fair value: 
 
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2 – Valuation techniques where inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, are taken from observable market data for the 
                asset or liability either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3 – Valuation techniques where inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The main valuation techniques employed by the Society to determine fair value of the financial instruments disclosed above are set out below: 
 
Derivative Financial Instruments 
Level 2 – Debt securities - Debt securities for which there is no readily available traded price are valued based on the ‘present value’ method. This 
requires expected future principal and interest cash flows to be discounted using prevailing yield curves. The yield curves are generally observable market 
data which is derived from quoted interest rates in similar time bandings, which match the timings of the cash flows and maturities of the instruments. 
 
Level 2 – Interest rate swaps – the valuation of interest rate swaps is based on the net present value method. The expected interest cash flows are 
discounted using prevailing interest rate yield curves. The yield curves are based on generally observable market data derived from quoted interest rates 
in similar time bandings which match the timings of the interest cash flows and maturities of the instruments. 
 
c) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of loss if a customer or counterparty fails to perform its obligations. The risk arises from the Society’s loans and advances to 
customers and the investment of liquid assets with treasury counterparties. The Society’s exposure to credit risk can be influenced by changes in the 
wider economy, including unemployment levels, property values, household finances impacting the affordability of mortgages and the credit quality of 
treasury counterparties. The Society’s Board of Directors has defined the Society’s risk appetite for credit risk which clearly sets out the level of credit 
risk the Society is prepared to accept. 
 
The Society’s maximum credit risk exposure is detailed in the table below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(1) All values are stated at balance sheet amounts. 
(2) This reflects mortgage applications that have been formally offered but have not yet completed.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 30 November 2022
Financial assets
Debt securities - 14,059 - 14,059
Derivative financial instruments - 12,149 - 12,149

- 26,208 - 26,208
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - 736 - 736

As at 30 November 2021
Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments - 404 - 404
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - 525 - 525

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 121,320 158,359
Loans and advances to credit institutions 7,970 13,910
Debt securities 14,059 -
Derivative financial instruments 12,149 404
Loans and advances to customers 648,234 618,963
Other assets 1,070 1,033
Total statement of financial exposure (1) 804,802 792,669
Off balance sheet exposure - mortgage commitment (2) 54,560 34,989
Total 859,362 827,658
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i) Loans and advances to credit institutions, debt securities and derivative financial instruments 
The Society holds treasury investments in order to meet liquidity requirements and for general business purposes. The Board of directors has defined 
the Society’s risk appetite for credit risk exposure to treasury counterparties by defining within the Financial Risk Management Policy the permissible 
instruments that can be used, the minimum counterparty credit ratings required and maximum counterparty and sector exposure limits. Any changes 
in policy are submitted to the Risk Committee for consideration before recommendation to the Board for approval. 
 
Permissible counterparties include supranational bodies, the UK government, UK banks and building societies. The limits for all rated counterparty 
exposures are linked to Fitch credit ratings in addition to management’s own assessment. Unrated building societies are assessed by the Assets & 
Liabilities Committee (ALCO). 
 
ALCO is responsible for monitoring adherence to the relevant Financial Risk Management Policy limits, with oversight provided by the Risk Committee, 
which is responsible for the oversight and challenge of risk management across the Society. It receives an independent view of each risk category from 
the Chief Risk Officer and has access to all ALCO papers. 
 
An analysis of the Society’s treasury asset concentration is shown in the table below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
An analysis of the Society’s treasury assets and derivative financial instruments by credit rating of the counterparty is analysed in the table below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All of the Society’s treasury assets and derivative financial instruments are held with counterparties that are UK-based or UK branches of overseas 
institutions. 
 
None of the Society’s treasury assets were past due or impaired at 30 November 2022 or 30 November 2021 and no impairment charges were required 
during the current or prior years. 
 
ii) Loans and advances to customers 
The Board of Directors has defined the Society’s risk appetite for credit risk exposure to mortgage borrowers by defining within the Lending Policy the 
framework against which all mortgage applications are assessed in order to promote the origination of a balanced portfolio of mortgage assets that 
matches the expertise and experience of underwriters. Any changes in policy are submitted to the Risk Committee for consideration before 
recommendation to the Board for approval. The framework includes: 
 
- The setting and regular monitoring of applicable lending limits, including product, borrower and loan related limits, to avoid concentrations of 

exposures in higher risk lending categories. 
 

- The setting of full underwriting criteria for each product category, designed to ensure the affordability of mortgage repayments using an affordability 
model, the adequacy of loan security and the creditworthiness of borrowers through the use of external credit checks.  
 

- The assessment of all new mortgage applications by experienced staff who are accredited through a formal training and competence scheme. 
Mortgage applications are approved by staff with specific underwriting mandates.  
 

- The use of qualified external property surveyors, solicitors and accountants as necessary to assist the assessment of mortgage applications. 
 

- The prevention of mortgage fraud through thorough mortgage application assessment and use of external fraud prevention systems. 
 

- The pricing of all new mortgage products using a model that incorporates an expected Probability of Default (PD) and Loss Given Default (LGD) 
to ensure that the return received appropriately reflects the risks involved. 
 

- The use of mortgage indemnity policies to insure the Society against the risk of lending at higher Loan to Value (LTV) ratios and to provide specialist 
cover for self-build lending

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4

As at 30 November 2022 Total AAA to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- BB+ to BB-

Credit quality step £'000 % % % %

Treasury assets 143,084 89% 11% - -
Derivative financial instruments 12,149 - 100% - -

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4

As at 30 November 2021 Total AAA to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BBB- BB+ to BB-

Credit quality step £'000 % % % %

Treasury assets 172,058 95% 5% - -
Derivative financial instruments 404 - 100% - -

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
 

2022 2022 2021 2021

£'000 % £'000 %

Industry Sector
Banks/Building Societies 21,761 15% 13,910 8%
Central banks 121,323 85% 158,148 92%
Total 143,084 100% 172,058 100%
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The Society has a separate Arrears Policy detailing the systems and controls relating to the processes for dealing with arrears and forbearance. 
 
Comprehensive credit risk management information is reviewed at the Credit Committee on a monthly basis and includes mortgage portfolio analysis, 
details of mortgage arrears, mortgage portfolio stress testing and lending limit monitoring. Oversight is provided by the Risk Committee, which is 
responsible for the oversight and challenge of risk management across the Society. It receives credit-related management information and an independent 
view of each risk category from the Chief Risk Officer at each meeting. 
 
Loans and advances to customers are all secured on property in England and Wales. The portfolio is made up of retail loans, split between residential 
and buy to let loans. In addition, the Society held one longstanding commercial loan at the end of the prior year, which redeemed during the year. 
 
The Society’s loans and advances to customers are spread throughout the geographic regions. An analysis of the Society’s geographical 
concentration, gross of provisions, is shown in the table below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The table below shows the indexed loan to value distribution of the loan portfolio at the year-end date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The above values were calculated on a weighted average loan to value basis.  
 
Arrears analysis 
The quality of the Society’s retail mortgage book is reflected in the number and value of accounts in arrears. 
 
At the year-end, there were 16 accounts (2021: 21 accounts) in arrears of one month or more, representing 0.39% of accounts by 
number (2021: 0.49%). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2022 2021 2021

£'000  % £'000  %

Geographic region
London 151,454 23.3% 135,418 21.9%
South East 140,878 21.7% 129,036 20.8%
West Midlands 69,183 10.7% 70,364 11.4%
South West 68,555 10.6% 63,433 10.2%
East Midlands 53,677 8.3% 53,205 8.6%
North West 52,773 8.1% 52,979 8.6%
Yorkshire 48,211 7.4% 48,197 7.8%
East Anglia 27,812 4.3% 31,002 5.0%
Wales 20,891 3.2% 20,137 3.3%
North 15,200 2.3% 15,745 2.6%
Total 648,634 100% 619,516 100%

2022 2021

 % %

LTV analysis – residential loans
0% to less than 50% 46.9% 43.8%
50% to less than 60% 21.4% 19.9%
60% to less than 70% 16.6% 22.3%
70% to less than 80% 9.7% 10.2%
80% to less than 90% 3.9% 2.5%
90% to less than 95% 1.0% 0.6%
95% and above 0.5% 0.7%
Average loan to value of mortgage loans 49.5% 50.8%
Average loan to value of new business in the year 60.8% 59.2%
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The following table analyses the Society’s loans and advances to customers by length of time in arrears and whether or not the balances are impaired, 
with impairment defined as when a loan requires an individual impairment provision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Value of collateral held 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The collateral consists of residential property. Collateral values are adjusted according to the Nationwide Building Society house price index to derive 
the indexed valuation at 30 November. The price index is produced on a regional basis and is used to update the property values for residential 
mortgages on a quarterly basis. 
 
All residential mortgage advances above 80% LTV at origination are covered using mortgage indemnity insurance, such that the Society would be 
reimbursed in the event of taking possession of a property by an amount that would restore the Society to the position it would have been in had the 
advance been limited to 80% LTV. A deductible amount applies to cases originated during 2016 to 2020. 
 
Forbearance 
The Society’s forbearance strategy is set out in note 1.  
 
Customers requesting one of these forbearance options need to provide information to support the request which the Society will use to assess whether 
it is likely that the preferred arrangement will resolve the customer’s financial difficulties. 
 
Where forbearance measures are not possible or are considered not to be in the customer’s best interests, or where such measures have been tried 
and the customer has not adhered to the agreed forbearance terms, the Society will consider realising its security and taking possession of the property 
in order to sell it and clear the outstanding debt. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Not impaired
Neither past due or impaired 643,284 615,115
Past due up to 3 months but not impaired 3,158 2,097
Past due 3 to 6 months but not impaired - 82
Past due 6 to 12 months but not impaired 498 115
Past due over 12 months but not impaired - 42
Possessions - 251

Impaired
Not past due - -
Past due up to 3 months 1,307 1,072
Past due 3 to 6 months - -
Past due 6 to 12 months 137 374
Past due over 12 months 250 368
Possessions - -
Total 648,634 619,516

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
 

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Not impaired 1,892,253 1,769,183
Impaired 2,523 2,535
Total 1,894,776 1,771,718
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The table below details the number of accounts subject to forbearance at the year-end. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In total, none (2021: £108,000) of the loans were subject to forbearance at the year-end date. No individual impairment provisions (2021: none) were 
held against these loans.  
 
 
d) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society does not have sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due or can secure them only at an 
excessive cost. The Society’s policy is to hold sufficient assets in the form of readily realisable assets in order to: 
 
- maintain liquidity resources which are adequate, both as to amount and quality, to ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities 

cannot be met as they fall due; 
 

- smooth out the effect of maturity mismatches between assets and liabilities; and 
 

- maintain the highest level of public confidence in the Society. 
 
The Board of directors has defined the Society’s risk appetite, policy, systems and controls relating to the management of liquidity risk in the Financial 
Risk Management Policy. Any changes in policy are submitted to the Risk Committee for consideration before recommendation to the Board for 
approval. The key aspects of the control framework to mitigate liquidity risk are as follows: 
 
- The setting and regular monitoring of applicable liquidity limits, including those covering the amount, instrument type and maturity of liquidity held; 

 

- The monitoring of both short-term and long-term liquidity ratios, including the Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Net Stable Funding Ratio, to ensure 
that these are maintained above minimum levels; 
 

- The holding of a high quality Liquid Assets Buffer, including deposits with the Bank of England; 
 

- Monthly liquidity stress testing, to ensure that the level of the Liquid Assets Buffer and total liquidity held are sufficient to meet liabilities under 
severe but plausible stressed conditions; and 
 

- A documented Recovery Plan that sets out the governance processes and the options available to the Society if it experienced a liquidity stress 
event. The Plan includes a menu of possible actions depending on the severity of the liquidity event. 

 
The minimum level of the Liquid Assets Buffer is set in accordance with an Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) that is reviewed by 
the Risk Committee and approved by the Board on an annual basis. The ILAAP incorporates severe but plausible stress testing linked to the Board’s 
formal assessment of the liquidity risks to which the Society is exposed. 
 
The Assets & Liabilities Committee (ALCO) monitors liquidity risk on a monthly basis, including management information on liquidity and funding limits, 
Liquid Asset Buffer levels and composition, liquidity stress testing results and liquid asset and wholesale borrowing maturity analysis. ALCO reports into 
the Risk Committee. Oversight is provided by the Risk Committee, which is responsible for the oversight and challenge of risk management across the 
Society. It receives an independent view of each risk category from the Chief Risk Officer and has access to all ALCO papers. 
 
The table below analyses the Society’s assets and liabilities into relevant maturity periods that reflect the residual maturity from the year-end date to the 
contractual maturity date. The actual repayment profile of loans and advances to customers is likely to be significantly shorter from that shown in the 
analysis. Conversely, retail savings deposits repayable on demand generally remain with the Society for a much longer period.  

2022 2021

Number Number

Type of forbearance
Reduced payment including interest only concessions - 1
Payment holidays - -
Total - 1
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Balance sheet residual maturity analysis 
 
 
 

On demand

Not more 
than three 

months

More than 
three months 
but less than 

one year

More than 
one year but 

not more 
than 

five years
More than 
five years Non cash Total

30 November 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Assets
Liquid assets

      Cash in hand and balances with the 
      Bank of England

121,320 - - - - - 121,320

      Loans and advances to credit 
      institutions

7,970 - - - - - 7,970

      Debt securities - 6,042 8,017 - - - 14,059

Total liquid assets 129,290 6,042 8,017 - - - 143,349
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 12,149 12,149
Loans and advances to customers 654 4,175 15,006 100,171 528,628 (400) 648,234
Other non-financial assets - - - - - 8,681 8,681
Total assets 129,944 10,217 23,023 100,171 528,628 20,430 812,413
Liabilities
Shares 372,212 135,696 66,995 80,637 - - 655,540
Amounts owed to credit institutions - 7,338 10,000 60,000 - - 77,338
Amounts owed to other customers 18,676 1,000 279 - - - 19,955
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 736 736
Other liabilities - - - - - 12,603 12,603
Reserves - - - - - 46,241 46,241
Total liabilities and reserves 390,888 144,034 77,274 140,637 - 59,580 812,413
Net liquidity gap (260,944) (133,817) (54,251) (40,466) 528,628 (39,150) -

On demand

Not more 
than three 

months

More than 
three months 
but less than 

one year

More than 
one year but 

not more than 
five years

More than 
five years Non cash Total

30 November 2021 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Assets
Liquid assets
      Cash in hand and balances with the 
      Bank of England

158,359 - - - - - 158,359

      Loans and advances to credit 
      institutions

13,610 - - 300 - - 13,910

Total liquid assets 171,969 - - 300 - - 172,269
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 404 404
Loans and advances to customers 1,160 5,265 15,081 109,346 488,664 (553) 618,963
Other non-financial assets - - - - - 11,918 11,918
Total assets 173,129 5,265 15,081 109,646 488,664 11,769 803,554
Liabilities
Shares 432,413 116,783 59,289 66,324 - - 674,809
Amounts owed to credit institutions - 25 - 60,000 - - 60,025
Amounts owed to other customers 18,178 - 279 - - - 18,457
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 525 525
Other liabilities - - - - - 2,427 2,427
Reserves - - - - - 47,311 47,311
Total liabilities and reserves 450,591 116,808 59,568 126,324 - 50,263 803,554
Net liquidity gap (277,462) (111,543) (44,487) (16,678) 488,664 (38,494) -

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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Analysis of gross contractual cash flows payable under financial liabilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The analysis of gross contractual cash flows differs from the analysis of residual maturity, due to the inclusion of interest accrued at current rates for the 
average period of maturity on the amounts outstanding at the Statement of Financial Position date. The contractual cash flows do not make allowance 
for any accounts that have been placed on notice of withdrawal by the customer. The impact of such notice is not material to the analysis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

On demand

Not more 
than three 

months

More than 
three months 
but less than 

one year

More than 
one year but 

not more 
than 

five years
More than 
five years Total

30 November 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Shares 373,344 45,306 131,760 110,342 - 660,752
Amounts owed to credit institutions - 7,101 10,139 67,799 - 85,039
Amounts owed to other customers 9,134 6,504 285 - - 15,923
Non-derivative financial instruments 382,478 58,911 142,184 178,141 - 761,714
Derivative financial instruments - 76 309 1,480 9 1,874
Total financial liabilities 382,478 58,987 142,493 179,621 9 763,588

On demand

Not more 
than three 

months

More than 
three months 
but less than 

one year

More than 
one year but 

not more than 
five years

More than 
five years Total

30 November 2021 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Shares 293,457 119,491 166,722 98,689 - 678,359
Amounts owed to credit institutions - - - 60,840 - 60,840
Amounts owed to other customers 9,303 5,562 279 - - 15,144
Non-derivative financial instruments 302,760 125,053 167,001 159,529 - 754,343
Derivative financial instruments - 193 879 1,223 4 2,299
Total financial liabilities 302,760 125,246 167,880 160,752 4 756,642
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e) Market risk 
The Society’s exposure to market risk primarily arises from interest rate risk, including interest rate repricing risk and basis risk. 
 
Interest rate repricing risk is the risk of a reduction in net interest income due to mismatches between the dates on which interest receivable on assets 
and interest payable on liabilities are reset to market rates. The main cause of interest rate repricing risk is the imperfect matching of fixed rate mortgages 
and savings products. While the Society aims to match fixed rate assets with liabilities, it is not always possible to achieve exact matches due to the need 
to estimate initial customer demand for mortgage and savings products and the early repayment of mortgages. Interest rate derivatives are utilised to 
reduce mismatches where economic to do so, but remain susceptible to the early repayment of fixed rate products by customers. 
 
Basis risk is the risk of a reduction in net interest income due to assets and liabilities repricing according to different interest rate bases. 
 
i) Interest rate derivatives 
The Society uses derivative financial instruments (‘derivatives’), which are contracts or agreements whose current value is related to an underlying price, 
rate or index inherent in the contract or agreement, such as interest rates. Derivatives are only used by the Society in accordance with the Building 
Societies Act 1986 (as amended by the Building Societies Acts 1997 and 2005), to reduce the risk of loss arising from changes in interest rates or other 
factors specified in the legislation. The Society does not trade in derivatives or use them for speculative purposes. 
 
The principal derivatives used by the Society are interest rate swaps which are used to hedge exposures arising from fixed rate mortgage and savings 
products. An interest rate swap is a contract with a counterparty based on a notional principal amount to exchange one set of interest rate cash flows 
for another for a specific duration, usually between one and five years. 
 
The following table describes the significant activities undertaken by the Society, the related risks associated with such activities and the types of 
derivatives which are typically used in managing such risks. The Society applies fair value hedging techniques to these. The fair value of these hedges at 
the year-end is shown in note 14. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ii) Interest rate risk management 
The Board of directors has defined the Society’s risk appetite for interest rate repricing risk by including within the Financial Risk Management Policy a 
maximum limit for the impact of a 2% shift in interest rates on the economic value of the Society. In addition to the risk appetite, the Board has set 
individual and cumulative gap limits for each time period analysed. Any changes in policy are submitted to the Risk Committee for consideration before 
recommendation to the Board for approval. 
 
In order to manage interest rate repricing risk, an interest rate gap report is prepared showing how assets and liabilities reprice or mature over time. 
ALCO monitors historic and projected gap analyses and the results of stress tests assessing the impact of a shift in interest rates as a percentage of 
capital on a monthly basis in order that timely hedging actions can be taken. The stress tests include various parallel and non-parallel interest rate shifts 
to ensure that a range of scenarios are modelled and considered. 
 
Exposures to different interest rate bases are monitored against Board-approved limits, and stress tests assessing the impact of a range of asymmetric 
changes in different interest rate bases are monitored. Oversight is provided by the Risk Committee, which is responsible for the oversight and challenge 
of risk management across the Society. It receives an independent view of each risk category from the Chief Risk Officer and has access to all ALCO 
papers. 
 
 

Fixed rate mortgage products Increases in interest rates Pay fixed interest rate swaps
Fixed rate savings products Decreases in interest rates Receive fixed interest rate swaps

Activity Risk Type of hedge

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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The table below summarises the Society’s exposure to interest rate risk at the year-end date. Included in the table are Society assets and liabilities, 
including derivative financial instruments, categorised by repricing date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The interest rate sensitivity gap of the Society at 30 November 2021 was: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Not more 
than three 

months

More than 
three months 
but not more 

than six 
months

More than six 
months but 

not more 
than one year 

More than 
one year but 

not more 
than 

five years
More than 
five years

Non interest-
bearing Total

30 November 2022 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash in hand and balances with the 
Bank of England

121,320 - - - - - 121,320

Loans and advances to credit 
institutions 

7,702 - - - - 268 7,970

Debt securities 5,907 6,015 2,002 - - 135 14,059

Total liquid assets 134,929 6,015 2,002 - - 403 143,349
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 12,149 12,149
Loans and advances to customers 253,983 25,342 54,195 314,714 - - 648,234
Other assets - - - - - 8,681 8,681
Total assets 388,912 31,357 56,197 314,714 - 21,233 812,413
Liabilities
Shares 511,928 14,019 19,390 106,199 - 4,004 655,540
Amounts owed to credit institutions 
and other customers 

96,666 - 281 - - 346 97,293

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 736 736
Other liabilities - - - - - 12,603 12,603
Reserves - - - - - 46,241 46,241
Total liabilities 608,594 14,019 19,671 106,199 - 63,930 812,413
Off balance sheet items 229,912 510 (31,474) (201,066) 2,118 - -
Net interest rate gap 10,230 17,848 5,052 7,449 2,118 (42,697) -

Not more than 
three months

More than three 
months but not 

more than six 
months

More than six 
months but not 
more than one 

year 

More than 
one year but 

not more than 
five years

More than five 
years

Non interest-
bearing Total

30 November 2021 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash in hand and balances with the 
Bank of England

158,359 - - - - - 158,359

Loans and advances to credit 
institutions 

13,898 - - - - 12 13,910

Total liquid assets 172,257 - - - - 12 172,269
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 404 404
Loans and advances to customers 340,934 27,509 47,992 202,528 - - 618,963
Other assets - - - - - 11,918 11,918
Total assets 513,191 27,509 47,992 202,528 - 12,334 803,554
Liabilities
Shares 525,694 19,356 33,429 95,983 - 347 674,809
Amounts owed to credit institutions 
and other customers 

78,178 - 279 - - 25 78,482

Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 525 525
Other liabilities - - - - - 2,427 2,427
Reserves - - - - - 47,311 47,311
Total liabilities 603,872 19,356 33,708 95,983 - 50,635 803,554
Off balance sheet items 114,398 (6,997) (18,493) (92,874) 3,966 - -
Net interest rate gap 23,717 1,156 (4,209) 13,671 3,966 (38,301) -
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Market risk sensitivities 
The Society uses derivative financial instruments and exposure limits to mitigate the effect of adverse interest rate movements on net interest income. 
At 30 November 2022 the impact of a 2% parallel increase in interest rates (measured using calculated interest rate gap positions) was £1,023,000 
adverse across the gap report horizon (2021: £991,000 adverse). At 30 November 2022 the impact of a 2% parallel decrease in interest rates (measured 
using calculated interest rate gap positions) was £1,127,000 favourable across the gap report horizon (2021: £1,093,000 favourable). 

 
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 
The Society has financial assets and liabilities for which there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and which may be settled 
net. However the netting arrangements do not result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities for accounting purposes, as the right to set off is 
not unconditional in all circumstances. The amounts relate to derivative financial instruments and associated financial collateral, which consists of cash 
that is settled, typically daily or weekly, to mitigate marked to market exposures. The agreements under which the collateral is settled typically allow 
either counterparty to offset the relevant amounts if the other counterparty defaults on the terms of the derivative contract. 
 
The amounts for which offsetting arrangements were in place are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The prior year analysis of offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities has been updated to more accurately reflect the assets and liabilities against 
which the collateral was provided. 
 
 
 
29. Capital adequacy 
The objective of the Board is to maintain a strong capital base to provide protection for members, promote market confidence and support future 
growth. The Society is required to manage its capital to meet the requirements of the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD IV) and related requirements 
set by the Prudential Regulation Authority. 
 
The Society operates a formal Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) to determine and demonstrate how these requirements are 
met. As part of the ICAAP the Board has established an internal minimum capital requirement that is sufficient to support present and future capital 
requirements, withstand a severe but plausible stress and ensure the minimum regulatory requirement (Total Capital Requirement) is adhered to. 
Compliance with capital requirements is monitored monthly, the results of which are reported to the Assets & Liabilities Committee and the Risk 
Committee. The Society complied with and maintained capital above the regulatory minimums during the reporting period. 
 
Under CRD IV Pillar 3, the Society is required to publish further information regarding its capital position and exposures. The Society’s Pillar 3 Disclosures 
are available on the Society’s website. 
 
Summary capital position 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

2022 2021

£000 £000

Fair value of derivative financial instrument assets 12,149 404
Fair value of derivative financial instrument liabilities (736) (525)
Associated collateral (received)/provided (10,678) 300
Net financial asset amount after offsetting 735 179

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Common Equity Tier 1
Total reserves 46,241 47,311
Adjustments to regulatory capital (1,890) (4,129)
Common Equity Tier 1 44,351 43,182

Tier 2 capital
Collective provision 321 388

Total regulatory capital 44,672 43,570

Risk Weighted Assets (unaudited) 273,391 252,504

Capital ratios (unaudited)
Common Equity Tier 1 ratio 16.2% 17.1%
Total capital ratio 16.3% 17.3%
Leverage ratio 5.9% 5.3%

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
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30. Pension asset 
Defined benefit pension scheme 
The Society’s defined benefit pension scheme was closed to future accrual on 1 January 2010. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those 
of the Society under a Master Trust arrangement operated by TPT. 
 
Members of the scheme receive benefits based on their final salary for service to 31 May 2008 and on career average earnings while a member of the 
scheme after this date, until the closure of the scheme to future accrual on 1 January 2010. The plan also provides benefits to spouses/ dependants in 
the event of a member’s death before or after retirement. 
 
Scheme expenses will be paid by the scheme and subsequently reimbursed by the Society upon request of the Trustee. The Society expects to contribute 
approximately £81,000 to the defined benefit scheme in respect of such expenses in the next financial year. 
 
The valuation used was based on the most recent full actuarial valuation at 30 September 2019 and updated to 30 November 2022 by a qualified 
independent actuary to take account of the actuarial method and assumptions required by Section 28 of FRS 102. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The directors’ judgement is that the Society has the right to a surplus on winding up the scheme at the end of its life. As a result, the surplus at the 
current and prior year-ends has been recognised on the Society’s Statement of Financial Position. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021

£’000 £’000

Present value of funded obligations (20,522) (30,209)
Fair value of plan assets 22,391 34,781

1,869 4,572

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are:

Total surplus recognised

2022 2021

£’000 £’000

Expected return on plan assets 556 511
Interest cost (482) (461)
Expenses (81) (81)

(7) (31)

2022 2021

£’000 £’000

Actuarial (losses)/gains on plan assets (12,021) 1,951
Actuarial gains/(losses) on obligations 9,246 (628)
Total (loss)/gain recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (2,775) 1,323

2022 2021

£’000 £’000

30,209 29,931
Interest cost 482 461
Actuarial (gains)/losses on obligation (9,247) 628
Benefits paid (922) (811)

20,522 30,209

Amounts recognised in the Income Statement:

Total expense recognised in the Income Statement

Re-measurements recognised in Other Comprehensive Income:

Reconciliation of change in defined benefit obligation:

Closing defined benefit obligation at 30 November

Opening defined benefit obligation at 1 December
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At the current and prior year-ends, the impact of GMP equalisation was included in the calculation of the defined benefit pension obligation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Society updated its approach to setting RPI and CPI inflation assumptions in the prior year, in light of the RPI reform proposals published on 4 
September 2019 by the UK Chancellor and UK Statistics Authority. 
 
The Society continued to set RPI inflation in line with the market break-even expectations less an inflation risk premium. The inflation risk premium has 
been set at 0.3% at the year-end (2021: 0.3%). For CPI, the assumed difference between the RPI and CPI was 0.58% (2021: 0.65%). 
 
Defined contribution pension scheme 
From 1 January 2010, employees have had the opportunity to participate in a stakeholder scheme to which the Society contributes a defined percentage 
of salary. The employer pension cost for the current year, excluding employee contributions paid by salary sacrifice, was £271,000 (2021: £259,000) 
and were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at 30 November 2022 (2021: £nil).

Notes to the Accounts continued 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
 

2022 2021

£’000 £’000

Discount rate 4.48% 1.62%
Rate of future inflation - RPI (% pa) 3.01% 3.46%
Rate of future inflation - CPI (% pa) 2.43% 2.81%
Rate of increase (% pa) in future pensions in payment, split:
- Inflation linked (RPI), with a maximum of 5.0% pa and a minimum of 3.0% pa 3.60% 3.75%
- Inflation linked (RPI), with a maximum of 2.5% pa 2.04% 2.20%
The mortality assumptions used were as follows: 
- Actuarial tables used S3PXA S3PXA
- Loading on base tables 99% 99%
- Improvement rate for Males / Females CMI 2021 1.25% / 1.00% CMI 2020 1.25% / 1.00%
Life expectancy from age 65 of:
- Male / Female pensioner currently aged 65 at year-end date 22.2 / 24.3 22.1 / 24.2
- Male / Female non-pensioner currently aged 45 at year-end date 23.5 / 25.5 23.4 / 25.4

75% 75%

Principal actuarial assumptions as at the Statement of Financial Position date:

Allowance for members to commute pension for tax-free cash

2022 2021

£’000 £’000

34,781 33,132
Expected return on plan assets 556 511
Actuarial (losses)/gains on assets (12,021) 1,951
Scheme expenses (81) (81)
Contributions to expenses paid by the employer 78 79
Benefits paid (922) (811)

22,391 34,781

2022 2021

£’000 £’000

Equity - 17
Bonds 3,412 10,932
Property 3,092 3,074
Cash 49 343
Other 5,487 6,376
Liability-driven investments 10,351 14,039

22,391 34,781

2022 2021

£’000 £’000

Expected return on plan assets 556 511
Actuarial (losses)/gains on assets (12,021) 1,951

(11,465) 2,462

Fair value of plan assets at 30 November

Total fair value of plan assets at 30 November

The major categories of plan assets, measured at fair value are:

Fair value of plan assets at 1 December
Reconciliation of change in plan assets:

Return on plan assets:

Total return on plan assets
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31. Leases 
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods were: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Society has no other off balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 
 
32. Country-by-country reporting 
The regulations under Article 89 of the CRD IV require the Society to disclose the following information about the source of the Society’s income and 
the location of its operations: 

 
- Name, nature of activities and geographical location: The Society has one dormant subsidiary and operates only in the United Kingdom. The 

principal activities of the Society are noted in the Directors’ report on pages 28 to 31. 
 

- Average number of employees: as disclosed in note 8 to the accounts. 
 

- Annual turnover: equivalent to total income and along with profit before tax is as disclosed in the Income Statement on page 39. 
 

- Corporation tax paid: £nil for the current and prior year. 
 

- Public subsidies: there were none received in the year. 
 
 
 
  

2022 2022 2021 2021

Land and 
buildings

Fixtures and 
fittings

Land and 
buildings

Fixtures and 
fittings

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payment due
(i) less than 1 year 65 4 63 4
(ii) within 2 - 5 years 178 1 202 -
(iii) after 5 years 1,104 - 1,031 -

1,347 5 1,296 4
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1. Statutory percentages 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The above percentages have been calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building Societies 
Act 1997. 
 
The Lending limit measures the proportion of business assets not in the form of loans fully secured on residential property. 
 
Business assets comprise the total assets of the Society plus impairment provisions less liquid assets and tangible and intangible fixed assets as shown in 
the Society’s accounts. 
 
The Funding limit measures the proportion of shares and borrowings not in the form of shares held by individuals. 
 
The statutory limits are as laid down under the Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Building Societies Act 1997 and ensure that the principal 
purpose of a building society is that of making loans which are secured on residential property and are funded substantially by 
its members. 
 
2. Other percentages 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above percentages have been prepared from the Society’s accounts and in particular: 
 
• ‘Shares and borrowings’ represent the total of shares, amounts owed to credit institutions and amounts owed to other customers. 

 

• ‘Gross capital’ represents the general reserve and the available for sale reserve. 
 

• ‘Free capital’ represents the aggregate of gross capital and collective impairment provisions less tangible and intangible fixed assets. 
 

• ‘Liquid assets’ represent the total of cash in hand, loans and advances to credit institutions, debt securities and other liquid assets. 
 

• ‘Mean total assets’ represent the amount produced by halving the aggregate of total assets at the beginning and end of the financial year. 
 

• ’Management expenses’ represent the aggregate of administrative expenses (including pension costs), depreciation and amortisation.  

Annual Business Statement 
For the year ended 30 November 2022 
 

2022 2021 Statutory Limit

% % %

Lending limit 2.3 1.0 25.0
Funding limit 12.9 10.4 50.0

2022 2021

% %

As percentage of shares and borrowings:
Gross capital 6.1 6.3
Free capital 5.4 5.5
Liquid assets 19.0 22.9

Profit for the financial year as a percentage of mean total assets 0.13 0.13
1.34 1.22Management expenses as a percentage of mean total assets
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3. Information relating to directors and other officers at the year-end 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Documents may be served on any of the directors marked ‘Private and Confidential’ and c/o Mazars, 30 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7AU. 
 
Colin Fyfe, Barry Carter, Rebecca Griffin and John Mulvey are employed on open-ended service contracts which were entered into on 11 September 
2018 (effective from 1 November 2018), 24 March 2023 (effective 1 July 2022), 1 July 2022 (effective 1 July 2022) and 17 April 2020 (effective from 30 
March 2020) respectively. In each case the director is entitled to twelve months’ notice of termination from the Society. Barry Carter, Rebecca Griffin 
and John Mulvey are required to give six months’ notice of an intention to resign, and Colin Fyfe is required to give twelve months’ notice of an intention 
to resign. 
 
 
 
  
Name Occupation Other directorships/positions

Niki Barker Chief People Officer None
Andrea Belle Head of Branches, Agencies and Savings None
Sarah Johnson Head of Lending None
Margaret Long Company Secretary

Trustee Director of Teamwork 
Cheryl Pidler Head of Operations George Business Solutions Ltd
Michael Sharpe Head of Information Services None
Carolyn Thornley-Yates Head of Mortgage Proposition and Distribution

Secretary, Hinckley And Rugby Financial 
Services Limited

Intermediary Mortgage Lender's 
Association (IMLA)

Other Officers

Name Year of birth
Date of 
appointment Occupation Other directorships/positions

Colin Franklin 
(Chair)

1955 24.06.15

Colin Fyfe 1967 01.11.18

Geneane Bell 1957 17.07.13

Barry Carter 1979 01.07.22

Rebecca Griffin 1983 01.07.22

John Mulvey 1975 01.04.20

Barbara Taeed 1966 22.03.17

Gary Wilkinson 1961 22.12.14

David Woodward
(Senior Independent Director)

1962 21.01.15

Nemone Wynn-Evans 1974 22.03.17
Good Energy Group PLC
The Income & Growth VCT plc

Retired Building Society 
Executive

Building Society Executive

Retired Bank Executive

Building Society Executive

None

Hinckley Town Centre Partnership 
Limited

Hinckley and Rugby Financial Services 
Limited 

Company Director

Retired Bank Executive

Consumers' Association

Shepherds Friendly Society
Trent College

Hinckley and Rugby Financial Services 
Limited 

Redwood Bank Limited

National Savings and Investments

Centre for Citizenship Enterprise and 
Governance Limited
Rothbadi Holdings Limited

Hinckley and Rugby Financial Services 
Limited 

Hinckley and Rugby Financial Services 
Limited 
Ahead Partnership Limited

Directors

Ahead Partnership (Holdings) Limited

Rural Community Council 
(Leicestershire and Rutland)

Acorn (Leicester) Limited

None

Company Director

Company Director

SORBUS Partners LLP

Building Society Executive Hinckley Ladies Circle

Building Society Executive
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